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DEAR STOCKHOLDER:

During 2005, SuperGen focused on elements of our business that will allow us to
realize our potential and vision for the future. We responded to challenging regulatory
developments, managed our finances and operations prudently, and aggressively

sought strategic opportunities with the best commercial potential. Our collective energy

and common focus made us more competitive, and ready for success in 2006.

FOCUS ON STRATEGIC EXECUTION Receiving the Food
and Drug Administration’s (FDA} Approvable Letter for
Dacogen™ [decitabine for injection) on September 1, 2005,
was our most noteworthy milestone. We worked diligently with
our partner, MG| PHARMA, to submit the confirmatory information
the FDA requested. Our response was accepted as complete
in December 2005, and we were granted a Prescription Drug
User Fee Act (PDUFA) date of May 15, 2006.
SuperGen will receive a $20 million milestone

payment from MGI upon the first commer-
cial product shipment in the US, which is

anticipated shortly after approval.

Stronger sales of Nipent® (pento-
statin for injection) were driven by
continued interest from oncologists,
amidst growing clinical evidence
supporting its use as a chemothera-
peutic agent. With respect to our
European operations, we anticipate that
remaining legal ond administrative
logistics pertaining to the acquisition of
European distribution rights for Nipent from
Wyeth will be completed during the first half of

2006. Once this transaction concludes, our subsidiary, EuroGen
Pharmaceuticals Ud., will be ready to relaunch Nipent in up to

five major European markets later in 2006.

FOCUS ON DRUG DEVELOPMENT CAPABILITIES Clinical,
regulatory, and manufacturing responsibilities for Dacogen
transferred 1o MGI as plonned. This seamless transition was
characteristic of our relationship from the start. We are extremely
pleased that Dacogen is being reviewed for potential approval
by the FDA during 2006 and is being actively developed for
additional cancer indications under MGI's capable stewardship.
The future development of Orathecin™ (rubitecan) capsules is
pending results of the Phase Il combination study of Orathecin
and gemcitabine as firstline therapy for chemotherapy-naive
advanced pancreatic cancer patients. These results will become
available during the second quarter of 20064. SuperGen has
the capacity to undertake clinical-stage development of new
products during 2006, and we foresee selecting at least one
appropriate candidate during the year.

FOCUS ON ASSET MANAGEMENT Expanding our product
pipeline has been a top priority. Identifying opportunities that
met our rigorous criteria was arduous. Any fransaction must
strengthen our position in hematology/oncology, complement
our core competencies, and provide true commercial opportu-
nities, at minimal investment risk to stockholders. We reviewed
over 140 potential transactions encompassing every stage of
therapeutic development, including drug discovery
platforms, in 2005. We completed extensive due

diligence and entered into a definitive
agreement to acquire o privately held,
oncology-focused drug discovery and
development company, which we

expect to close in early 2006.

FOCUS ON FINANCIAL STABILITY

As responsible fiduciaries of our
financial assets there was no need

to access capital markets for funding
during 2005. We delivered on our
gvidance to Wall Street and surpassed
our internal sales forecasts. With our finan-
cial condition still secure, our aftention turned
to future financing needs. During April 2005 we

filed @ $100 million shelf registration that will allow SuperGen

to raise additional capital as the need or opportunity warrants.

Our accomplishments are the work of an omazing team of
people whose talents, dedication, and enthusiasm have brought
SuperGen's vision into focus. | am grateful for the support
and commitment of our employees, Board of Directors,

and stockholders.

Sincerely,

‘ s

James S. J. Manuso, Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Our disclosure and analysis in this report contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act, and within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements provide our current expectations or
forecasts of future events. When we use the words “anticipate,” “estimate,” “project,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan,”
“believe,” “should,” “likely” and similar expressions, we are making forward-looking statements. In particular,
these statements include statements such as: the timing of receiving FDA approval of our NDA filing for Dacogen;
our estimates about becoming profitable; our forecasts regarding our research and development expenses; our
expectation that EuroGen will generate revenue during 2006; the failure of the Montigen stockholders to approve
the proposed acquisition transaction, satisfy other conditions to closing or obtain state securities regulatory
approval, and the inability to successfully integrate Montigen and its technology and research team; and our
statements regarding the sufficiency of our cash to meet our operating needs. Our actual results could differ
materially from those predicted in the forward-looking statements as a result of risks and uncertainties including,
but not limited to, delays and risks associated with conducting and managing our clinical trials; developing
products and obtaining regulatory approval; ability to establish and maintain collaboration relationships;
competition; ability to obtain funding; ability to protect our intellectual property; our dependence on third party
suppliers; risks associated with the hiring and loss of key personnel; adverse changes in the specific markets for our
products; and ability to launch and commercialize our products. Certain unknown or immaterial risks and
uncertainties can also affect our forward-looking statements. Consequently, no forward-looking statement can
be guaranteed and you should not rely on these forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements reflect our position as of the date of this report, and we undertake no
obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects in our
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, or other filings. Also note that we provide a
cautionary discussion of risks and uncertainties relevant to our business under Item 1A—Risk Factors in this
report. These are currently known and material risks that we believe could cause our actual results to differ
materially from expected and historical results. Other unknown and immaterial risks besides those listed in this
report could also adversely affect us.

PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

We incorporated in March 1991 as a California corporation and changed our state of incorporation to
Delaware in May 1997. Our executive offices are located at 4140 Dublin Blvd., Suite 200, Dublin, CA,
94568 and our telephone number at that address is (925) 560-0100. We maintain a website on the internet at
WWW.SUpergen.com.

Overview

We are a pharmaceutical company dedicated to the development and commercialization of therapies
for solid tumors, hematological malignancies and blood disorders. Currently, we have three key
compounds that are the primary focus of our efforts: Dacogen™ (decitabine) for injection, Orathecin™
(rubitecan) capsules and Nipent® (pentostatin for injection).

On December 31, 2004, our New Drug Application (“NDA”) submission for Dacogen was accepted
for filing by the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and indicated a target Prescription Drug User
Fee Act (“PDUFA”) date of September 1, 2005. On September 1, 2005, we received an Approvable Letter
for Dacogen from the FDA, which provided that Dacogen was approvable pending the FDA’s review of a
requested analysis of transfusion data from patients enrolled in the pivotal Phase IIT trial as well as certain
non-clinical information and completion of labeling discussions. We completed the requested analyses and




submitted our response to the Approvable Letter on November 15, 2005. On December 15, 2005, the FDA
accepted our resubmission as a complete response, which they classified as a Class 2 response, and
established a user fee goal (action letter) of May 15, 2006.

Our European subsidiary, EuroGen Pharmaceuticals Ltd. (“EuroGen”), submitted a Marketing
Authorization Application (“MAA”) for Dacogen to the European Medicines Agency (“EMEA”), which
was accepted for review on October 25, 2004. Following an oral hearing, together with MGI PHARMA
(“MGTI”) we determined that additional clinical data will be required to continue the approval process for
Dacogen in Europe. Therefore, we withdrew the MAA for Dacogen in November 2005. This revision in
the European regulatory strategy for Dacogen does not affect the regulatory strategy being pursued in the
United States.

During September 2004, we executed a definitive agreement granting MGI exclusive worldwide rights
to the development, manufacture, commercialization and distribution of Dacogen. Under the terms of the
agreement, MGI made a $40.0 million equity investment in us and will pay up to $45.0 million in specific
regulatory and commercialization milestones. To date, we have received $12.5 million of these milestones.
If Dacogen is approved, we will receive a royalty on worldwide net sales starting at 20% and escalating to a
maximum of 30%. MGI has also committed to fund further development costs associated with Dacogen on
their own at a minimum of $15.0 million over a three year period.

In January 2004 we submitted an NDA under accelerated approval procedures to the FDA for
Orathecin for the treatment of pancreatic cancer patients that have failed one or more therapies. The filing
was accepted by the FDA and indicated a target response date in November 2004. At the request of the
FDA, during November 2004 we submitted additional clinical data from a trial of Orathecin as a first-line
treatment for pancreatic cancer as well as new analyses of data from the pivotal study in second and third
line patients. The FDA classified these data as a Major Amendment, which triggered an extension of the
review period by 90 days, resulting in a revised target response date in February 2005. Based on further
discussions and feedback with both the FDA and consultants, we determined the current package for
Orathecin was not sufficient to gain approval at this time in the United States and we withdrew the NDA
in January 2005.

In July 2004, we submitted a MAA to the EMEA seeking approval of Orathecin. Based on extensive
discussions with the EMEA, we withdrew the MAA in January 2006. We currently have an ongoing Phase
11 clinical trial of Orathecin in combination with gemcitabine in first-line patients with advanced
pancreatic cancer. Our future registration strategy for Orathecin in the US and Europe is dependent on
the results of this ongoing U.S. trial. Interim results for this clinical trial are expected during the first half
of 2006.

Nipent is approved in the U.S. and several European countries for the treatment of hairy cell
leukemia and is marketed by us in the United States and Europe. The European distribution is currently
handled by Wyeth Pharmaceuticals (“Wyeth”) under a distribution agreement. We have completed several
Phase IV, or post-marketing trials, and we continue to support trials intended to explore Nipent’s potential
use in indications such as chronic lymphocytic leukemia (“CLL”), non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma (“NHL”), and
graft-versus-host disease (“GvHD”). We have commercialization rights for Nipent, which we market
directly in the United States through our sales force and either directly or indirectly in international
markets.

Strategy

We are a pharmaceutical company dedicated to the development and commercialization of therapies
for solid tumors, hematological malignancies, and blood disorders. Our strategy is to commercialize
products by executing alternative development and commercialization strategies that minimize the time,
expense and technical risk associated with drug research through identifying and acquiring pharmaceutical
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compounds. Compounds can be obtained through internal development, licensure or acquisition that
typically will show initial efficacy in humans or in a model relevant to a particular disease at the pre-clinical
or early clinical stages of development. Our primary objective is to become a leading supplier of therapies
for solid tumors, hematological malignancies, and blood disorders. Key elements of our strategy include:

Expanding commercialization of our current products and launching each new product when approved by
the FDA or other regulatory agencies such as the EMEA. We intend to focus significant resources associated
with enhancing commercialization efforts with our existing products or the launch of new approved marketed
products. As part of our commercialization efforts, we will or may be required to:

» hire additional sales, marketing and medical affairs personnef;

e develop and implement appropriate indigent support programs;

» develop and implement Phase IV clinical trials to explore additional combination and single agent
uses for marketed products;

* develop and implement physician, pharmacist and nursing education programs to fully understand
the impact and advantages of treating cancer patients;

e develop and produce collateral material regarding the appropriate uses of marketed drugs such as
Nipent; and

¢ further develop and refine marketing plans with respect to all marketed drugs.

It is our intent to continue to increase our presence within the oncolovgy marketplace through our
commercialization initiatives, and we believe such efforts will also benefit our existing product, Nipent, and
any new approved products.

Expanding our sales and market penetration of the therapeutic anti-cancer market. We have
endeavored to establish a leadership position in the market of hematological products. This market exists
within the overall anti-cancer market. We believe we are prudently expanding our sales and marketing
organization in the hematology space and expanding our brand into solid tumors to support
commercialization of our existing and any new products. This expansion primarily entails increasing the
number of direct sales representatives we employ to call on oncologists and hematologists. The expansion
also entails additional investment in marketing and branding initiatives to extend our name recognition
further into the therapeutic anti-cancer market.

Globalizing our commercial presence. We believe that the global market opportunity for our products
is meaningfully greater than the market opportunity in the United States alone. Therefore, as more of our
products are approved for marketing in the United States, we intend to penetrate the worldwide market
for anti-cancer products. The continued expansion of our subsidiary, EuroGen, is an on-going step in this
strategy, intended to ultimately create a meaningful presence for our products in five major countries of
the European Union (“EU”). EuroGen is primarily a registration, sales and marketing organization.
Previously, EuroGen has filed registration documentation to sell mitomycin and paclitaxel. During 2004,
EuroGen filed registration documentation for Orathecin and Dacogen and transferred the Nipent MAA
from Pfizer to EuroGen. EuroGen is not expected to penetrate all European markets in the near future.
The markets for anti-cancer products in the United Kingdom, Germany, France, [taly and Spain represent
approximately 80 percent of the current anti-cancer market in Western Europe. We now expect EuroGen
to generate revenue during 2006 from sales of Nipent. We intend to penetrate other areas outside of the
United States through partners and distributors.

Capitalizing on our exisﬁng clinical expem'sé and regulatory development 1o maximize the commercial
value of our products. We intend to expand potential applications of our products both within existing
labeling for our products and through supporting physician-initiated interest in clinical trials in therapeutic




areas beyond our products’ approved indications. This expansion entails managing numerous additional
clinical studies and regulatory interactions for our key products. This process is complex whether it is
conducted through our Clinical department for formal label expansion or whether the trials are supported
and managed through our Medical Affairs department. Over 20 physicians have initiated clinical studies
with Nipent that are currently being managed by our Medical Affairs department for a wide range of
diseases. We believe companies are open to working with us because of our corporate expertise with the
developmental, regulatory and marketing aspects of maximizing the value of products in this market
segment. We believe our clinical development experience serves to increase the value of our product
portfolio.

Acquiring, licensing or co-developing compounds or product technologies. We identify and seek to
acquire, license or co-develop products or compounds that are in various stages of development or already
marketed. We then seek to enhance and complete product development and commercialization.
Historically, our approach resulted in minimizing the financial investment required and reduced the risk of
failure in developing a commercially viable product. Dacogen, Orathecin and Nipent were each acquired
through this process. We believe our ability to navigate products through clinical development, the FDA
and other regulatory agencies makes us a more attractive partner for companies seeking to sell or license
products or compounds.

Summary of Products and Products in Development
Dacogen

Dacogen, a pyrimidine analog that decreases the amount of methylation at certain DNA sites, is an
active therapeutic product that we acquired from Pharmachemie in September 1999. Aberrant DNA
methylation has been implicated as a fundamental factor in the development of all cancers. Researchers
have determined that an increase in specific methylation of DNA can result in blocking the activity of
genes, thereby reducing the degree of cellular antigen expression and potentially causing chemotherapy
resistance. In clinical studies, researchers have demonstrated that Dacogen can reverse the methylation of
DNA, potentially leading to re-expression of genes and a resulting re-differentiation and maturation of the
cancer cells back to pre-cancer levels. Researchers have also produced evidence that Dacogen treatment
may reverse drug resistance by restoring the sensitivity of tumors to treatment by drugs such as cisplatin.

Myelodysplastic Syndrome

Myelodysplastic syndrome (“MDS”) is a bone marrow disorder characterized by the production of
abnormally functioning, immature blood cells. According to the American Cancer Society, there are an
estimated 10,000-20,000 new cases of MDS in the United States each year. In the majority of afflicted
patients, MDS results in death from bleeding and infection. In other patients, MDS can transform to acute
myelogenous leukemia (“AML”) a disease with a high mortality rate.

In multiple Phase II studies in Europe, researchers demonstrated that Dacogen is active and
potentially efficacious for treating patients with MDS. Based on positive results from these European
Phase 11 studies, we conducted a randomized Phase III study in the United States. This Phase I1I trial was
designed to support regulatory approval of Dacogen for the treatment of patients with MDS in the United
States and Europe. During the American Society for Hematology meeting in December 2004, we reported
results from our randomized Phase I1I study of Dacogen for injection as a treatment for MDS. The study
enrolled 170 patients at 22 North American sites, with 89 randomized to Dacogen plus supportive care and
81 randomized to supportive care only. Supportive care included antibiotics, growth factors and/or
transfusions. The presentation included results from both primary endpoints of the study, response rate
(CR + PR) per IWG MDS criteria as well as time to AML transformation or death.
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Patients randomized to the Dacogen arm had a significantly superior response rate compared to
patients randomized to the best supportive care arm, 17 % versus 0%, p < 0.001. Responses to Dacogen
treatment were seen in all IPSS groups enrolled in the study. The median duration or response was 266
days. Dacogen responders versus all non-responders had a median of 491 versus 274 AML-free days until
death, a median of 657 versus 384 days of survival and remained or became RBC/platelet transfusion
independent during response. Median time to AML transformation or death in all patients was 340 days
for the Dacogen arm versus 219 days for the best supportive care arm (p= 0.043 Wilcoxon, 0.160 Log-
rank). All analyses were specified by the protocol. We and our clinical advisors believe that these data are
clinically significant and these data were used to form the basis of our NDA and MAA for Dacogen.

More adverse events were reported for patients randomized to the Dacogen arm. Leucopenia and
febrile nentropenia were observed more frequently in patients given Dacogen, as were nausea,
constipation, diarrhea, vomiting, pneumonia, arthralgia, headache and insomnia. Severe adverse events
observed more frequently in patients randomized to Dacogen, categorized as Grade 3 or 4, were
leucopenia and febrile neutropenia. The rates of Grade 3-4 sepsis were similar (8% in the Dacogen arm
versus 6% in the supportive care only arm). The mortality rate for patients on study is 12% for Dacogen
and 9% for supportive care. This difference in mortality rates was not statistically significant.

Dacogen received orphan drug designation in the United States and Europe, which may provide us
with seven years of marketing exclusivity in the United States and ten years marketing exclusivity in
Europe, if Dacogen is approved by regulatory authorities for MDS. In addition, the FDA has granted us
“fast track” designation for Dacogen. However, the FDA approval process may take a significant amount
of time and Dacogen may not be approved.

On December 31, 2004, our NDA submission for Dacogen was accepted for filing by the FDA and
indicated a target PDUFA date of September 1, 2005. On September 1, 2005, we received an Approvable
Letter for Dacogen from the FDA, which provided that Dacogen was approvable pending the FDA’s
review of a requested analysis of the transfusion requirements of patients enrolled in the completed Phase
III trial, submission of certain other information, and completion of labeling discussions. We completed
the collection and analysis of the data requested by the FDA and submitted our response to the
Approvable Letter on November 15, 2005. On December 15, 2005, the FDA accepted our resubmission as
a complete response to the Approvable Letter. The resubmission has been classified by the FDA as a
Class 2 response, and the FDA established a user fee goal date to review the response by May 15, 2006.
There can be no guarantee that the FDA will approve Dacogen.

Our European subsidiary, EuroGen, submitted an MAA for Dacogen to the EMEA, which was
accepted for review on October 25, 2004. We, along with MGI, determined that additional clinical data will
be required to continue the review of Dacogen in Europe. Therefore, we withdrew the MAA for Dacogen
in November 2005. This revision in the European regulatory strategy for Dacogen does not affect
regulatory strategies being pursued in the United States.

We continue to work with MGI and European regulatory authorities to determine the information
required to support a resubmission of the application, and anticipate resubmitting the application at a later
date. MGI anticipates that next steps in the European regulatory strategy may be finalized in collaboration
with a partner.

During September 2004, we executed a definitive agreement granting MGI exclusive worldwide rights
to the development, manufacture, commercialization and distribution of Dacogen. Under the terms of the
agreement, MGI made a $40.0 million equity investment in us and will pay up to $45.0 million in specific
regulatory and commercialization milestones. To date, we have received $12.5 million of these milestones.
If Dacogen is approved, we could receive a royalty on worldwide net sales starting at 20% and escalating to
a maximum of 30%. MGI has also committed to fund further development costs associated with Dacogen
on their own at a minimum of $15.0 million over a three year period.




Orathecin

Orathecin is an oral chemotherapy compound in the camptothecin class, licensed from the Stehlin
Foundation for Cancer Research (“Stehlin™) in 1997. Orathecin is a second-generation topoisomerase 1
inhibitor that causes single-strand breaks in the DNA of rapidly dividing tumor cells. Based on our
developmental program and clinical trial results, we believe that Orathecin may have significant
advantages over many existing anti-cancer drugs, including efficacy, side effect profile and oral dosing. In
particular, we believe that inhibition of bone marrow function is low, due in part to Orathecin’s dosing
schedule, which provides for a cycle of five days of administration followed by two days of recovery. In
clinical trials, the observed side effects were mild to moderate hematological toxicities, low-grade cystitis,
infrequent and mild hair loss and gastrointestinal disorders. As an oral drug that can be taken at home, we
believe treatment with Orathecin would be more convenient, may reduce overall healthcare costs, and may
provide patients with an improved quality of life. We believe that Orathecin is a key drug that may be used
in the treatment of a broad array of solid tumors and hematological malignancies, QOrathecin has been
tested in 46 clinical trials in 17 tumor types and 7 hematologic malignancies in over 2,800 patients.
Orathecin received orphan drug designation for pancreatic cancer in both the United States and Europe,
which may provide us with seven years of marketing exclusivity in the United States and ten years of
marketing exclusivity in Europe, if Orathecin is approved by regulatory authorities for this disease. Similar
marketing exclusivity is available in Japan.

In January 2004 we submitted an NDA under accelerated approval procedures to the FDA for
Orathecin for the treatment of pancreatic cancer patients that have failed one or more therapies. The filing
was accepted by the FDA and indicated a target response date in November 2004. At the request of the
FDA, during November 2004 we submitted additional clinical data from a trial of Orathecin as a first-line
treatment for pancreatic cancer as well as new analyses of data from the pivotal study in second and third
line patients. The FDA classified these data as a Major Amendment, which triggered an extension of the
review period by 90 days, resulting in a revised target response date in February 2005. Based on further
discussions and feedback with both the FDA and consultants helping us dialog with the FDA, we
determined the current package for Orathecin was not sufficient to gain approval at this time in the United
States and we withdrew the NDA in January 2005.

We currently have an ongoing Phase 11 clinical trial to study Orathecin and gemcitabine as a first-line
combination therapy for advanced pancreatic cancer patients who have not undergone chemotherapy. We
will consider future development alternatives for Orathecin partially based on a review of the interim
results of the clinical trial, which we expect to occur during the first half of 2006.

In July 2004, we submitted a MAA to the EMEA seeking approval of Orathecin. Based on extensive
discussions with the EMEA, we withdrew the MAA in January 2006. Our future registration strategy in
Europe is dependent on the results of the ongoing U.S. Phase II clinical trial to study Orathecin and
gemcitabine as a first-line combination therapy for advanced pancreatic cancer patients who have not
undergone chemotherapy.

Pancreatic Cancer

Pancreatic cancer causes more than 75,000 deaths per year globally. Based on a 1988-1992 study by
the National Cancer Institute (“NCI”) pancreatic cancer accounts for only 2% of all newly diagnosed
cancers in the United States each year, but results in 5% of all cancer deaths. The most commonly used
therapies to treat pancreatic cancer include 5-FU and gemcitabine.

In our large Phase 111 pancreatic cancer trial in the third-line setting, patients who had failed prior
chemotherapy were randomized to either Orathecin or best supportive care (the standard of care in this
setting). In this study Orathecin-treated patients showed an improvement in time to disease progression
and in survival, however, the differences were not substantial and did not achieve statistical significance.



This evidence of clinical activity has led us fo conduct the current Phase I study of Orathecin in
combination with gemcitabine as first-line therapy in chemo naive advanced pancreatic cancer patients.
Interim results for this clinical trial are expected to occur during the first half of 2006.

Nipent

Nipent inhibits a key enzyme in the DNA synthesis process and results in cytotoxicity, primarily in
lymphocytes, with little other known effect on normal tissue. We acquired Nipent from the Parke-Davis
division of the Warner-Lambert Company (Pfizer) in 1996 and the remaining European rights in
February 2004. Wyeth is the current distributor outside of the United States. We believe that Nipent’s
most unique feature is its selectivity for lymphocytes, which has created an interest in this product for the
treatment of cancers of the lymphoid system and other hematologic malignancies. Nipent has been our
principal source of revenue since 2000.

Hairy Cell Leukemia

We are selling Nipent directly in the United States for the treatment of hairy cell leukemia, a type of
B-lymphocytic leukemia. Wyeth sells Nipent outside the United States under a distribution agreement we
acquired in February 2004. We are currently negotiating with Wyeth for the acquisition of their
distribution rights for Nipent outside the United States. We expect to complete the negotiations within the
first half of 2006. If we are successful with our negotiations, our European subsidiary will be positioned to
re-launch Nipent in several major EU markets. Warner-Lambert had initially retained a worldwide,
royalty-free license to sell Nipent, but sold these rights to us in February 2004.

Other Indications

Phase IV trials suggest that Nipent may have activity in a variety of other hematologic cancers. We are
conducting Phase IV studies for treatment of hematological malignancies and disorders, such as CLL,
NHL, and cutaneous and peripheral T-cell lymphomas.

In addition, Nipent has shown activity in various autoimmune diseases, including GvHD, bone
marrow transplantation and multiple sclerosis. We believe that the United States markets for GvHD and
various autoimmune diseases are larger than the market for hairy cell leukemia. We are conducting Phase
I clinical trials in autoimmune conditions and Phase II trials in GvHD, and developing an oral formulation
of Nipent, which may be suitable for more chronic administration.




Other Products and Product Candidates

In addition to our three key compounds, Dacogen, Orathecin, and Nipent, we have the following
products and product candidates:

Indication or Therapeutic Regulatory
Product Category Compound Intended Use Category Status
Generic Anti-Cancer  Mitomycin Solid tumors Cancer Marketed
Products Paclitaxel Solid tumors Cancer Approved
Non-Pharmaceutical ~ Surface Safe® Surface Decontaminate Marketed
Product
Formulation Products Mitozytrex Solid tumors Cancer Approved
Partaject busulfan Neoplastic meningitis/ Cancer Phase I/11
bone marrow transplant -
Partaject Orathecin ~ Solid tumors Cancer Pre-clinical
CZ112 Solid tumors Cancer Phase ]
Cremophor-free Solid tumors Cancer Pre-clinical
_ paclitaxel
Product Candidates Avicine Therapeutic Vaccine Cancer Phase II
VEGF Anti-angiogenesis Cancer Pre-clinical

Generic Anti-Cancer Products

We have developed generic versions of existing anti-cancer agents as part of our proprietary
formulation product development efforts. We believe that the total estimated United States sales for
generic anti-cancer products have decreased over the last few years due to increased competition. We also
believe sales for these generics may continue to decrease as a result of competitive factors. These factors
may include reductions in the per unit sales price, introduction of additional generics as well as other
cancer drugs, new formulations for these drugs and the use of different therapies. Therefore, we currently
intend to limit our development of generic products to those that either require minimal effort to submit
an abbreviated new drug application (“ANDA”) and obtain marketing clearance, or that offer significant
market opportunities.

Mitomycin. We received approval of an ANDA for our generic mitomycin in 1998 for the treatment
of disseminated adenocarcinoma of the stomach or pancreas in proven combinations with other approved
chemotherapeutic agents and as palliative treatment when other modalities have failed. We are currently
selling mitomycin in the United States and we are also a contract supplier for another distributor in the
United States. :

Daunorubicin. We received approval of an ANDA for generic daunorubicin for a variety of acute
leukemias in 2001. During 2005, we sold and transferred to American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc. for net
proceeds totaling $590,000 the ANDA and all rights, title and interest in our generic daunorubicin.

Paclitaxel. We filed an ANDA for generic paclitaxel with the FDA in August 1998. During
November 2004, we received approval from the FDA of our ANDA Paclitaxel Injection, 6 mg/mL,
packaged in 30 mg/5 mL and 100 mg/16.7 mL multiple-dose vials. Paclitaxel belongs to the group of
medicines called antineoplastics. The drug is equivalent to Bristol-Myers Squibb’s Taxol® Injection; an
anti-tumor agent that has become one of the most widely used anti-cancer products. Paclitaxel Injection’s
approved indication is identical to Taxol and is indicated as treatment for a variety of cancers. At this time
we will not directly market this product, but are in discussions with United States distributors to license out
the ANDA. '




Non-Pharmaceutical Product

Surface Safe. Surface Safe is a two-step disposable towelette cleaning system used to decontaminate
work surfaces where chemotherapeutic preparation is conducted, which we acquired in July 1999 from
Aldorr, Inc., a medical technology development company. The first towelette contains chemicals
recommended by the Centers for Disease Control and the Occupational Safety Health Administration to
clean work surfaces. The second towelette is used to deactivate the chemicals used in the first towelette, in
order to prevent damage to work surfaces through its potent oxidizing process.

Formulation Products

We have focused the application of our technologies on the development of improved formulations of
existing anti-cancer agents, which will be marketed as brand-name pharmaceuticals. We believe that
incorporating our technologies with these compounds may result in products with improved delivery
and/or administration. The development of these products is subject to the NDA approval process.

Mitozytrex. Our first product utilizing our formulation technology, Mitozytrex, which is a formulation
of generic mitomycin, was approved by the FDA in November 2002 for use in the therapy of disseminated
adenocarcinoma of the stomach or pancreas in proven combinations with other approved
chemotherapeutic agents and as palliative treatment when other modalities have failed. We cannot
promote Mitozytrex as providing any injection site ulceration protection, nor can we promote any
commercially viable increased stability, solubility or shelf life extension, as compared to generic mitomycin.
We must develop and submit additional data to the FDA in NDA supplements and receive FDA approval
for additional claims. We are currently exploring marketing opportunities and/or marketing partners for
Mitozytrex.

Partaject Drug Delivery Technology. Partaject drug delivery technology is a drug delivery system that
accommodates poorly water-soluble and water-insoluble compounds by encapsulating them with a fatty
layer, known as a phospholipid. The Partaject technology involves coating particles of a drug that are of
submicron or near micron size with a membrane-forming phospholipid layer, thereby permitting the
creation of a suspension of the drug rather than a solution, and its intravenous injection without the use of
potentially toxic solubilizing agents. As a result, we believe the Partaject technology may reduce toxicity
created by other injectable forms of delivery mechanisms and potentially increase efficacy by facilitating
delivery of compounds whose prior intravenous delivery was impractical because of solubility-related
formulation difficulties.

Partaject products under development. Busulfan is currently marketed in an oral dosage form by
GlaxoSmithKline for the palliative treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia. It is used “off-label” as a
bone marrow ablating agent prior to bone marrow transplants. In 1998, we completed a Phase I clinical
trial of Partaject busulfan at both Johns Hopkins Oncology Center and Duke University Medical Center. A
Phase I clinical trial in pediatric bone marrow ablation has been completed in 35 patients at St. Jude’s
Children’s Hospital in Memphis.

Oral Prodrug Delivery Technology—CZ 112. Oral prodrug delivery technology involves administering
an inactive compound, known as a prodrug, which is absorbed in the digestive tract and is converted
enzymatically to an active agent in the liver. Oral prodrug delivery technology could potentially enable the
oral delivery of drugs that are otherwise only used in an intravenous formulation. The resulting active
compounds may pass through the systemic circulation and act at peripheral sites. We are applying the oral
prodrug delivery technology to compounds selected for their potential either to serve as oral delivery
agents for systermically active chemotherapeutic or radio sensitizing drugs previously available only in
intravenous form. CZ 112 is an oral prodrug for Orathecin we licensed from Stehlin in November 1999
after initial Phase I testing. We are currently completing additional pre-clinical tumor model studies prior
to deciding to undertake further clinical development.




Cremophor-Free Paclitaxel. In January and October 2000, we were issued two United States patents
for a cremophor-free formulation of paclitaxel. We were issued a third patent for an oral formulation in
November 2001. We believe that these pateénts have important clinical and strategic implications as such a
formulation obviates the need for pre-medication, which is currently required with the use of paclitaxel.
We believe that the lack of pre-medication and an oral formulation will prove to be major competitive
advantages in the paclitaxel market.

Product Candidates

Avicine. In July 2000, we acquired the sales and marketing rights in the United States to Avicine
from AVI BioPharma, Inc. (“AVI”). Avicine is a therapeutic cancer vaccine and has completed Phase I1
clinical trials for colorectal and pancreatic cancer.

VEGF (Anti-Angiogenesis). In February 2001, we licensed from Peregrine Pharmaceuticals (formerly
known as Techniclone Corp.) a platform drug-targeting technology known as Vascular Targeting Agent
(“VTA?”). The licensed technology is related to Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (“VEGF”). The VTA
technology is a proprietary platform designed to specifically target a tumor’s blood supply and
subsequently destroy the tumor with various attached therapeutic agents. We are currently in the process
of exploring marketing opportunities and/or marketing partners for this product.

Proprietary Formulation Technology

We have developed several applications for our proprietary formulation technology, a platform
technology that employs the use of an inert chemical excipient, cyclodextrin, combined with a drug. Most
anti-cancer drugs are cytotoxic, and most must be administered intravenously. If a vein is missed on
injection, the drug can leak to surrounding tissue, causing ulceration that sometimes requires plastic
surgery to correct. Our proprietary formulation technology is designed to “shield” the drug from the
injection site, thus helping to provide the patient protection from tissue ulceration. It may also increase the
relative solubility of hard-to-dissolve anti-cancer drugs, hence potentially increasing its stability or shelf
life. Each of these benefits must be supported by appropriate data and approved by the FDA as part of an
NDA filing. We believe that such features, if approved by the FDA, will result in our formulation products
having a significant competitive advantage over their counterparts currently on the market. In March 1994,
we acquired exclusive worldwide rights to the patented cyclodextrin technology used in our formulation
technology from Janssen Biotech, N.V. (“Janssen”) and others.

Non-Oncology Proprietary Products

We are currently seeking strategic alliances and licensing agreements for further development of
certain non-oncology products, including pyrazinoylguanidine (“PZG”) and AM 454.

PZG is a product for treatment of Type I, or adult-onset, diabetes. Animal studies and early clinical
studies of PZG suggest that it may help to control the blood sugar and lipid abnormalities of diabetes, and
may have utility in treating a lipid disorder unrelated to diabetes called hypertriglyceridemia, obesity,
hypertension and the uremia of renal failure. We initiated a small, well-defined and controlled Phase II
study to characterize the hypoglycemic and lipid-lowering effects of PZG in Type II diabetes.

AM 454 is a DHEA phosphocholine derivative which may have utility in obesity and diabetes.

Acquisition of New Products and Technologies

We are continually reviewing new product development opportunities in an effort to enhance and
create a broader product pipeline for future development.
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On January 27, 2006, we announced that we have entered into a definitive agreement to acquire
Montigen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Montigen”), a privately-held oncology-focused drug discovery and
development company headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah. Montigen’s assets include its research and
development team, a proprietary drug discovery technology platform and optimization process, CLIMB™,
and late-stage pre-clinical compounds targeting aurora-A kinase and members of the tyrosine kinase
receptor family. One of the Montigen compounds is expected to be the subject of a pre-IND meeting with
the FDA later this year. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, we will pay the Montigen stockholders a
total of $18.0 million upon the closing of the transaction, consisting of $9.0 million in cash and $9.0 million
in shares of SuperGen common stock. We will pay the Montigen stockholders an additional $22.0 million
in shares of SuperGen common stock, contingent upon achievement of specific regulatory milestones.
Completion of the acquisition will be subject to approval by the Montigen stockholders, customary closing
conditions, and the issuance of a permit from the Commissioner of Corporations for the State of California
so that the issuance of the shares of SuperGen common stock will be exempt from registration under the
Securities Act of 1933. The proposed transaction is expected to close in late March 2006. The potential
acquisition of Montigen will strengthen our pre-clinical development efforts while we continue to focus on
later-stage opportunities as well.

Research and Development

Because of the stage of our development and the nature of our business, we expend significant
resources on research and development activities. We expended $15.1 million in 2005, $24.0 million in
2004, and $26.3 million in 2003 on research and development. We conduct research internally and also
through collaborations with third parties, and we intend to maintain our strong commitment to our
research and development efforts in the future. Our major research and development projects have
included Dacogen, Orathecin, and studies on additional uses for Nipent.

Dacogen

From 1999 through 2005, we spent approximately $12.7 million on the pre-clinical and clinical
development of Dacogen. Dacogen is an investigational anti-cancer therapeutic for the treatment of
patients with MDS. We submitted an NDA for Dacogen to the FDA in November 2004. We received an
approvable letter from the FDA in September 2005, and submitted additional data requested by the FDA
in November 2005. A response is expected from the FDA in May 2006. In October 2004, we submitted a
MAA for Dacogen to the EMEA, but the submission was withdrawn in November 2005.

In September 2004, we licensed to MGI the exclusive worldwide rights to the development,
commercialization and distribution of Dacogen for all indications. We have pursued regulatory approvals
of Dacogen for the treatment of MDS in the United States and Europe, with assistance from MGI, and by
contract all development of Dacogen was transitioned to MGI by the end of 2005. MGI assumed full
development responsibilities following the transition to them. MGI is required to fund further
development costs associated with Dacogen on their own at a minimum of $15 million over a three year
period.
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Orathecin

From 1998 through 2005 we have spent approximately $71.5 million on the Orathecin program. In
January 2004 we submitted an NDA under accelerated approval procedures to the FDA for Orathecin for
the treatment of pancreatic cancer patients that have failed one or more therapies. The filing was accepted
by the FDA and indicated a target response date in November 2004. At the request of the FDA, during
November 2004 we submitted additional clinical data from a trial of Orathecin as a first-line treatment for
pancreatic cancer as well as new analyses of data from the pivotal study in second and third line patients.
The FDA classified these data as a Major Amendment, which triggered an extension of the review period
by 90 days, resulting in a revised target response date in February 2005. Based on further discussions and
feedback with both the FDA and consultants helping us dialog with the FDA, we determined that the
current package for Orathecin was not sufficient to gain approval at this time in the United States and we
announced the withdrawal of the NDA in January 2005. We currently have a Phase II clinical trial ongoing
to study Orathecin and gemcitabine as a first-line combination therapy for advanced pancreatic cancer
patients who have not undergone chemotherapy. We intend to make a decision on future development or
the alternative disposition of Orathecin based on a review of the interim results of this trial, which we
expect to occur during the first half of 2006.

In July 2004, we submitted a MAA to the EMEA seeking approval of Orathecin. The MAA was
withdrawn in January 2006. Our registration strategy in Europe is dependent on the results of the U.S.
Phase II results noted above. |

Nipent

Through December 31, 2005, we have spent approximately $17.0 million on Phase I, II, and Phase IV
programs related to different potential indications for Nipent. We believe that Nipent has a unique
mechanism of action and Phase IV trials indicate that it may have activity in a variety of other hematologic
cancers. We are conducting Phase IV studies for treatment of hematological malignancies and disorders,
such as CLL, NHL, cutaneous and peripheral T-cell lymphomas and acute and chronic GvHD. Nipent has
received orphan drug designation by the FDA for treatment of CLL and cutaneous T-cell lymphoma.

Sales and Marketing

We currently have 34 employees focused on sales, marketing, and sales support of our products to
cancer hospitals and clinics in the United States. The large majority of these hospitals are members of
hospital buying groups. We have focused our efforts on selling to these groups since they control a
significant majority of the business in the oncology and blood disorder pharmaceutical market. We also
market our products, including Nipent, to private practice oncology clinics, oncology distributors and drug
wholesalers. Oncologists/hematologists, oncology nurses and oncology pharmacists are included in each of
these classes of customers.

Since acceptance of our products from each buying group can be time consuming, there may be
significant delays before we can win bids and generate sales revenue. To date, a large number of these
buying groups, including Premier Purchasing Partners, Novation, Kaiser Permanente, and the Department
of Veteran Affairs, have given us approved vendor status for our products. In addition, we have gained
recognition as an approved vendor in each state that requires registration or licensing prior to bidding for
those customers.

There are approximately 5,000 private practice oncologists/hematologists in the United States. These
physicians usually purchase oncology products through distributors with whom we have developed
relationships. The four major oncology distributors in the United States are Oncology Therapeutic
Network Joint Venture, L.P., Oncology Supply, Cardinal Healthcare, and Priority Healthcare Corporation.
These distributors control approximately 60% of the private practice oncology clinics, which in turn
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represent approximately 30% of the oncology-related pharmaceutical market. We have taken significant
steps in building relationships with these distributors, all of which distribute Nipent. Our sales force will
also continue to target the important private practice oncology clinics within their assigned territories. We
also sell to large drug wholesalers that supply hospitals and hospital buying groups. In addition, we have
partnership arrangements with Group Physician Organizations including Pharmatech, U.S. Oncology, and
National Oncology Alliance.

Our sales group is divided into three regions. Each region is headed by a manager with extensive
industry experience who supervises specialty oncology sales representatives. Our sales and marketing
group conducts direct sales, sponsors speakers’ programs, works with distributors, performs market
research analysis, develops marketing strategies, creates and implements educational and promotional
programs, establishes pricing and product advertising and maintains compliance with hospital and other
buying groups.

Manufacturing

We currently outsource manufacturing for all of our products to United States and foreign suppliers.
We expect to continue to outsource manufacturing in the near term. We believe our current suppliers will
be able to efficiently manufacture our proprietary and generic compounds in sufficient quantities and on a
timely basis, while maintaining product quality and compliance with FDA and foreign regulations. We
maintain oversight of the quality control function of our third-party manufacturers through ongoing
inspections, rigorous review, control over documented operating procedures, and thorough analytical
testing by outside laboratories. We believe that our current strategy of outsourcing manufacturing is cost-
effective because we avoid the high fixed costs of plant, equipment, and large manufacturing staffs.

The FDA must issue marketing clearance and deem a manufacturer acceptable under current good
manufacturing practices (“GMPs”) before production of active pharmaceutical ingredients, finished
pharmaceuticals, or proprietary and generic drugs for commercial sale may begin. Once a proprietary or
generic compound is manufactured on our behalf, it is sent to one or more domestic manufacturers that
process it into the finished dosage forms. We currently follow these procedures for our marketed products,
Nipent and mitomycin. We then ship our finished proprietary and generic products to outside vendors for
distribution to our customers.

We received approval from the FDA in May 2002 to commercially manufacture Nipent at one of our
designated vendor’s manufacturing sites using our proprietary manufacturing process. This company went
out of business in late 2004. However, we have contracted with another manufacturer to purify Nipent, and
we do not anticipate any interruptions to our supply of drug available for sale. In April 1998, the FDA
approved our application for the production and commercial distribution of mitomycin for injection. See
“Risk Factors—Qur business may be harmed if the manufacture of our products is interrupted or
discontinued.”

We intend to continue evaluating our manufacturing requirements and may establish or acquire our
own facilities to manufacture our products for commercial distribution if doing so would reduce costs or
improve control and flexibility of product supply.

Business Relationships and Material Contracts
Strategic, Collaborative and Licensing Relationships and Related Agreements

We identify and license or buy rights to products or compounds that are typically in human clinical
development. We then seek to enhance and complete the product development and bring the product to
market internally or through collaborations. We have entered into a variety of strategic and collaborative
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relationships and licensing agreements in pursuing our business. Some of our more significant
relationships are as follows:

1. MGI PHARMA, Inc—Dacogen

In August 2004, we entered into a license agreement with MGI relating to Dacogen (the “License
Agreement”), which became effective on September 21, 2004. Dacogen is an investigational anti-cancer
therapeutic which has been in clinical trials for the treatment of patients with MDS. Pursuant to the terms
of the License Agreement, MGI received exclusive worldwide rights to the development, commercial-
ization and distribution of Dacogen for all indications. We continued to pursue with MGI regulatory
approvals of Dacogen for the treatment of MDS in the United States and Europe and, in accordance with
the License Agreement, all development of Dacogen was transitioned to MGI by the end of 2005. MGI
assumed full development responsibilities following the transition to them. MGI is required to fund further
development costs associated with Dacogen at a minimum of $15 million over a three year period. In
addition to MDS, MGI will pursue development of Dacogen for other indications. If specified regulatory
and commercialization milestones are achieved, MGI will pay us up to $45 million based upon the
achievement of such milestones. Subject to certain limitations, MGI will also pay us 50% of certain
revenue payable to MGI as a result of MGI sublicensing rights to market, sell, and/or distribute Dacogen,
to the extent such revenues are in excess of the milestone payments. We will receive a royalty starting at
20% and escalating to a maximum of 30% on annual worldwide net sales of licensed products.

Under the terms of the License Agreement, MGI is obligated to pay us milestone payments for
achievement of certain regulatory and commercialization goals, as well as reimburse us for certain
development and allocated overhead costs of Dacogen until we receive marketing authorization. During
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we recorded development revenue of $3.4 million and $3.6
million, respectively, relating to the reimbursements under this agreement. During the year ended
December 31, 2004, we recognized development revenue of $12.5 million for milestone achievement.

2. The Stehlin Foundation for Cancer Research—Orathecin

In September 1997, we entered into a License Agreement, as subsequently amended in 1999, to
license the exclusive worldwide royalty-bearing rights to Orathecin from Stehlin, a Houston, Texas based
cancer research clinic. Under the agreement, we have the right to grant sublicenses, make, import, use, sell,
offer for sale and otherwise distribute and exploit the licensed products worldwide. We must use
commercially reasonable efforts to develop the licensed Orathecin products and obtain regulatory
approval for the products.

We may, at our sole discretion, enter into agreements with third parties with respect to the
development of the licensed products. We must bear our own costs incurred in connection with the
development of the products, and, except for the payments described in the agreement, Stehlin will bear its
own costs incurred in connection with the performance of the research activities that we may request and
Stehlin agrees to undertake in connection with the development of the licensed products. The
development responsibilities under the agreement are coordinated by a committee consisting of an equal
number of employees of each party, provided that we have the deciding vote in the event of any
disagreement. ‘ ‘

Stehlin continues to hold the title to all inventions and other intellectual property made solely by
employees or consultants of Stehlin with respect to Orathecin, and we hold the title to all inventions and
other intellectual property made solely by our employees or consultants in connection with activities under
the agreement. Title to all inventions and other intellectual property made jointly by employees or
consultants of the parties in connection with the agreement are jointly owned by the parties. In the event
Stehlin elects to license any product (other than the Orathecin products) for human medicinal purposes
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for any uses that include pancreatic cancer or antineoplastic use, we have the right of first refusal to obtain
from Stehlin a license under patents owned or controlled by Stehlin to market such products.

We have paid Stehlin approximately $9.6 million through December 31, 2005 for research under this
agreement. Our agreement with Stehlin also calls for additional payments in our common stock upon the
achievement of specified milestones and royalties on any product sales. We must make milestone payments
under the agreement upon (a) notification by the FDA of the acceptance for filing of the first NDA
submitted for Orathecin and (b) our receipt of the FDA notice that it has approved Orathecin for
marketing. Each of such payments will be made in restricted shares of our common stock at a per share
purchase price equal to the average trading price of the shares over a 30-day trading period. During the
year ended December 31, 2004, the FDA accepted for filing our NDA submission for Orathecin. This
triggered a required milestone payment to Stehlin of $500,000. We made the milestone payment through
the issuance of 63,969 shares of unregistered common stock, which was calculated based on the average
trading price of our stock during the 30-day period preceding the payment date.

Unless terminated sooner as provided in the agreement, the agreement will continue in full force and
effect on a country-by-country and licensed product-by-licensed product basis until there are no remaining
royalty payment obligations in a country, at which time the agreement will terminate in its entirety in such
country. We will continue to have a perpetual, non-exclusive, royalty-free license, with the right to grant
sublicenses, to make, import, use, sell, offer for sale and otherwise distribute and exploit the Orathecin
products for human medicinal purposes in such country. We may terminate the agreement with respect to
any country with 60 days written notice to Stehlin. In addition, if either party materially breaches the
agreement, the other party will have certain termination rights. Further, either party may terminate the
agreement if the other becomes the subject of a voluntary or involuntary petition in bankruptcy or any
proceeding relating to insolvency, receivership or liquidation for the benefit of creditors, if that petition or
proceeding is not dismissed with prejudice within 60 days after filing.

3. Pharmachemie—Dacogen

In September 1999, we entered into a Know-How Transfer and Cooperation Agreement with
Pharmachemie. Under the agreement, Pharmachemie sold and transferred to us its know-how related to a
pharmaceutical product approach for the treatment of leukemia and other hematologic malignancies,
called the “Decitabine Project.” Under the agreement, we obtained all rights and title with respect to the
know-how related to the Decitabine Project, including the related intellectual property rights, and the
exclusive world-wide right to nse the know-how for any purpose whatsoever, including the filing of
applications for marketing approval of the products. Upon execution of the agreement, we delivered to
Pharmachemie shares of our common stock equal to $3.4 million. Decitabine was subsequently renamed
Dacogen.

4. Warner-Lambert Company (Pfizer)—Nipent

In September 1996, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with the Warner-Lambert
Company (now Pfizer Inc.), pursuant to which we obtained the exclusive rights to the anti-cancer drug
Nipent from Warner-Lambert for the United States, Canada and Mexico. The assets we acquired included
all of Warner-Lambert’s unpurified crude concentrate form of pentostatin, from which Nipent is made,
and related inventory, NDA for the United States, Canadian new drug submission and certain intellectual

property.

In addition, to the extent not acquired by us under the agreement, Warner-Lambert granted us an
irrevocable, non-exclusive, worldwide, perpetual and royalty-free license to use all the technical know-how
reasonably required or useful for the manufacture of the pentostatin products under the agreement, and
any other intellectual property owned or licensed by Warner-Lambert as of the closing date necessary or
helpful in the manufacture of the pentostatin products.
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In consideration for the assets and related intellectual property rights acquired by us under the
agreement, we paid Warner-Lambert $2.1 million in cash and $1.0 million in unregistered shares of our
common stock, followed by an additional cash payment of $500,000.

In February 2004, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Pfizer Inc. pursuant to which
we acquired the right to market Nipent in Europe and associated regulatory approvals and related assets.
We paid Pfizer $1.0 million under this agreement.

5.  Peregrine Pharmaceuticals-—VTA

In February 2001, we entered into a License Agreement to license a platform drug-targeting
technology known as Vascular Targeting Agent from Peregrine Pharmaceuticals. The licensed technology
is related to VEGF. The VTA technology is a proprietary platform designed to specifically target a tumor’s
blood supply and subsequently destroy the tumor with various attached therapeutic agents.

Under the agreement, we obtained an exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing license to Peregrine’s
patents related to the VTA technology, which permits us to make, use, import, sell and otherwise exploit
and distribute licensed products using the VTA technology. We may also grant sublicenses under the VTA
technology pursuant to the agreement.

The agreement required an up-front payment of $600,000, which included the acquisition of 150,000
shares of Peregrine common stock valued at $253,000. The remaining $347,000 of the payment was
recorded as research and development expense. We are also required to pay Peregrine an annual license
fee of $200,000 per year in cash or our common stock until the first filing of an Investigational New Drug
Application (“IND”) in the United States utilizing the licensed patents. In addition, the terms of the
agreement require that we pay milestone payments and royalties to Peregrine based on the net revenues of
any drugs commercialized using the VTA technology. The milestone payments could ultimately total
approximately $8.25 million, plus additional royalty payments as required under the agreement. We are
required to make milestone payments to Peregrine upon (a) commencement by us of the first Phase 11
trial in the United States, Europe or Japan for the first therapeutic clinical candidate covered under the
licensed patents; (b) commencement by us of Phase III trial in the United States, Europe or Japan for
subsequent therapeutic clinical candidates covered under the licensed patents; (¢) commencement by us of
a Phase 1I/I11 trial, if any; (d) receipt of regulatory approval in the United States for the first therapeutic
clinical candidate covered under the licensed patents; (e) receipt of regulatory approval in a European
nation for the first therapeutic clinical candidate covered under the licensed patents; and (f) receipt of
regulatory approval in Japan for the first therapeutic clinical candidate covered under the licensed patents.

The agreement will continue in full force and effect on a country-by-country and product-by- product
basis until there are no remaining royalty payment obligations in a country, at which time the agreement
will expire in its entirety in such country, unless terminated sooner as provided in the agreement. Upon
expiration of the agreement in any country, we will have a non-exclusive, irrevocable, fully paid-up right
and license to use and exploit the licensed patents in that country. We may terminate the agreement with
respect to any country with 30 days written notice to Peregrine. In addition, if either party materially
breaches the agreement, the other party will have certain rights to terminate the agreement.

6. AMUR Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

In September 2000, we acquired the intellectual property of AMUR Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (‘AMUR™)
a company with the proprietary rights to AM 454, which can potentially prevent the onset of Type IT
diabetes according to pre-clinical animal studies, and rights to a 20K growth hormone, with potential for
treatment of Type II diabetes. AMUR’s technology is based on a water-soluble class of hormones. We
acquired these rights in exchange for 37,795 shares of our common stock and two-year warrants to
purchase 200,000 shares of our common stock at $40.00 per share. In 2002, these warrants were extended
for two additional years but expired unexercised in 2004.
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7. Cyclex, Inc.

In March 1994, we entered into a Patent License Agreement with Cyclex, Inc. pursnant to which we
obtained a license under a patent identified in the agreement to make, use and sell pharmaceutical
products for cytotoxic anti-cancer formulations containing HPBCD and certain other ingredients, for use
in the United States. Cyclex agrees that it will not enter into a license agreement with any other parties
granting the rights to make, use and sell such licensed products in the United States. The rights granted to
us under the agreement are non-transferable, and we may not grant sublicenses thereof.

In consideration of the rights granted under the agreement, we must pay a 3% royalty to Cyclex on
our net sales of products covered by the licensed patent. Only one royalty payment is due to Cyclex for the
initial sale made by us or for the internal transfer price of each licensed product. The agreement will
remain in effect until the expiration of the licensed patent under the agreement, or a final finding of
invalidity or withdrawal of the licensed patent, subject to earlier termination for breach.

8. Janssen Biotech, N.V.

In March 1994, we entered into a Worldwide License Agreement with Janssen, pursuant to which we
obtained from Janssen an exclusive license to make, use and sell the pharmaceutical cytotoxic anti-cancer
formulations containing HPBCD and certain other ingredients as developed by Janssen, for use worldwide
except in the United States. We also have the right to grant sublicenses of the product. The rights granted
under the agreement are otherwise non-transferable, except to affiliates.

In consideration of the rights granted under the agreement, we must pay a royalty of 4% for the
license of the know-how in all countries and a royalty under the patent rights of 3% in those countries
where patent rights have been granted. In addition, we paid Janssen a down payment of $60,000 in
connection with the execution of the agreement, and must make additional milestone payments to Janssen
during the term of the agreement. We paid $350,000 in 2003 following the approval of Mitozytrex.

The agreement will remain in effect until the expiration of the last to expire patent rights under the
agreement, subject to earlier termination for breach. In the event, however, that after the expiration of the
patent rights, the know-how under the agreement is still confidential and substantial, then the term of the
agreement will be renewed for successive periods of one year each during which our obligations to pay
royalties under the agreement will be limited to know-how related royalties.

9.  The Jackson Laboratory

In September 1993, we entered into a Patent License and Royalty Agreement with The Jackson
Laboratory (“Jackson”) pursuant to which we obtained an exclusive right and license in and to the patents
and patent rights related to three patents identified in the agreement, which relate to our proprietary
formulation technology, together with the right to grant sublicenses thereof. Jackson retained a royalty-
free, non-exclusive, non-transferable license and right to the patent rights under the agreement for its own
research and institutional purposes. We have the right to state in any advertising, promotions or sales
materials that we are the exclusive licensee of Jackson under the patents covered by the agreement.

Upon execution of the agreement, we paid Jackson a one-time reimbursement fee of $25,000. In
addition, we must pay Jackson royalties equal to 2% of the net sales price of any patent products leased or
sold by us, and a royalty equal to 10% of the net royalty paid to us on account of any lease or sale of such
patent rights and related products. We must also pay Jackson an annual payment of $2,500 per year,
payable each year until the year of the last-to-expire patent rights. We must also pay any expenses for the
preparation and filing of new patent applications and patent maintenance fees for all issued patents
covered by the agreement.
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The agreement may be terminated by Jackson if we cease to carry on our business, fail to pay royalties
owed under the agreement or otherwise materially breach the agreement. We may terminate the
agreement upon six month’s notice to Jackson.

- 10. AVI BioPharma, Inc.—Avicine

In December 1999, we entered into an agreement with AVI to acquire one million shares of AVI
common stock, which amounted to approximately 7.5 percent of AVI’s then outstanding common stock,
for $2.5 million cash and 100,000 shares of our common stock at $28.25 per share. The chief executive
officer of AVI at the time was a member of our board of directors (who later resigned from our board in
May 2002), and a former member of our board of directors was a member of the board of directors of AVI
through March 2004. We also acquired exclusive negotiating rights for the United States market for
Avicine, AVI’s proprietary cancer vaccine currently in late-stage clinical testing against a variety of solid
tumors. Avicine is an immunotherapy that neutralizes the effect of a tumor-associated antigen on cancer
cells, while stimulating the body’s immune system to react against the foreign tumor.

In April 2000, we entered into a United States sales, distribution and development agreement with
AVI to become the exclusive distributor and promoter in the United States of any pharmaceutical product

containing Avicine.

Under the terms of the agreement, we are responsible for advertising, marketing, selling and
promoting Avicine in the United States, and AVT is responsible for product manufacturing, packaging,
sterilization and labeling. AVI has granted us an exclusive license to sell the Avicine products in the
United States. In the event that AVI or its third-party manufacturers are unable to fill product orders for a
total of 60 days, then we will have a non-exclusive license to manufacture Avicine products. If AVI is
unable to meet its obligations under the agreement for six months, AVI must notify us and the parties will
consider steps to preserve our rights to Avicine, including, but not limited to, the grant of a non-exclusive,
royalty bearing license to us to develop and sell Avicine products in the United States. Under the
agreement, we also obtained the right of first discussion with respect to all of AVI’s oncology compounds.

We formed a joint Clinical Development Committee with AVI to oversee, review and coordinate the
implementation of the clinical studies and the pursuit of regulatory approvals in the United States, and we
will equally share the costs for the FDA approval process. In addition, any net profits from the sale of
Avicine products in the United States will be split equally among the parties. Further, the parties will
jointly determine the optimum development strategy for the international marketplace.

AVI will maintain any patents owned by it or licensed to AVI relating to Avicine as identified and
agreed to by the parties, and AVI will use its reasonable commercial efforts to prosecute any agreed upon
patent applications. In addition, the parties will consult together and jointly determine patent issues,
including patenting strategy, prosecution and response to patent office actions. AVI will be solely
responsible for the selection, filing, registration and maintenance of any AVI trademarks related to
Avicine in the United States. We have a non-exclusive limited license to use AVI’s name and logo in the
United States, and a co-exclusive limited license to use AVI trademarks related to Avicine in the United
States, in each instance solely for the purpose of promoting, distributing and selling Avicine products in the
United States in accordance with the terms and conditions of the agreement.

In consideration of past research and development performed by AVI, we made an additional equity
investment in AVI totaling $22.0 million in exchange for 1,684,211 shares of AVI common stock, paid in a
combination of $5.0 million cash and the issuance of 347,826 shares of our common stock. As part of the
agreement, we have a warrant to acquire up to an additional 10% of AVI’s common stock at an aggregate
exercise price equal to $60.0 million, or $35.625 per share. This warrant is exercisable for a three-year
period commencing on the earlier of the date the FDA accepts the NDA submitted for Avicine, or the
date on which the closing price of AVI’s common stock exceeds the warrant exercise price. Neither event
had occurred as of December 31, 2005.
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We will be required to make additional milestone payments to AVI for an aggregate of up to
$80.0 million, including (a) $2.5 million in our stock or cash, upon completion of accrual into the Phase IIT
trial for Avicine; (b) $2.5 million in our stock or cash, upon acceptance by the FDA of the NDA submitted
for Avicine; (c) $5.0 million in our stock or cash, upon launch of Avicine in the United States,
(d) $10.0 million in cash, when our annual Avicine product sales reach $100.0 million; (e) $15.0 million in
cash, when our annual Avicine product sales reach $250.0 million; (f) $20.0 million in cash, when our
annual Avicine product sales reach $500.0 million; and (g) $25.0 million in cash, when our annual Avicine
product sales reach $1.0 billion. The ability to make milestone payments in our stock shall be at our option,
subject to ownership limitations.

Unless terminated sooner as provided in the agreement, the agreement will expire upon the earlier of
(a) the date upon which a generic version of Avicine is first sold in the United States by someone other
than us or (b) the date which is 15 years after the date of regulatory approval of Avicine in the United
States, provided that we and AVI may renew the agreement for the United States for (1) further successive
one year periods, or (2) further successive periods of time during which any applicable marketing
exclusivity precludes the effective approval by the FDA of any product containing Avicine. In addition,
either party may terminate the agreement if the ownership or control of at least 50% of the assets or voting
securities of the other party are transferred and, in the non-changing party’s reasonable judgment, the
other party’s new owner or controlling entity is a competitor of the non-changing party in the field of
oncology.

Supply and Distribution Agreements

We have entered into a variety of supply and distribution agreements in pursuing our business. Some
of our more significant relationships are as follows:

1. Abbott Laboratories—Nipent

In December 1999, we entered into a Nipent U.S. Distribution Agreement with Abbott Laboratories
(“Abbott”). Under the agreement, we supplied Nipent inventory exclusively to Abbott on a consignment
basis for distribution by Abbott within the United States. The agreement became effective on March 1,
2000, for a period of five years. We retained all United States promotional, advertising and marketing
rights for Nipent. Upon receipt by Abbott of orders for products under the agreement, Abbott shipped and
invoiced the products at the wholesale acquisition cost for the product established by us and reported to
Abbott.

In January 2000, Abbott made a $5.0 million cash payment to us in connection with the granting of the
exclusive distribution rights by us to Abbott. In March 2003, we paid Abbott $500,000 for the right to
terminate the agreement at our option, for a stated fee that decreased over time to $1.5 million at
March 2005. In February 2005, we paid $1.5 million to Abbott to terminate this agreement effective
March 1, 2005.

2. Warner-Lambert Company (Pfizer)—Nipent

In October 1997, we entered into a Supply Agreement with Warner-Lambert Company (Pfizer),
pursuant to which we contracted to manufacture and supply the pharmaceutical preparation for human use
containing pentostatin in unlabeled sterile filled vials to Warner-Lambert or any entity designated by
Warner-Lambert to act on its behalf with respect to the purchase of the product, for sale outside of North
America (United States, Canada and Mexico) and Japan.
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In February 2004, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Pfizer Inc. to terminate this
Supply Agreement and to acquire European marketing rights for Nipent. We paid Pfizer $1.0 million
under this agreement.

3. EuroGen Pharmaceuticals Ltd.

In September 2001, we entered into a Supply and Distribution Agreement with EuroGen, our
majority owned subsidiary. Under the agreement, we granted EuroGen the exclusive European and South
African rights to promote, market, distribute and sell certain of our existing generic and other products or
compounds. The agreement also establishes a process for granting EuroGen rights to sell additional
products in Europe and South Africa, subject to our compliance with our other existing licensing and
distribution arrangements. After complying with these existing obligations, which include giving certain
third parties a right of first discussion, we will be required to offer EuroGen the option to obtain European
and South African rights to certain of our other products. The agreement grants EuroGen a non-exclusive
limited license to use our name and logo in connection with activities under the agreement. EuroGen is
required to seek and pay for all regulatory approvals and authorizations necessary for the commercial sale
of the products in the territories where they market and sell the products.

The term of the agreement will expire 15 years after the date of regulatory approval of the product
under the agreement in the first country within the designated territory, unless terminated sooner for
breach, bankruptcy or insolvency of one of the parties. In addition, we may terminate the agreement if
EuroGen directly or indirectly develops, markets, sells or otherwise distributes any products within the
designated territory, which could compete with the products under the agreement, or EuroGen appoints
any third party to develop, market, sell or otherwise distribute any such products which could compete with
the products under the agreement.

In December 2002, we became 95% owners of EuroGen. The remaining 5% is owned by Larry
Johnson, the President and CEO of EuroGen. Beginning in 2003, the results of EuroGen have been
included in our consolidated operations in Selling, general and administrative expenses. During the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, we have recorded expenses of $3,170,000 and $2,269,000, and
$325,000, respectively, related to EuroGen.

4.  Yunnan Hande Technological Development Co. Ltd.—Paclitaxel

In May 1997, we entered into a Non-Exclusive Supply Agreement, as subsequently amended in
August 1997 and 2001, with Yunnan Hande Technological Development Co. Ltd., (“Yunnan”). Yunnan
has developed a process for the production of paclitaxel and has sought to implement a process that meets
current GMPs, and we have consulted with Yunnan regarding the development plans for the production of
paclitaxel and other products.

Under the agreement, we agreed to purchase a minimum quantity of paclitaxel before the end of one
year from the date of approval of our ANDA for the paclitaxel drug product, on a non-exclusive basis.
Yunnan is free to sell paclitaxel to any party in any place and we are free to purchase paclitaxel from third
parties. We paid Yunnan an aggregate of $1.0 million during the FDA inspection period for the products.

5. Sigma-Aldrich Fine Chemicals (Tetrionics)—Nipent

In September 2004, we entered into a Drug Substance Validation and Supply Agreement with
Tetrionics, Inc., now Sigma-Aldrich Fine Chemicals (“SAFC”), pursuant to which SAFC will validate
certain of our current manufacturing processes for Nipent and manufacture validation batches of Nipent
using pentostatin crude concentrate supplied by us or parties authorized by us. Under the agreement, we
will own all deliverables and intellectual property related thereto and have access to SAFC facilities where
it performs the development and manufacturing activities to ensure compliance with applicable standards
and other requirements. In addition, SAFC has granted us a license under its proprietary technologies in
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the event it does not or is unable to supply the Nipent it is obligated to do so and has agreed to assist us in
securing alternate supply in such instance. SAFC will be responsible for obtaining all necessary regulatory
permits and other licenses in order to manufacture and supply Nipent to us under the agreement. Under
the agreement, we agreed to pay SAFC a total of up to $595,000 based on performing of certain activities,
providing certain deliverables and as reimbursement for certain capital equipment which we will own, of
which to date we have paid SAFC $207,500.

Under the agreement, we and SAFC have agreed to enter into a commercial manufacture and supply
agreement pursuant to which SAFC would manufacture and supply to us quantities of Nipent we order
from time to time using pentostatin crude concentrate supplied by us or parties authorized by us. Subject
to other conditions of the commercial manufacture and supply agreement we will agree to purchase up to
50% of our commercial requirements for Nipent. The commercial manufacture and supply agreement will
include other standard and customary terms and conditions which have been agreed to by us and SAFC
and set forth in the Drug Substance Validation and Supply Agreement, including price, forecasting
requirements, product warranties and delivery terms. The commercial manufacture and supply agreement
will initially be for a five year term and thereafter extendable by mutual agreement of SAFC and us.

Government Regulation: New Drug Development and Approval Process

Regulation by governmental authorities in the United States and other countries is a significant factor
in the manufacture and marketing of pharmaceuticals and in our ongoing research and development
activities. All of our drug products will require regulatory approval by governmental agencies prior to
commercialization. In particular, human therapeutic products are subject to rigorous pre-clinical testing,
clinical trials, and other pre-marketing approval requirements by the FDA and regulatory authorities in
other countries. In the United States, various federal, and in some cases state statutes and regulations also
govern or have an impact upon the manufacturing, safety, labeling, storage, record-keeping and marketing
of such products. The lengthy process of seeking required approvals and the continuing need for
compliance with applicable statutes and regulations, require the expenditure of substantial resources.
Regulatory approval, when and if obtained, may be limited in scope which may significantly limit the
indicated uses for which a product may be marketed. Further, approved drugs, as well as their
manufacturers, are subject to ongoing review and discovery of previously unknown problems with such
products, which may result in restrictions on their manufacture, sale or use or in their withdrawal from the
market.

The process for new drug approval has many steps, including:

Drug discovery. In the initial stages of drug discovery, large numbers of potential compounds are
screened for activity. This drug discovery process can take several years. Once a company defines a lead
compound, the next steps are to conduct further preliminary studies on the mechanism of action, further in
vitro (test tube) screening against particular disease targets and finally, some in vivo (animal) screening. If
the compound passes these hurdles, animal toxicology studies are initiated. If the results demonstrate
acceptable levels of toxicity, the compound emerges from the basic research mode and moves into the pre-
clinical phase.

Pre-clinical testing. During the pre-clinical testing stage, laboratory and animal studies are conducted
to show biological activity of the compound against the targeted disease, and the compound is evaluated
for safety. These tests can take several years to complete, and must be conducted in compliance with Good
Laboratory Practice (“GLP”) regulations.

Investigational new drug application. 'When appropriate animal testing is evaluated and found to have
an acceptable safety profile, the Company may decide to expand the development programs to a clinical
setting. To accomplish this in the U.S. an IND, sometimes called a “clinical trial application,” is submitted
to the FDA to begin human testing of the drug. Health Authorities in Europe require similar applications
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to initiate human testing in countries governed by EU regulations. The IND submitted in the U.S. includes
the known chemistry of the compound, how the compound is manufactured, the results of animal studies
and other previous experiments, the method by which it is believed to work in the human body, a proposed
clinical development plan and how, where and by whom the proposed new clinical studies will be
conducted. Al clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with good clinical practices (“GCPs”). This
means that the Company has specific obligations to monitor the study, collect the data and report it at least
annually to the FDA.

Independent of the Company, clinical study sites are reviewed by independent Institutional Review
Boards (“IRB”) at the hospital or clinic where the proposed studies will be conducted. The IRB reviews
and approves the proposed protocol. It also has a responsibility to assess patient safety.

The Company has an obligation to provide progress reports on clinical trials at least annually to the
FDA. The FDA may, at any time during a clinical trial, impose a “clinical hold” if they have serious safety
concerns about a trial. If this occurs, the clinical trial cannot continue until the FDA is satisfied that it is
appropriate to proceed.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap.

Phase I clinical rials.  After an IND becomes effective, Phase I human clinical trials can begin. These
trials generally involve 20 to 80 healthy volunteers or patients and typically take approximately one year to
complete. These trials are designed to evaluate a drug’s safety profile and may include studies to assess the
optimal safe dosage range. Phase I clinical studies may evaluate how a drug is absorbed, distributed,
metabolized and excreted by the body, as well as the duration of its action.

Phase II clinical trials. In Phase II clinical trials, studies are conducted in patients who have the
targeted disease. The primary purpose of these trials is to evaluate the safety of the drug in the target
patient population but often preliminary efficacy data is also obtained. These studies typically take a few
years to complete and sometimes are conducted concurrently with Phase I clinical trials. For anti-cancer
drugs, the first human studies are referred to as Phase I/I1 studies because they evaluate safety and
preliminary efficacy directly in the target patient population. This is done because most anti-cancer drugs
are very toxic and cannot be administered to healthy volunteers, as is typical in Phase I studies.

Phase [ clinical rrials. The trials are typically large, involving several hundred or even thousands of
patients. Phase III trials typically compare an investigational agent against a product that is already
approved for use in that disease. During these trials, physicians record observations as defined in the
sponsor’s protocol onto Case Report forms. The data generated in these studies are monitored regularly by
company clinical monitors as well as the participating physician. There are specific requirements for the
physician to report any adverse reactions that may result from the use of the drug. Company clinical
monitors visit the sites regularly and transmit the data back to the company for analysis and ultimately for
presentation to the FDA.

Marketing application. Companies have the opportunity to interact with health authorities in the US
and EU during the course of a drug development program. Most companies take advantage of this access
to gain further insights about the kinds of data that will be expected in their marketing application. After
completion of the clinical trial phase, a company must compile all of the chemistry, manufacturing,
preclinical and clinical data into a marketing application. In the United States, this is called an NDA; in
the EU it is called a MAA. This is a significant amount of information, often in excess of 100,000 pages,
and it will be reviewed by these health authorities.

Both the FDA and the EMEA review these submissions for overall content and completeness before
accepting them for review and may request additional information. Once an application is accepted for
filing, each agency independently begins its in-depth review. In both the United States and Europe, there
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are specified timeframes for the completion of review. This process may be extended if an agency requests
additional information or clarification regarding the data provided in the submission.

In the United States, the FDA may refer the application to an appropriate advisory committee for a
recommendation as to whether the application should be approved, but the FDA is not bound by this
recommendation. If FDA evaluations of the NDA and the manufacturing facilities are favorable, the FDA
may issue either an approval letter or an approvable letter. The latter typically contains a number of
conditions that must be met in order to secure final approval. When and if those conditions are met to the
FDA'’s satisfaction, the FDA will issue an approval letter, authorizing commercial marketing of the drug
for specific indications. If the FDA'’s evaluation of the NDA submission or manufacturing facilities is not
favorable, the FDA may refuse to approve the NDA or issue a non-approvable letter. The review and
approval process in Europe has substantial similarities to that outlined for the United States.

Marketing approval. 'When a health authority grants marketing approval to a drug, it can now be
made available for physicians in that country or region to prescribe for their patients. Periodic safety
reports must be submitted to health authorities as they monitor the use of new drugs introduced to the
market. Regulatory agencies around the world place great emphasis on pharmacovigilance, a term that
describes the need to monitor the safety of a drug when it is released for general use, as this is very
different than when it was studied in well controlled clinical trials.

Phase IV clinical trials and post marketing studies. In addition to studies that might have been
requested by health authorities as a condition of approval, clinical trials may be conducted to generate
more information about the drug, including new dosage forms, new dosage regimens, etc. These studies
may generate publications that provide further information to patients and the medical community.

Fast Track. The FDA Modernization Act of 1997 specifies that the FDA can assign a fast track
designation to a new drug or biologic product that is intended for the treatment of a serious or life-
threatening condition and has the potential to address unmet medical needs for such a condition. Under
this program, the sponsor may request this designation at any time during the development of the product.
The FDA must determine whether the product qualifies within 60 days of receipt of the sponsor’s request.
For a product designated as fast track, the FDA has the ability to define a faster review, including allowing
the sponsor to provide the NDA in discrete sections. This process is called a “rolling” review or NDA.

SuperGen obtained fast track designation for Orathecin for the treatment of patients with locally
advanced or metastatic pancreatic cancer, and for Dacogen for the treatment of patients with MDS, and
intends to seek such designation for other appropriate products. We cannot predict the ultimate impact, if
any, of the fast track process on the timing or likelihood of FDA approval of any of our potential products.

Approvals in European Union. In 1993, the EU established a system for the registration of medicinal
products in the EU whereby marketing authorization may be submitted at either a centralized or
decentralized level. The centralized procedure is administered by the EMEA. This procedure is mandatory
for the approval of biotechnology products and is available at the applicant’s option for other innovative
products. The centralized procedure provides for the granting of a single marketing authorization that is
valid in all EU member states. A mutual recognition procedure is available at the request of the applicant
for all medicinal products that are not subject to the mandatory centralized procedure, under a
decentralized procedure.

SuperGen has applied, through our European subsidiary EuroGen, for regulatory approval to market
mitomycin and paclitaxel in the United Kingdom and in certain other countries within the EU.

Approvals outside of the United States and EU.  Steps similar to those in the United States must be
undertaken in most other countries comprising the market for our products before any such product can
be commercialized in those countries. The approval procedure and the time required for approval vary
from country to country and may involve additional testing and cost. There can be no assurance that
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approvals will be granted on a timely basis or at all. In addition, pricing approval is required in many
countries and there can be no assurance that the resulting prices would be sufficient to generate an
acceptable return on investment.

Off-Label Use. Physicians may prescribe drugs for uses that are not described in the product’s
labeling. Such “off-label” uses are common across medical specialties and may constitute the best
treatment for many patients in varied circumstances. The FDA does not regulate the behavior of
physicians in their choice of treatments but it does limit a manufacturer’s communications on the subject of
off-label use. Companies cannot actively promote FDA approved drugs for off-label uses.

Generic drug development

For certain drugs that are generic versions of previously approved products, there is an abbreviated
FDA approval process. A sponsor may submit an ANDA for:

e a drug product that is the “same” as the drug product listed in the approved drug product list
(“listed drug”) published by the FDA with respect to active ingredient(s), route of administration,
dosage form, strength and conditions of use recommended in the labeling;

e a drug product that differs with regard to certain changes from a listed drug if the FDA has
approved a petition from a prospective applicant permitting the submission of an ANDA for the
changed product; and

e adrug that is a duplicate of, or meets the monograph for, an approved antibiotic drug.

An ANDA needs to include manufacturing information but does not contain the clinical and pre-
clinical data supporting the safety and effectiveness of the product. The applicant must instead
demonstrate that the product is bioequivalent to the listed drug. FDA regulations define bioequivalence as
the absence of a significant difference in the rate and the extent to which the active ingredient moiety is
absorbed when administered at the same molar dose under similar conditions in an appropriately designed
study. If the approved generic drug is both bioequivalent and pharmaceutically equivalent to the listed
drug, the agency may assign a code to the product in an FDA publication that will represent a
determination by the agency that the product is therapeutically equivalent to the listed drug. This
designation will be considered by third parties in determining whether the generic drug will be utilized as
an alternative to the listed drug.

Other Government Regulations

In addition to laws and regulations enforced by the FDA, we are also subject to regulation by other
agencies under the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic
Substances Control Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and other present and potential
future federal, state or local laws and regulations. These agencies have specialized responsibilities to
monitor the controlled use of hazardous materials such as chemicals, viruses and various radioactive
compounds.

Market Exclusivity

The commercial success of a product, once it is approved for marketing, will primarily depend on a
company’s ability to create and sustain market share and exclusivity. Market exclusivity can be created and
maintained by a number of methods, including, but not limited to: patents, trade secrets, know-how,
trademarks, branding and a variety of market exclusivity provisions. One such provision offers marketing
exclusivity to drugs developed for the treatment of rare diseases.
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Orphan Drug Designation

The United States, EU, Japan and Australia have all enacted “orphan drug” or rare disease programs
for drugs intended to treat rare diseases. Orphan drug designation must be requested before submitting an
application for marketing approval. After the granting of an orphan drug designation, the chemical identity
of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly. If and when a product with
orphan drug status receives marketing approval for the orphan indication, the product is entitled to
marketing exclusivity, which means the regulatory authority may not approve any other applications to
market the same drug for the same indication for seven years in the United States, ten years in Europe and
Japan and four years in Australia.

Orathecin has received orphan drug designation from the FDA and the EMEA for treatment of
patients with refractory pancreatic cancer. Dacogen also received orphan drug designation from the FDA
and EMEA for treatment of patients with MDS and sickle cell anemia.

Patents and Proprietary Technology

Patents are very important to us in establishing proprietary rights to the products we develop or
license. The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including us, can be
uncertain and involve complex legal, scientific, and factual questions. See “Risk Factors—Our ability to
protect our intellectual property rights will be critically important to the success of our business, and we may not
be able to protect these rights in the United States or abroad.”

We actively pursue a policy of seeking patent protection when applicable for our proprietary products
and technologies, whether they are developed in-house or acquired from third parties. We attempt to
protect our intellectual property position by filing United States and foreign patent applications related to
our proprietary technology, inventions and improvements that are important to the development of our
business. To date, we have acquired licenses to or assignments of over 50 United States patents covering
various aspects of our proprietary drugs and technologies, including 37 patents for various aspects of
Orathecin and related products, six patents under our Nipent product portfolio (although none covers the
use of Nipent in an intravenous injectable formulation for the treatment of hairy cell leukemia), seven
patents for our paclitaxel related products, three patents for Dacogen related products used in
combination with an anti-neoplastic agent for the treatment of cancer, and two patents for our Surface
Safe products. We have been granted patents and have received patent licenses relating to our proprietary
formulation technology, non-oncology and Partaject technologies, among which at least five patents are
issued or licensed to us. In addition, we are prosecuting a number of patent applications for drug
candidates that we are not actively developing at this time.

There can be no assurance that the patents granted or licensed to us will afford adequate legal
protection against competitors or provide significant proprietary protection or competitive advantage. The
patents granted or licensed to us could be held invalid or unenforceable by a court, or infringed or
circumvented by others. In addition, third parties could also obtain patents that we would need to license
or circumvent. Competitors or potential competitors may have filed patent applications or received
patents, and may obtain additional patents and proprietary rights relating to proteins, small molecules,
compounds, or processes that are competitive with the products we are developing.

In general, we obtain licenses from various parties that we deem to be necessary or desirable for the
development, manufacture, use, or sale of our products or product candidates. Some of our proprietary
products are dependent upon compliance with numerous licenses and agreements. These licenses and
agreements may require us to make royalty and other payments, to reasonably exploit the underlying
technology of applicable patents, and to comply with regulatory filings. If we fail to comply with these and
other terms in these licenses and agreements, we could lose the underlying rights to one or more of these
potential products, which would adversely affect our product development and harm our business.
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We also have patents or licenses to patents issued outside of the United States, including Europe,
Australia, Japan, Canada, Mexico and New Zealand. In addition, we have patent applications pending in
these regions and countries as well as in China, Hungary and Israel. Limitations on patent protection in
these countries, and the differences in what constitutes patentable subject matter in these countries outside
the United States, may limit the protection we have on patents issued or licensed to us outside the United
States. In addition, laws of foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property to the same extent as
would laws in the United States. To minimize our costs and expenses and maintain effective protection, we
focus our foreign patent and licensing activities primarily in the EU, Canada and Japan. In determining
whether or not to seek a patent or to license any patent in a certain foreign country, we weigh the relevant
costs and benefits, and consider, among other things, the market potential and profitability, the scope of
patent protection afforded by the law of the jurisdiction and its enforceability, and the nature of terms with
any potential licensees. Failure to obtain adequate patent protection for our proprietary drugs and
technology would impair our ability to be commercially competitive in these markets.

Trade Secrets and Trademarks

We also rely on trade secret protection for certain proprietary technology. To protect our trade
secrets, we pursue a policy of having our employees and consultants execute proprietary information
agreements upon commencement of employment or consulting relationships with us. These agreements
provide that all confidential information developed or made known to the individual during the course of
the relationship is confidential except in specified circumstances.

Registrations and applications for registration of our trademarks and service marks are as follows:

e Nipent (registered in Argentina, Austria, Australia, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Brazil, Benelux, Canada,
Chile, Costa Rica, Czech Republic, Germany, Ecuador, El Salvador, Estonia, France, Great Britain,
Georgia, Greece, Guatemala, Hong Kong, Honduras, Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Lithuania,
Latvia, Nicaragua, Norway, New Zealand, Mexico, Panama, Poland, Portugal, Paraguay, Romania,
Slovak Republic, South Africa, South Korea, Serbia-Montenegro, Switzerland, Taiwan, Ukraine,
the United States and Uruguay);

o SuperGen is registered in Australia, the EU, Hong Kong, Japan, South Korea, Taiwan and the
United States for use in pharmaceutical sales, and is the subject of pending applications for those
goods in Brazil, Canada and Vietnam, as well as for manufacturing services in the United States;

e Orathecin is registered in Australia and the EU; pending applications in Canada, Japan and the
United States;

¢ Dacogen is registered in Australia, the EU, and Japan; pending applications in Canada, Iceland,
Mexico, Norway, Switzerland, Turkey, and the United States;

¢ Mitozytrex is registered in Japan and the EU; pending applications in Canada and the United
States;

» Partaject is registered in the EU; pending applications in Canada and the United States;
o Surface Safe is registered in the EU and United States; pending applications in Canada;

» EuroGen is registered in Australia, the EU, Hong Kong, and Japan; pending applications in
Canada, and the United States;

¢ “Green bubbles” logo is registered in Canada, the EU, and the United States.
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Competition

The pharmaceutical industry in general and oncology sector in particular is highly competitive and
subject to significant and rapid technological change. There are many companies, both public and private,
including well-known pharmaceutical companies that are engaged in the development and sale of
pharmaceutical products for some of the applications that we are pursuing. Our competitors and probable
competitors include Aventis AG, Berlex Laboratories, Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Celgene, Eli
Lilly & Co., Glaxo Smithkline, Novartis AG, Pfizer, Pharmion Corp., and others.

Many of our competitors and research institutions are addressing the same diseases and disease
indications and working on products to treat such diseases as we are, and have substantially greater
financial, research and development, manufacturing and marketing experience and resources than we do
and represent substantial long-term competition for us. Some of our competitors have received regulatory
approval for products or are developing or testing product candidates that compete directly with our
product candidates. For example, while we received orphan drug status for Orathecin and there is
currently no competitor in the oral delivery market for the treatment of pancreatic cancer, there are
approved drugs for the treatment of pancreatic cancer, including gemcitabine by Eli Lilly. In addition,
Berlex Laboratories’ fludarabine competes with Nipent in the leukemia market and Dacogen faces
competition from Pharmion’s Vidaza.

In addition, many of these competitors, either alone or together with their customers, have
significantly greater experience than we do in developing products, undertaking pre-clinical testing and
clinical trials, obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals, and manufacturing and marketing products.
Accordingly, our competitors may succeed in obtaining patent protection, receiving FDA approval or
commercializing products before we do. If we commence commercial product sales of our product
candidates, we will be competing against companies with greater marketing and manufacturing
capabilities, areas in which we have limited or no experience. See “Risk Factors—If we fail to compete
effectively against other pharmaceutical companies, our business will suffer.”

Factors affecting competition in the pharmaceutical industry vary depending on the extent to which
the competitor is able to achieve a competitive advantage based on proprietary technology. If we are able
to establish and maintain a significant proprietary position with respect to our proprietary products,
competition will likely depend primarily on the effectiveness of the product and the number, gravity and
severity of its unwanted side effects as compared to alternative products.

Extensive research and development efforts and rapid technological progress characterize the industry
in which we compete. Although we believe that our proprietary position may give us a competitive
advantage with respect to our key oncology drug candidates, we expect competition over development of
new products to continue. Discoveries by others may render our current and potential products
noncompetitive. Qur competitive position also depends on our ability to attract and retain qualified
scientific and other personnel, develop effective proprietary products, implement development and
marketing plans, obtain patent protection and secure adequate capital resources.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had 83 full-time employees. We use consultants and temporary
employees to complement our staffing. Our employees are not subject to any collective bargaining
agreements, and we consider our relations with employees to be good.

Geographic Area Financial Information

We operate in one business segment—human therapeutics. In 2005, 94% of our sales were made in
the United States and 6% were made in the EU. In 2004, 89% of our sales were made in the United States
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and 11% were made in the EU. In 2003, 97% of our sales were made in the United States and 3% in the
EU.

Available Information

We are subject to the information requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”). Therefore, we file periodic reports, proxy statements, and other information with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Such reports, proxy statements, and other information may
be obtained by visiting the Public Reference Room of the SEC at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC
20549 or by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains a website (www.sec.gov)
that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically.

Financial and other information about us is available on our website at www.supergen.com. We make
available on our website, free of charge, copies of our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such material
electronically or otherwise furnishing it to the SEC. Information on our website does not constitute a part
of this annual report on Form 10-X.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following section lists some, but not all, of the risks and uncertainties that may have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. You should carefully consider these risks in
evaluating our company and business. Our business operations may be impaired if any of the following risks
actually occur, and by additional risks and uncertainties that we do not know of or that we currently consider
immaterial. In such case, the trading price of our common stock could decline.

This report also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors,
including the risks described below and elsewhere in this report.

Risks Related to Dacogen, Orathecin and Nipent

If we do not receive regulatory approval for Dacogen, our future revenues may be limited and our business
would be harmed.

Our NDA submission for Dacogen was accepted for filing by the FDA on December 31, 2004. On
September 1, 2005, we received an Approvable Letter for Dacogen from the FDA, which provides that
Dacogen is approvable pending the FDA'’s review of a requested analysis of the transfusion requirements
of patients enrolled in the completed Phase III trial, submission of certain other information, and
completion of labeling discussions. We completed the collection and analysis of the data requested by the
FDA and submitted our response to the Approvable Letter on November 15, 2005. On December 15,
2005, the FDA accepted our resubmission as a complete response to the Approvable Letter. The
resubmission has been classified by the FDA as a Class 2 response, and the FDA established a user fee
goal date to review the response by May 15, 2006. We believe this response confirms the clinical benefit of
Dacogen compared to supportive care with regard to overall response rate, duration of response, and
transfusion independence in patients with MDS.

Our European subsidiary, EuroGen Pharmaceuticals 1td., submitted an MAA for Dacogen to the
EMEA, which submission was accepted for review on October 25, 2004, MGI and SuperGen determined
that additional clinical data will be required to continue the review of Dacogen in Europe. Therefore, we
have withdrawn the MAA for Dacogen. This revision in the European regulatory strategy for Dacogen
does not affect regulatory strategies being pursued in the U.S.
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MGTI and SuperGen will continue to work with European regulatory authorities to determine the
information required to support a resubmission of the application, and anticipate resubmitting the
application at a later date. MGI anticipates that next steps in the European regulatory strategy may be
finalized in collaboration with a partner.

If Dacogen is unsuccessful for any reason, including if the results of the Phase III study are deemed
insufficient from either a clinical or statistical basis by the FDA, our future revenues would be limited and
our business would be harmed. Additionally, we might be forced to substantially scale down our operations
or sell certain of our assets, and it is likely the price of our stock would decline precipitously.

In addition, pursuant to our license agreement with MGI, we are expecting to receive payments from
MGTI in connection with the achievement of certain commercialization milestones. If these
commercialization milestones are not met, we will not receive these payments and our financial condition
and business would be harmed.

Even if we receive regulatory approval of Dacogen for the treatment of patients with myelodysplastic syndromes,
Dacogen may not be commercially successful. _

If Dacogen receives regulatory approval in the United States or Europe, patients and physicians may
not readily accept it, which would result in lower than projected sales and substantial harm to our business
through the receipt of lower royalty revenue from MGI.

We are currently conducting clinical trials with Orathecin as a combination therapy. If these clinical trials do
not support regulatory approval, our business may be harmed.

In January 2005, we announced the withdrawal of our NDA for Orathecin based on feedback from the
FDA that the data package we submitted in support of the drug would not be sufficient to gain regulatory
approval. However, we are continuing to conduct clinical trials with Orathecin as a combination therapy
while we review and determine whether or not we will continue to pursue regulatory approval for
Orathecin. Clinical trials are expensive to conduct, time-consuming and have uncertain outcomes. We will
incur substantial expense while conducting these studies, and if we are unable to complete the studies, or if
the results of the studies do not support regulatory approval of Orathecin as a combination therapy, we will
incur significant operating losses and our business will be harmed.

Even if we receive regulatory approval of Orathecin as a combination therapy, Orathecin may not be
commercially successful.

If Orathecin receives regulatory approval in the United States as a combination therapy, patients and
physicians may not readily accept it, which would result in lower than projected sales and substantial harm
to our business. Acceptance will be a function of Orathecin being clinically useful and demonstrating
superior therapeutic effect with an acceptable side effect profile as compared to currently existing or future
treatments. In addition, even if Orathecin does achieve market acceptance, we may not be able to maintain
that market acceptance over time if new products are introduced that are more favorably received than
Orathecin or render Orathecin obsolete.

If we are unable to expand our clinical support for use of Nipent to treat additional diseases our revenues will
not expand as planned.

Part of our strategy involves expanding the market opportunities for our approved drugs, including
Nipent, by seeking clinical support of their use for treatment of patients with additional diseases. We are
currently marketing Nipent for the treatment of patients with hairy cell leukemia, and revenues from
selling Nipent has provided the majority of our annual product revenues over the past three years. We are
conducting a series of clinical trials with Nipent, including Phase IV trials for CLL, NHL, cutaneous and
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peripheral T-cell lymphomas and Phase II/III studies for GVHD. If our Nipent clinical trials are not
successful, we will not be able to increase our revenue from Nipent.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Common Stock

We have a history of operating losses and we expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future.

Since inception, we have funded our research and development activities primarily from private
placements and public offerings of our securities, milestone payments and revenues generated primarily
from sales of Nipent, which is marketed in the United States for the treatment of patients with hairy cell
leukemia. Our substantial research and development expenditures and limited revenues have resulted in
significant net losses. We have incurred cumulative losses of $348.0 million from inception through
December 31, 2005, and our products have not generated sufficient revenues to support our business
during that time. We expect to continue to incur substantial operating losses at least through 2007 and may
never achieve profitability.

Whether we achieve profitability depends primarily on the following factors:

e our ability to obtain regulatory approval for Dacogen and the successful commercialization of
Dacogen by MGI;

¢ our ability to develop and obtain regulatory approval of Nipent for indications other than hairy cell
leukemia;

¢ our ability to bring to market other proprietary products that are advancing through our internal
clinical development infrastructure;

¢ our ability to successfully expand our product pipeline through in-licensing and product acquisition;
¢ our ability to successfully market Nipent in Europe as planned;

¢ our research and development efforts, including the timing and costs of clinical trials;

¢ our competition’s ability to develop and bring to market competing products;

» our ability to control costs and expenses associated with manufacturing, distributing and selling our
products, as well as general and administrative costs related to conducting our business;

¢ costs and expenses associated with entering into licensing and other collaborative agreements; and

e delays in production or inadequate commercial sales of Dacogen, Orathecin and other products,
once regulatory approvals have been received.

Our products and product candidates, even if successfully developed and approved, may not generate
sufficient or sustainable revenues to enable us to achieve or sustain profitability.
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We will require additional funding to expand our product pipeline, strengthen our commercialization efforts and
expand our European operations, and if we are unable to raise the necessary capital or to do so on acceptable
terms, our planned expansion and continued chances of survival could be harmed.

We will continue to spend substantial resources on expanding our product pipeline, strengthening our
commercialization efforts for our existing products, developing new avenues of revenue for Nipent,
scaling-up of European operations to market, selling and distributing our existing and future products, and
conducting research and development, including clinical trials for other products and product candidates.
We anticipate that our capital resources will be adequate to fund operations and capital expenditures
through 2006. However, if we experience unanticipated cash requirements during this period, we could
require additional funds much sooner. We may raise money by the sale of our equity securities or debt, or
the exercise of outstanding warrants and stock options by the holders of such warrants and options.
However, given uncertain market conditions and the volatility of our stock price, we may not be able to sell
our securities in public offerings or private placements at prices and/or on terms that are favorable to us, if
at all. Also, the dilutive effect of additional financings could adversely affect our per share results. We may
also choose to obtain funding through licensing and other contractual agreements. For example, we
recently licensed the worldwide rights to the development, commercialization and distribution of Dacogen
to MGI. Such arrangements may require us to relinquish our rights to our technologies, products or
marketing territories, or to grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If we fail to obtain
adequate funding in a timely manner, or at all, we will be forced to scale back our product development
activities, or be forced to cease our operations.

Our collaborative relationship with MGI may not produce the financial benefits that we are anticipating, which
could cause our business to suffer.

In addition to raising money by selling our equity securities to MGI in connection with the license
agreement, we also expect to record development and license revenue from payments made to us by MGI
upon the achievement of regulatory and commercialization milestones. However, we may fail to achieve
these milestones, either because we are unable to secure regulatory approval of Dacogen or due to our
inability to expend the resources to commence sales of Dacogen as prescribed by the license agreement. In
addition, the license agreement contemplates that MGI will pay us (i) a certain portion of revenues
payable to MGI as a result of MGI sublicensing the rights to market, sell and/or distribute Dacogen, to the
extent such revenues are in excess of the milestone payments, and (ii) a 20% royalty increasing to a
maximum of 30% on annual worldwide net sales of Dacogen. We cannot guarantee that we will ever
receive these payments, as MGI may choose not to sublicense Dacogen at all, nor can we be assured that
MGI will expend the resources to sell Dacogen worldwide, or be successful in doing so.

Our equity investment in AVI exposes us to equity price risk and any impairment charge would affect our results
of operations.

We are exposed to equity price risk on our equity investment in AVI. Currently we own 2,684,211
shares of AVI. During the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded a write-down of $7.9 million
related to an other than temporary decline in the value of our equity investment in AVI, resulting in a
reduction of our cost basis in the AVI shares. Under our accounting policy, marketable equity securities
are presumed to be impaired if their fair value is less than their cost basis for more than six months, absent
compelling evidence to the contrary. As of June 30, 2004, the AVI shares had been trading below our
original cost basis for more than six months. Since there was no compelling evidence to the contrary, we
recorded the impairment charge of $7.9 million in our results of operations. The amount of the charge was
based on the difference between the market price of the shares as of June 30, 2004 and our adjusted cost
basis. The public trading prices of the AVI shares have fluctuated significantly since we purchased them
and could continue to do so. If the public trading prices of these shares continue to trade below their new
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cost basis in future periods, we may incur additional impairment charges relating to this investment, which
in turn will affect our results of operations,

In addition, in connection with the restructuring of our February Notes and the issuance of the
June Notes, we issued three-year warrants to the June Note holders exercisable into 2,634,211 of our AVI
shares at an exercise price of $5.00 per share, and we pledged the AVI shares to secure our obligation
under the June Notes. These warrants expire on December 31, 2006.

Product Development and Regulatory Risks

Before we can seek regulatory approval of any of our product candidates, we must complete clinical trials,
which are expensive and have uncertain outcomes. :

Most of our products are in the developmental stage and, prior to their sale, will require regulatory
approval and the commitment of substantial reésources. Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the
commercial sale of any of our product candidates, we must demonstrate through pre-clinical testing and
clinical trials that our product candidates are safe and effective for use in humans.

We have a portfolio of cancer drugs in various stages of development, including Nipent (for
indications other than hairy cell leukemia, Phase IV), Partaject busulfan (Phase I/IT), Orathecin capsules
as a combination therapy (Phase II), and we have been conducting pre-clinical studies for VEGF and
Cremophor-free paclitaxel. In addition, we expect to commence new clinical trials from time to time in the
course of our business as our product development work continues. Conducting clinical trials is a lengthy,
time consuming and expensive prccess and the results are inherently uncertain. We have incurred and will
continue to incur substantial expense for, and we have devoted and expect to continue to devote a
significant amount of time to, pre-clinical testing and clinical trials. However, regulatory authorities may
not permit us to undertake any additional clinical trials for our product candidates. If we are unable to
complete our clinical trials, our business will be severely harmed and the price of our stock will likely
decline.

We have ongoing research and pre-clinical projects that may lead to product candidates, but we have
not begun clinical trials for these projects. If we do not successfully complete our pre-clinical trials, we
could not commence clinical trials as planned.

Our clinical trials may be delayed or terminated, which would prevent us from seeking necessary regulatory
approvals.

Completion of clinical trials may take several years or more. The length of a clinical trial varies
substantially according to the type, complexity, novelty and intended use of the product candidate. For
example, our three Phase III Orathecin clinical trials lasted from 1998 through the end of 2003. The length
of time and complexity of these studies make statistical analysis difficult and regulatory approval
unpredictable. The commencement and rate of completion of our clinical trials may be delayed by many
factors, including: ‘

¢ ineffectiveness of the study compound, or perceptions by physicians that the compound is not
effective for a particular indication; :

» inability to manufacture sufficient quantities of compounds for use in clinical trials;
e inability to obtain FDA approval of our clinical trial protocols;

o slower than expected rate of patient recruitment;

* inability to adequately follow patients after treatment;

o difficulty in managing multiple clinical sites; - -
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¢ unforeseen safety issues;
o lack of efficacy demonstrated during the clinical trials; or
¢ government or regulatory delays.

If we are unable to achieve a satisfactory rate of completion of our clmlcal trials, our business will be
significantly harmed.

We may be required to suspend, repeat or terminate our clinical trials if they are not conducted in compliance
with regulatory requirements.

Our clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with the FDA'’s regulations and are subject to
continuous oversight by the FDA and institutional review boards at the medical institutions where the
clinical trials are conducted. We outsource certain aspects of our research and development activities to
contract research organizations (“CROs”). We have agreements with these CROs for certain of our
clinical programs. We and our CROs are required to comply with GCPs, regulations and guidelines
enforced by the FDA for all of our products in clinical development. The FDA enforces GCPs through
periodic inspections of study sponsors, principal investigators, and study sites. If our CROs or we fail to
comply with applicable GCPs, the clinical data generated in our studies may be deemed unreliable and the
FDA may require us to perform additional studies before approving our applications. In addition, our
clinical trials must be conducted with product candidates produced under current GMPs, and may require
a large number of test subjects. Our failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat
clinical studies, which would delay the regulatory approval process.

We may be required to suspend, repeat or terminate our clinical trials if later trial results fail to demonstrate
safety and efficacy, or if the results are negative, inconclusive or if they fail to demonstrate safety or efficacy.

Our clinical trials may be suspended at any time if we or the FDA believe the patients participating in
our studies are exposed to unacceptable health risks or if we or the FDA find deficiencies in the conduct of
these trials. Adverse medical events during a clinical trial could cause us to terminate or repeat a clinical
trial.

We may encounter other problems and failures in our studies that would cause us or the FDA to delay
or suspend the studies. Even if we achieve positive interim results in clinical trials, these results do not
necessarily predict final results, and acceptable results in early trials may not be repeated in later trials. A
number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical
trials, even after achieving promising results in earlier trials.

Negative or inconclusive results during a clinical trial could cause us to terminate or repeat a clinical
trial. The potential failures would delay development of our product candidates, hinder our ability to
conduct related pre-clinical testing and clinical trials and further delay the commencement of the
regulatory approval process. Further, the failures or perceived failures in our clinical trials would delay our
product development and the regulatory approval process, damage our business prospects, make it difficult
for us to establish collaboration and partnership relationships and negatively affect our reputation and
competitive position in the pharmaceutical industry. Finally, if we are required to conduct other clinical
trials for the product candidates, the additional trials would require substantial funding and time, and we
may be unable to obtain funding to conduct such clinical trials.

Our failure to obtain regulatory approvals to market our product candidates in foreign countries would
adversely affect our anticipated revenues.

Sales of our products in foreign jurisdictions will be subject to separate regulatory requirements and
marketing approvals. Approval in the United States, or in any one foreign jurisdiction, does not ensure
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approval in any other jurisdiction. The process of obtaining foreign approvals may result in significant
delays, difficulties and expenses for us, and may require additional clinical trials. We have applied through
our subsidiary EuroGen for regulatory approval to market mitomycin and paclitaxel in the United
Kingdom and in other countries within the European Union. Although many of the regulations applicable
to our products in these foreign countries are similar to those promulgated by the FDA, many of these
requirements also vary widely from country to country, which could delay the introduction of our products
in those countries. Failure to comply with these regulatory requirements or to obtain required approvals
would impair our ability to commercialize our products in foreign markets.

Nipent is currently sold in Europe, and in early 2004 we acquired the rights to market Nipent there
directly. We plan to directly commercialize and market Nipent in Europe during 2006. However, our
revenue from sales of Nipent in Europe is currently less than 10% of our total sales, and there is no
guarantee that our marketing efforts will result in significantly increased revenues. Our strategy is to obtain
regulatory approvals to sell our products in Europe and elsewhere, and we intend to contract with
third-party licensees or distributors for sales outside the United States. Delays in obtaining regulatory
approval from foreign jurisdictions will impair the commercialization of our products and would delay
anticipated revenues. '

Even if we obtain regulatory approval, we will continue to be subject to extensive government regulation that
may cause us to delay the introduction of our products or withdraw our products from the market.

Even if regulatory approval of our products is obtained, later discovery of previously unknown
problems may result in restrictions of a product, including withdrawal of that product from the market.
Further, governmental approval may subject us to ongoing requirements for post-marketing studies. For
example, despite receipt of governmental approval, the facilities of our third-party manufacturers are still
subject to unannounced inspections by the FDA and must continue to comply with GMPs and other
regulations. These regulations govern all areas of production, record keeping, personnel and quality
control. In the past, our third-party manufacturers have experienced delayed FDA approval, which
adversely affected our ability to supply Nipent in 2002. If we or our third-party manufacturers fail to
comply with any of the manufacturing regulations, we may be subject to, among other things, product
seizures, recalls, fines, injunctions, suspensions or revocations of marketing licenses, operating restrictions
and criminal prosecution.

Physicians may prescribe drugs for uses that are not described in a product’s labeling that differ from
those tested by us and approved by the FDA. While such “off-label” uses are common and the FDA does
not regulate physicians’ choice of treatments, the FDA does restrict a manufacturer’s communications on
the subject of off-label use. Companies cannot actively promote FDA-approved drugs for off-label uses,
but they may disseminate to physicians articles published in peer-reviewed journals. To the extent allowed
by law, we intend to disseminate peer-reviewed articles on our products to our physician customers. If,
however, our promotional activities fail to comply with the FDA’s regulations or guidelines, we may be
subject to enforcement action by the FDA. For example, in June 2005 we received a Warning Letter from
the FDA regarding certain promotional materials we disseminated for Nipent. The FDA asserted that
these materials were false or misleading because they failed to present any risk information, contained an
unsubstantiated claim regarding the mechanism of action, and overstated the safety and efficacy of the
drug. In response, we recalled these materials from the field and commenced modifying our internal
procedures to ensure that future Nipent marketing materials and promotional activities meet regulatory
requirements. We will also be sending a corrective communication to physicians who received the violative
Nipent materials. The FDA has accepted our remedial actions, nonetheless, any further Warning Letters
or enforcement actions by the FDA could harm our reputation in the market, result in significant fines or
have other affects that could harm our business.
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The continuing efforts of government and third-party payers to contain or reduce the costs of healthcare may
adversely affect our revenues.

Sales of our products depend in part upon the availability of reimbursement from third-party payers,
such as health administration authorities like Medicare/Medicaid, managed care providers and private
health insurers. Third-party payers are increasingly challenging the price and examining the cost
effectiveness of medical products and services, which may effectively limit physicians’ ability to select
products and procedures.

In addition, significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved healthcare
products. For example, currently Medicare does not reimburse self-administered products, which could
cover some of our product candidates. Adequate third-party reimbursement may not be available to enable
us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on our investment in a particular
product. In addition, we believe government agencies will continue to propose and pass legislation
designed to reduce the cost of healthcare, which could further limit reimbursement for pharmaceuticals,
and we anticipate that there will continue to be proposals in the United States to implement government
control over the pricing or profitability of prescription pharmaceuticals, as is currently the case in many
foreign markets. If our current and proposed products are not considered cost-effective, reimbursement to
the consumer may not be available or be sufficient to allow us to sell products on a competitive basis. The
failure of the government and third-party payers to provide adequate coverage and reimbursement rates
for our product candidates could adversely affect the market acceptance of our products, our competitive
position and our financial performance.

If we are unable to comply with environmental laws and regulations, our business may be harmed.

We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture,
storage, handling and disposal of hazardous materials and waste products. We currently maintain a supply
of biohazardous materials at our facilities. We believe our safety procedures for these materials comply
with all applicable environmental laws and regulations, and we carry insurance coverage we believe is
adequate for the size of our business. However, we cannot entirely eliminate the risk of accidental
contamination or injury from these materials. If an accident or environmental discharge occurs, we could
be held liable for any resulting damages, which could exceed our insurance coverage and financial
IeSOUICES.

We currently outsource certain of our research and development programs involving the controlled
use of bichazardous materials. We believe our collaborators have in place safety procedures for these
materials that comply with governmental standards. Nevertheless, if an accident does occur, our research
and product development will be negatively affected.

Additional Risks Associated with Our Business

We recently announced our intent to acquire Montigen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. This transaction could disrupt our
business and harm our financial condition if we are not able to successfully close the acquisition or successfully
integrate Montigen's business and technology into ours, and if we do close the acquisition, the expected benefits
of the combination may not materialize.

We recently entered into an agreement to acquire Montigen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for cash and shares
of our common stock valued at approximately $40.0 million, including $22.0 million contingent upon the
achievement of specific regulatory milestones. We have, and will continue to, expend significant efforts on
closing this transaction. Such efforts are costly from both a personnel and financial perspective, distract key
personnel from their ordinary responsibilities, and may or may not ultimately result in the consummation
of the acquisition. The closing of the transaction is subject to numerous variables, some of which are
beyond our control. There can be no assurance that we will be able to close the Montigen acquisition, and
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failure to do so may negatively affect our financial results, employee and investor confidence, and
ultimately our stock price.

The Montigen acquisition involves numerous risks, including problems combining the purchased
operations or technologies, unanticipated costs and diversion of management’s attention from our core
business. In addition, we may have to restructure aspects of our business in order to achieve anticipated
synergies. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate Montigen and its
technology and personnel into our business. The failure to effectively manage the acquisition and
integration of Montigen could disrupt our business and harm our financial results. Further, if
consummated, the transaction will dilute our existing stockholders’ percentage ownership and decrease our
cash position.

If the third-party manufacturers upon whom we rely fail to produce our products in the volumes that we require
on a timely basis, or fail to comply with stringent regulations applicable to pharmaceutical drug manufacturers,
we may face delays in the delivery of, or be unable to meet demand for, our products.

Because we have no manufacturing facilities, we rely on third parties for manufacturing activities
related to all of our products. As we develop new products and increase sales of our existing products, we
must establish and maintain relationships with manufacturers to produce and package sufficient supplies of
our finished pharmaceutical products, including Nipent. Reliance on third party manufacturing presents
the following risks:

e delays in scale-up to quantities needed for multiple clinical trials, or failure to (a) manufacture such
quantities to our specifications or (b) deliver such quantities on the dates we require, which could
cause delay or suspension of clinical trials, regulatory submissions and commercialization of our
products;

¢ inability to fulfill our commercial needs if market demand for our products increases suddenly,
which would require us to seek new manufacturing arrangements and may result in substantial
delays in meeting market demand;

» potential relinquishment or sharing of intellectual property rights to any improvements in the
manufacturing processes or new manufacturing processes for our products; and

¢ unannounced ongoing inspections by the FDA and corresponding state agencies for compliance
with GMPs, regulations and foreign standards, and failure to comply with any of these regulations
and standards may subject us to, among other things, product seizures, recalls, fines, injunctions,
suspensions or revocaticns of marketing licenses, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.

Any of these factors could delay clinical trials or commercialization of our product candidates under
development, interfere with current sales and entail higher costs. For example, a failed production batch of
Nipent in the second quarter of 2003 affected our ability to supply Nipent and adversely affected our sales.

Currently we store the majority of the unpurified, bulk form of Nipent at the manufacturer’s location.
Improper storage, fire, natural disaster, theft or other conditions at this location may lead to the loss or
destruction of the bulk concentrate. Even if the manufacturer’s and our insurance coverage is adequate,
such event would inevitably cause delays in distribution and sales of our products and harm our operating
results. ‘

Qur business may be harmed if the manufacture of our products is interrupted or discontinued.

We may be unable to maintain our relationships with our third-party manufacturers. If we need to
replace or seek new manufacturing arrangements, we may have difficulty locating and entering into
arrangements with qualified contract manufacturers on acceptable terms, if at all. We are aware of only a
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limited number of companies on a worldwide basis who operate manufacturing facilities in which our
products can be manufactured to our specifications and in compliance with GMPs. It could take several
months, or significantly longer, for a new contract manufacturing facility to obtain FDA approval and to
develop substantially equivalent processes for the production of our products. We may not be able to
contract with any of these companies on acceptable terms, if at all. For example, the company that had
been purifying Nipent filed for reorganization under Chapter 11 and ceased operations in late 2004. We
have contracted with another manufacturer for the purification of Nipent. If the new manufacturer is not
qualified by the FDA or if the new manufacturer should go out of business, we may not have adequate
inventory levels to sustain our business while we identify and contract with another manufacturer for the
purification of Nipent.

If our suppliers cannot provide the components we require, our product sales and revenue could be harmed.

We rely on third-party suppliers to provide us with numerous components used in our products under
development, including Orathecin. Relying on third-party suppliers makes us vulnerable to component
failures and interruptions in supply, either of which could impair our ability to conduct clinical trials or to
ship our products to our customers on a timely basis. Using third-party suppliers makes it difficult and
sometimes impossible for us to maintain quality control, manage inventory and production schedules and
control production costs. Vendor lead times to supply us with ordered components vary significantly and
can exceed six months or more. Both now and as we expand our need for manufacturing capacity, we
cannot be sure that our suppliers will furnish us with required components when we need them. These
factors could make it difficult for us to effectively and efficiently manufacture our products, and could
adversely impact our clinical trials, product development and sales of our products.

Some suppliers are our only source for a particular component, which makes us vulnerable to cost
increases and supply interruptions. We generally rely on one manufacturer for each product. We rely on
one manufacturer for Nipent, a sole source supplier for the processing of pentostatin, which is used in the
manufacturing of Nipent, and a sole source supplier for the ingredient used in the purification of
pentostatin. We also rely on sole source suppliers for mitomycin products and Surface Safe.

Vendors may decide to limit or eliminate sales of certain products to the medical industry due to
product liability or other concerns. For example, one component used in the purification of pentostatin is
no longer commercially available. In the event one of our sole source suppliers decides not to manufacture
the component, goes out of business, or decides to cut off our supply, we may be unable to locate
replacement supply sources, or the sources that we may locate may not provide us with similar reliability or
pricing and our business could suffer. If we cannot obtain a necessary component, we may need to find, test
and obtain regulatory approval for a replacement component, produce the component or redesign the
related product, which would cause significant delay and could increase our manufacturing costs. Any of
these events could adversely impact our sales and results of operations.

We have limited sales and marketing capabilities and may not be able to successfully commercialize our
products. ' ‘

We currently have limited sales and marketing resources. Although we have 34 sales, marketing and
sales support personnel focusing on the sale of our products to hospitals and hospital buying groups, we
must expand our sales and marketing organization to support commercialization of our new products.
Building up our sales capabilities will require significant expenditures. We may not succeed in expanding
and enhancing our sales and marketing capabilities or have sufficient resources to do so. If we do develop
such capabilities, we will compete with other companies that have experienced and well-funded sales and
marketing operations. We may not be able to upgrade our in-house sales expertise which may limit our
ability to gain market acceptance for our products worldwide and generate revenues. If we fail to establish
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successful sales and marketing capabilities, we will not be able to market or sell our products effectively
and our business, financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

We intend to enter into strategic partnerships for the commercialization of our products outside of
the United States. However, we may not be able to negotiate acceptable arrangements with partners, if at
all. Moreover, such arrangements may involve sharing of profits from sales, requirements to relinquish
certain of our rights to our products or marketing territories and impositions of other limitations on our
operations.

If we are not able to maintain and successfully establish new collaborative and licensing arrangements with
third parties, our product development and business will be harmed.

Our business model is based on establishing collaborative relationships with other parties both to
license compounds upon which our products and technologies are based and to manufacture our products
or our collaborators’ products. It is critical that we gain access to compounds and technologies to license
for further development. For example, we licensed the exclusive worldwide royalty-bearing rights to
Orathecin from The Stehlin Foundation for Research. Due to the expense of the drug approval process we
must have relationships with established pharmaceutical companies to offset some of our development
costs in exchange for a combination of development, marketing and distribution rights.

From time to time we enter into discussions with various companies regarding the establishment of
new collaborations. If we are not successful in establishing new partners for our product candidates, we
may not be able to pursue further development of such product candidates and/or may have to reduce or
cease our current development programs, which would materially harm our business. Even if we are
successful in establishing new collaborations, they are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties
including:

s our ability to negotiate acceptable collaborative arrangements;
o the collaboration making us less attractive to potential acquirers;

¢ freedom of our collaborative partners to pursue alternative technologies either on their own or with
others, including our competitors, for the diseases targeted by our programs and products;

¢ the potential failure of our partners to fulfill their contractual obligations or their decision to
terminate our relationships, in which event we may be required to seek other partners, or expend
substantial resources to pursue these activities independently; and

¢ our ability to manage, interact and coordinate our timelines and objectives with our collaborative
partners may not be successful.

In addition, our collaborators may undergo business combinations, which could have the effect of
making the collaboration with us less attractive to them for a number of reasons. For example, if an
existing collaborator purchases a company that is one of our competitors, that company may be less willing
to continue its collaboration with us. A company that has a strategy of purchasing companies with
attractive technologies might have less incentive to enter into a collaboration agreement with us.
Moreover, disputes may arise with respect to the ownership of rights to any technology or products
developed with any current or future collaborator. Lengthy negotiations with potential collaborators or
disagreements between us and our collaborators may lead to delays in or termination of the research,
development or commercialization of product candidates or result in time consuming and expensive
litigation or arbitration.
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QOur collaborative relationships with third parties could cause us to expend significant funds on development
costs with no assurance of financial return.

From time to time we enter into collaborative relationships with third parties to co-develop and
market products. For example, we entered into an agreement with Peregrine Pharmaceuticals in
February 2001, pursuant to which we licensed a drug-targeting technology known as Vascular Targeting
Agent, which is a proprietary platform designed to specifically target a tumor’s blood supply and
subsequently destroy thé tumor with various attached therapeutic agents. The licensed technology is
specifically related to VEGF. Under the agreement, we made an up-front equity investment in Peregrine
of $600,000 and will be obligated to make subsequent milestone payments that could ultimately total
$8.25 million. In addition, we will pay royalties to Peregrine based on the net revenues of any drugs we
commercialize using the VEGF technology.

These relationships require substantial financial commitments from us, and at the same time the
product developments are subject to the same regulatory requirements, risks and uncertainties associated
with the development of our other product candidates. The compounds that are the subject of these
collaborative agreements may prove to be ineffective, may fail to receive regulatory approvals, may be
unprotectable by patents or other intellectual property rights, or may not be otherwise commercially viable.
If these collaborative relationships are not successful, our product developments will be adversely affected,
and our investments and efforts devoted to the product developments will be wasted.

Our ability to protect our intellectual property rights will be critically impoﬂaﬁt to the success of our business,
and we may not be able to protect these rights in the United States or abroad.

The success of our operations depends in part on our ability to obtain patents, protect trade secrets,
operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others and enforce our proprietary rights against
accused infringers.

We actively pursue a policy of seeking patent protection when applicable for our proprietary products
and technologies, whether they are developed in-house or acquired from third parties. We attempt to
protect our intellectual property position by filing United States and foreign patent applications related to
our proprietary technology, inventions and improvements that are important to the development of our
business. To date, we have acquired licenses to or assignments of over 50 U.S. patents covering various
aspects of our proprietary drugs and technologies, including 37 patents for various aspects of Orathecin
and related products, six patents under our Nipent product portfolio, although none covers the use of
Nipent for the treatment of patients with hairy cell leukemia, seven patents for our paclitaxel related
products, three patents for Dacogen used in combination with an anti-neoplastic agent for the treatment of
cancer, and two patents for our Surface Safe product. These issued United States patents will begin to
expire in October 2012. We have been granted patents and have received patent licenses relating to our
proprietary formulation technology, non-oncology and Partaject technologies, among which at least five
patents are issued or licensed to us. In addition, we are prosecuting a number of patent applications for
drug candidates that we are not actively developing at this time.
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We also have patents, licenses to patents and pending patent applications in Europe, Australia, Japan,
Canada, Mexico and New Zealand, among other countries. In addition, we have patent applications
pending in China, Hungary and Israel. Limitations on patent protection, and the differences in what
constitutes patentable subject matter, may limit the protection we have on patents issued or licensed to us
in these countries. In addition, laws of foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property to the
same extent as would laws in the United States. To minimize our costs and expenses and maintain effective
protection, we focus our foreign patent and licensing activities primarily in the European Union, Canada
and Japan. In determining whether or not to seek patent protection or to license any patent in a foreign
country, we weigh the relevant costs and benefits, and consider, among other things, the market potential
and profitability, the scope of patent protection afforded by the law of the jurisdiction and its
enforceability, and the nature of terms with any potential licensees. Failure to obtain adequate patent
protection for our proprietary drugs and technology would impair our ability to be commercially
competitive in these markets.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by a large number of patent filings involving complex
legal and factual questions, and therefore we cannot predict with certainty whether our patents will be
enforced effectively. Competitors may have filed applications for, or been issued patents on, products or
processes that compete with or are similar to ours. We may not be aware of all of the patents potentially
adverse to our interests which may have been issued to others. In addition, third parties may challenge,
invalidate or circumvent any of our patents. Thus, any patents that we own or license from third parties
may not provide adequate protection against competitors, if at all. Our pending patent applications and
those we may file in the future, or those we may license from third parties, may not result in patents being
issued with adequate claim scope, if at all.

In addition to pursuing patent protection in appropriate instances, we also rely on trade secret
protection or regulatory marketing exclusivity for unpatented proprietary technology. However, trade
secrets are difficult to protect. Our trade secrets or those of our collaborators may become known or may
be independently discovered by others.

In the pharmaceutical industry there has been, and we believe that there will continue to be,
significant litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. Claims may be brought against
us in the future based on patents held by others. These persons could bring legal actions against us
claiming damages and seeking to enjoin clinical testing, manufacturing and marketing of the affected
product. If we become involved in litigation, it could consume a substantial portion of our resources,
regardless of the outcome of the litigation. If a lawsuit against us is successful, in addition to any potential
liability for damages, we could be required to obtain a license to continue to manufacture or market the
affected product. We cannot assure you that we would prevail in a lawsuit filed against us or that we could
obtain any licenses required under any patents on acceptable terms, if at all.

Our proprietary products are dependent upon compliance with numerous licenses and agreements.
These licenses and agreements require us to make royalty and other payments, reasonably exploit the
underlying technology of the applicable patents, and comply with regulatory filings. If we fail to comply
with these licenses and agreements, we could lose the underlying rights to one or more of these potential
products, which would adversely affect our product development and harm our business.

If we fail to compete effectively against other pharmaceutical companies, our business will suffer.

The pharmaceutical industry in general and the oncology sector in particular is highly competitive and
subject to significant and rapid technological change. Our competitors and probable competitors include
companies such as Aventis SG, Berlex Laboratories, Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Eli Lilly & Co.,
GlaxoSmithKline, Novartis AG, Pfizer, Pharmion Corp. and others.
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Many of our competitors and research institutions are addressing the same diseases and disease
indications and working on products to treat such diseases as we are, and have substantially greater
financial, research and development, manufacturing and marketing experience and resources than we do.
Some of our competitors have received regulatory approval for products, or are developing or testing
product candidates that compete directly with, our product candidates. For example, while we received
orphan drug status for Orathecin and there is currently no competitor in the oral delivery market for the
treatment of pancreatic cancer, there are approved drugs for the treatment of pancreatic cancer, including
gemcitabine by Eli Lilly. In addition, Berlex Laboratories’ fludarabine competes with Nipent in the
leukemia market, and Dacogen faces potential competition from Pharmion’s Vidaza, which was approved
by the FDA in the first half of 2004.

Many of these competitors have significantly greater experience than we do in developing products,
undertaking pre-clinical testing and clinical trials, obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals, and
manufacturing and marketing products. Accordingly, our competitors may succeed in obtaining patent
protection, receiving FDA approval or commercializing products before we do. If we commence sales of
our product candidates, we will be competing against companies with greater marketing expertise and
manufacturing capabilities, areas in which we have limited or no experience.

We also face intense competition from other companies for collaborative relationships, for
establishing relationships with academic and research institutions, and for licenses to proprietary
technology. ‘

Our competitive positions in our generic drugs are uncertain and subject to risks. The market for
generic drugs, including the pricing for generic drugs, is extremely competitive. As a result, unless our
generic drugs are the first or among the initial few to launch, there is a high risk that our products would
not gain meaningful market share, or we would not be able to maintain our price and continue the product
line. Moreover, marketing of generic drugs is also subject to regulatory approval, and if we were not able to
obtain such approval before our competitors, we would lose our competitive advantage. Failure to
maintain our competitive position could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.

The pharmaceutical industry in general and the oncology sector in particular is subject to significant and rapid
technological change. Developments by competitors may render our product candidates or technologies obsolete
or non-competitive.

Our competitors may succeed in developing technologies or products that are more effective than
ours. Additionally, our products that are under patent protection face intense competition from
competitors’ proprietary products. This competition may increase as new products enter the market.

A number of our competitors have substantially more capital, research and development, regulatory,
manufacturing, marketing, human and other resources and experience than we have. As a result, our
competitors may:

¢ develop products that are more effective or less costly than any of our current or future products or
that render our products obsolete;

¢ produce and market their products more successfully than we do;
» establish superior proprietary positions; or
¢ obtain FDA approval for labeling claims that are more favorable than those for our products.

We will also face increasing competition from lower-cost generic products after patents on our
proprietary products expire. Loss of patent protection typically leads to a rapid decline in sales for that
product and could affect our future results. As new products enter the market, our products may become
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obsolete or our competitors’ products may be more effective or more effectively marketed and sold than
our products. Technological advances, competitive forces and loss of intellectual property protection rights
for our products may render our products obsolete.

We are developing products based upon compounds that may be covered by patents held by third parties that are
expected to expire or already expired. These compounds may also be the subject of method, formulation, and
manufacturing process patents held by third parties. If these patents do not expire as anticipated or are expanded
in scope, we will not be able to develop our products as planned.

We developed, or are in the process of developing, and are planning to market several generic and
proprietary formulation products based on existing compounds. Specifically, with respect to our generic
products, we received approval of ANDA’s for our generic mitomycin for solid tumors for our generic
paclitaxel.

Our proprietary formulation technology is a platform technology that employs the use of an inert
chemical excipient, cyclodextrin, combined with a drug. Most anti-cancer drugs are cytotoxic, and most
must be administered intravenously. If a vein is missed on injection, the drug can leak to surrounding
tissue, causing ulceration that sometimes requires plastic surgery to correct. Our proprietary formulation
technology is designed to “shield” the drug from the injection site, thus providing the patient protection
from tissue ulceration. This technology may increase the relative solubility of hard-to-dissolve anti-cancer
drugs, hence increasing its stability or shelf life. However, each of these benefits must be supported by
appropriate data and approved by the FDA before we can make any claim in this regard. Our first product
utilizing our proprietary formulation technology, a formulation of generic mitomycin, was approved by the
FDA in November 2002 as Mitozytrex (mitomycin for injection) for use in the therapy of disseminated
adenocarcinoma of the stomach or pancreas in proven combinations with other approved
chemotherapeutic agents and as palliative treatment when other modalities have failed. We cannot
promote Mitozytrex as providing any injection site ulceration protection, nor can we promote any
increased stability, solubility or shelf life extension, as compared to generic mitomycin. We would be
required to develop and submit additional data to the FDA and receive FDA approval before we could
make these claims.

Although no funds were spent in 2005, we have previously spent approximately $6.4 million on
developing and marketing our generic and proprietary formulation products. We have completed our pre-
commercial investment in developing Mitozytrex, and as of now we have not committed to an internal
budget for additional proprietary formulation development programs. In addition, we have no further
generic drug development commitments, as we are focusing on developing our proprietary drug
candidates.

We do not hold any intellectual property rights as to the underlying compounds on which our generic
or proprietary formulation products are based. We may in the future evaluate the generic drug market and
develop additional generic or proprietary products based on these compounds, which may also be the
subject of method, formulation and manufacturing process patents held by third parties. Our development
of generic or proprietary products may also take place prior to, but in anticipation of, the expected
expiration of existing patent protection for drugs developed by third parties. However, if existing patent
protection on such products is otherwise maintained, extended or expanded, it is unlikely that we will be
able to market our own generic or proprietary formulation products without obtaining a license from the
patent owner, which may not be available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all.

We may be subject to product liability lawsuits and our insurance may be inadequate to cover damages.

Clinical trials and commercial use of our current and potential products may expose us to liability
claims from the use or sale of these products. Consumers, healthcare providers, pharmaceutical companies
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and others selling such products might make claims of this kind. We may experience financial losses in the
future due to product liability claims. We have obtained limited product liability insurance coverage for
our products and clinical trials, under which the coverage limits are $10.0 million per occurrence and

$10.0 million in the aggregate. We do not know whether this coverage will be adequate to protect us in the
event of a claim. We may not be able to obtain or maintain insurance coverage in the future at a
reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses. If third parties bring a successful
product liability claim or series of claims against us for uninsured liabilities or in excess of insured
liabilities, we may not have sufficient financial resources to complete development or commercialization of
any of our product candidates and our business and results of operations will be adversely affected.

If we are unable to attract and retain additional, highly skilled personnel required for the expansion of our
activities, our business will suffer.

Further, our success is dependent on key personnel, including members of our senior management
and scientific staff. If any of our executive officers decides to leave and we cannot locate a qualified
replacement in time to allow a smooth transition, our business operation may be adversely affected. To
successfully expand our operations, we will need to attract and retain additional highly skilled individuals,
particularly in the areas of sales, marketing, clinical administration, preclinical and development research,
manufacturing and finance. We compete with other companies for the services of existing and potential
employees, however to the extent these employees favor larger, more established employers, we may be at
a disadvantage. '

Earthquake or other natural or man-made disasters and business interruptions could adversely affect our
business.

Our operations are vulnerable to interruption by fire, power loss, floods, telecommunications failure
and other events beyond our control. In addition, our operations are susceptible to disruption as a result of
natural disasters such as earthquakes. So far we have never experienced any significant disruption of our
operations as a result of earthquakes or other natural disasters. Although we have a contingency recovery
plan, any significant business interruption could cause delays in our drug development and sales and harm
our business.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and applicable Delaware law may prevent or discourage
third parties or stockholders from attempting to replace our management.

Anti-takeover provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders. These provisions
include:

¢ authorization of the issuance of up to 2,000,000 shares of our preferred stock;
¢ climination of cumulative voting; and
e elimination of stockholder action by written consent.

Our bylaws establish procedures, including notice procedures, with regard to the nomination, other
than by or at the direction of our board of directors, of candidates for election as directors or for
stockholder proposals to be submitted at stockholder meetings.

We are also subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, an anti-takeover
provision. In general, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law prevents a stockholder
owning 15% or more of a corporation’s outstanding voting stock from engaging in business combinations
with a Delaware corporation for three years following the date the stockholder acquired 15% or more of a
corporation’s outstanding voting stock. This restriction is subject to exceptions, including the approval of
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the board of directors and of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of voting stock not
owned by the interested stockholder.

We believe that the benefits of increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with the
proponents of unfriendly or unsolicited proposals to acquire or restructure us outweigh the disadvantages
of discouraging those proposals because, among other things, negotiation of those proposals could result in
an improvement of their terms. Nevertheless, these provisions are expected to discourage different types of
coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids and to encourage persons seeking to acquire
control of our company to first negotiate with us, and may have the effect of preventing or discouraging
third parties or stockholders from attempting to replace our management.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Our principal administrative facility is currently located in leased general office space, containing
approximately 50,000 square feet, in Dublin, California, under a lease that expires in November 2010. Our
laboratory operations are located in a 10,000 square foot industrial building that we own in Pleasanton,
California. We also possess a five year lease to a 20,000 square foot office/warehouse space, adjacent to our
laboratory facility, that is currently being subleased through the end of our lease term. We believe the
above properties are adequate and suitable for our operations in the foreseeable future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are not currently subject to any pending material legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

None
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PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market for Common Stock

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “SUPG.” The following
table sets forth the high and low sales information for our common stock for each quarterly period in the

two most recent fiscal years as reported on the Nasdaq National Market:

2005 : -
Quarter ended March 31,2005 ... .o vttt S ‘
Quarterended June 30, 2005 ... ... i e e
Quarter ended September 30,2005, ........ ... i
Quarter ended December 31,2005 . ... ..ot e e

2004 , . . .
Quarter ended March 31,2004.................. e e
Quarterended June 30,2004 ... ... i e e
Quarter ended September 30,2004, .......... ... i
Quarter ended December 31,2004 ........ e _

Holders of Record

$4.29
4.00
4.80
4.93

$6.10
- 6.08
4.50
5.00

As of March 8, 2006, there were 573 holders of record of the common stock and approximately 23,000

beneficial stockholders.

Dividends

We have never paid cash dividends on our capital stock and do not expect to pay any dividends in the

foreseeable future. We intend to retain future earnings, if any, for use in our business.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer

None.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of results of future operations and should
be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto appearing in Item 15 of Part IV of

this report.

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Totalrevenue.............. ..o,
Cost of product revenue. ...................
Research and development.................
Selling, general and administrative ..........
Acquisition of in-process research and
development................oocoiia.l.
Loss from operations ......................
Other income (expense). ...................
L

Basic and diluted net loss per common share. .

Shares used to compute basic and diluted net
loss per commonshare...................

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities,
investments, and restricted cash and

INVESTMENLS, ..\ vvivvr e e reiainaraneanennan
Othercurrentassets .........coverreeeen...
Property, plant and equipment, net............
Otherassets .......cooviiiiiiiiieereeenn.
Totalassets. .....coovvenriniiiieeiinnnn,
Convertible debt, net of discounts.. ............
Other current liabilities . .....................
Non-current liabilities .......................
Stockholders’ equity ............ooiiiiiainn,
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity. .......

Cash dividends pershare.....................

Year ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
. (In thousands, except per share data)
$ 30,169 $ 31,993 §$ 11,494 $ 15269 $ 11,451
3,051 4,135 3,865 4,491 2,727
15,059 23,978 26,312 29,895 47,833
28,046 28,800 24,436 23,525 22,079
(15987) (24,920) (43,119) (42,642) (61,188)
1,505  (21,940) (10,351)  (6,829) 5,622
$(14,482) $(46,860) $(53,470) $(49,471) $(55,566)
$ (028) $§ (104) $ (156) $ (1.52) $ (1.69)
51,309 44953 34,276 32,542 32,925
As of December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)

.. $60289 $67,047 $39,926 $39,982 $ 77,359
.. 8972 22,444 9,035 9,744 5,807
.. 2,907 3,635 4,420 5,443 6,345
.. 1,103 1,531 1,355 2,164 33,206
.. $73271 $94,657 $54,736 $577333 $122,717
. % — $§ — $13593 § — § —
.. 8,042 20,517 11,821 7,548 12,752
.. 972 927 2,475 1,783 2,167
.. 64,257 73,213 26,847 48,002 107,798
.. $73271 $94,657 $54,736 $57,333 $122,717
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Our disclosure and analysis in this section of the report also contain forward-looking statements. When we
use the words “anticipate,” “estimate,” “project,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan,” “believe,” “should,” “likely” and
similar expressions, we are making forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements provide our current
expectations or forecasts of future events. In particular, these statements include statements such as: the
likelihood of receiving FDA approval of our NDA for Dacogen; our expectations regarding milestone revenues
under our agreement with MGI; our estimates about becoming profitable; our forecasts regarding our research
and development expenses; and our statements regarding the sufficiency of our cash to meet our operating
needs. Our actual results could differ materially from those predicted in the forward-looking statements as a
result of risks and uncertainties including, but not limited to, delays and risks associated with conducting and
managing our clinical trials, developing products and obtaining regulatory approval; ability to establish and
maintain collaboration relationships; competition; ability to obtain funding; ability to protect our intellectual
property; our dependence on third party suppliers; risks associated with the hiring and loss of key personnel;
adverse changes in the specific markets for our products; and ability to launch and commercialize our products
including our ability to achieve the milestones that may entitle us to receive royalty payments from MGI. Certain
unknown or immaterial risks and uncertainties can also affect our forward-looking statements. Consequently,
no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed and you should not rely on these forward-looking statements.
For a discussion of the known and material risks that could impact our actual results, please see “Risk Factors”
in this report. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.

Overview

We are a pharmaceutical company dedicated to the development and commercialization of therapies
for solid tumors, hematological malignancies, and blood disorders. Our strategy is to commercialize
products by minimizing the time, expense and technical risk associated with drug research through
identifying and acquiring pharmaceutical compounds. Our primary objective is to become a leading
supplier of therapies for solid tumors, hematological malignancies, and blood disorders.

Since our incorporation in 1991 we have devoted substantially all of our resources to our product
development efforts. Currently we have three key compounds, Dacogen, Orathecin, and Nipent, that are
the focus of our efforts.

Dacogen. Our NDA submission for Dacogen was accepted for filing by the FDA on December 31,
2004. On September 1, 2005, we received an Approvable Letter for Dacogen from the FDA, which
provides that Dacogen is approvable pending the FDA’s review of a requested analysis of the transfusion
requirements of patients enrolled in the completed Phase III trial, submission of certain other information,
and completion of labeling discussions. We completed the collection and analysis of the data requested by
the FDA and submitted our response to the Approvable Letter on November 15, 2005. On December 15,
2005, the FDA accepted our resubmission as a complete response to the Approvable Letter. The
resubmission has been classified by the FDA as a Class 2 response, and the FDA established a user fee
goal date to review the response by May 15, 2006. There can be no guarantee that the FDA will approve
Dacogen.

Our European subsidiary, EuroGen Pharmaceuticals Ltd., submitted an MAA for Dacogen to the
EMEA, which submission was accepted for review on October 25, 2004. MGI and SuperGen determined
that additional clinical data will be required to continue the review of Dacogen in Europe. Therefore, we
withdrew the MAA for Dacogen in November 2005. This revision in the European regulatory strategy for
Dacogen does not affect regulatory strategies being pursued in the U.S.
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During September 2004, we executed a definitive agreement granting MGI exclusive worldwide rights
to the development, manufacture, commercialization and distribution of Dacogen. Under the terms of the
agreement, MGI made a $40.0 million equity investment in us and will pay up to $45.0 million in specific
regulatory and commercialization milestones. To date, we have received $12.5 million of these milestones.
If Dacogen is approved, we could receive a royalty on worldwide net sales starting at 20% and escalating to
a maximum of 30%. MGI has also committed to fund further development costs associated with Dacogen
at a minimum of $15.0 million over a three year period.

Orathecin. In January 2004 we submitted an NDA under accelerated approval procedures to the
FDA for Orathecin for the treatment of pancreatic cancer patients that have failed one or more therapies.
The filing was accepted by the FDA and indicated a target response date in November 2004. At the
request of the FDA, during November 2004 we submitted additional clinical data from a trial of Orathecin
as a first-line treatment for pancreatic cancer as well as new analyses of data from the pivotal study in
second and third line patients. The FDA classified these data as a Major Amendment, which triggered an
extension of the review period by 90 days, resulting in a revised target response date in February 2005.
Based on further discussions and feedback with both the FDA and consultants helping us dialog with the
FDA, we determined the current package for Orathecin was not sufficient to gain approval at this time in
the United States and we withdrew the NDA in January 2005. We currently have a Phase II clinical trial
ongoing to study Orathecin and gemcitabine as a first-line combination therapy for advanced pancreatic
cancer patients who have not undergone chemotherapy. We intend to make a decision on future
development or the alternative disposition of Orathecin based on a review of the interim results of this
trial, which we expect to occur during the first half of 2006.

In July 2004, we submitted a MAA to the EMEA seeking approval of Orathecin. Based on extensive
discussions with the EMEA, we withdrew the MAA in January 2006. Our future registration strategy in
Europe is dependent on the results of the U.S. Phase II results noted above.

Nipent. Nipent is approved by the FDA and EMEA for the treatment of hairy cell leukemia and is
marketed by us in the United States and distributed in Europe. Nipent has also shown promise in other
diseases and we are conducting a series of post-marketing Phase IV clinical trials for CLL, NHL, cutaneous
and peripheral T-cell lymphomas and GvHD.

Other Products. Our portfolio of other products includes Partaject-delivered busulfan. We also
market Surface Safe. We have also received regulatory approval to market Mitozytrex (mitomycin for
injection) for use in the therapy of disseminated adenocarcinoma of the stomach or pancreas in proven
combinations with other approved chemotherapeutic agents and as palliative treatment when other
modalities have failed. Moreover, we hold United States sales and marketing rights to the cancer vaccine
Avicine. We are continually evaluating our product portfolio to determine whether it is appropriate for us
to dedicate the resources needed to commercialize these products ourselves or whether we would be better
served selling or licensing the rights to develop these products to third parties.

Montigen Acquisition. On January 27, 2006, we announced that we have entered into a definitive
agreement to acquire Montigen, a privately-held oncology-focused drug discovery and development
company headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah. Montigen’s assets include its research and development
team, a proprietary drug discovery technology platform and optimization process, CLIMB, and late-stage
pre-clinical compounds targeting aurora-A kinase and members of the tyrosine kinase receptor family.
One of the Montigen compounds is expected to be the subject of a pre-IND meeting with the FDA later
this year. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, we will pay the Montigen stockholders a total of $18.0
million upon the closing of the transaction, consisting of $9.0 million in cash and $9.0 million in shares of
SuperGen common stock. We will pay the Montigen stockholders an additional $22.0 million in shares of
SuperGen common stock, contingent upon achievement of specific regulatory milestones. Completion of
the acquisition will be subject to approval by the Montigen stockholders, customary closing conditions, and
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the issuance of a permit from the Commissioner of Corporations for the State of California so that the
issuance of the shares of SuperGen common stock will be exempt from registration under the Securities
Act of 1933, The proposed transaction is expected to close in late March 2006.

To date, our product revenues have been limited and are derived primarily from sales of Nipent,
which we are marketing in the United States and distributing in Europe for the treatment of hairy cell
leukemia. Most of our products are still in the development stage, and we will require substantial
additional investments in research and development, clinical trials, regulatory and in sales and marketing
activities to commercialize current and future product candidates. Conducting clinical trials is a lengthy,
time-consuming, and expensive process involving inherent uncertainties and risks, and our studies may be
insufficient to demonstrate safety and efficacy to support FDA approval of any of our product candidates.

As a result of our substantial research and development expenditures and minimal product revenues,
we have incurred cumulative losses of $348.0 million through December 31, 2003, and have never
generated enough funds through our operations to support our business. We expect to continue to incur
operating losses at least through 2007.

Ultimately, our ability to become profitable will depend upon a variety of factors, including regulatory
approvals of our products, the timing of the introduction and market acceptance of our products and
competing products, MGI’s success in commercializing Dacogen, if approved, increases in sales and
marketing expenses related to the launch of new products and our ability to control our ongoing costs and
operating expenses. If the results from our clinical trials are not positive, we may not be able to get
sufficient funding to continue our trials or conduct new trials, and we would be forced to scale down or
cease our business operations, Moreover, if our products are not approved or commercially accepted we
will remain unprofitable for longer than we currently anticipate. Additionally, we might be forced to
substantiaily scale down our operations or sell certain of our assets, and it is likely the price of our stock
would decline precipitously.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our management discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based
upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires
us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and reported disclosures. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those
related to revenue recognition, intangible assets, valuation of investments and derivative instruments. We -
base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Our significant accounting policies are more fully disclosed in Note 1 to our consolidated financial
statements. However, some of our accounting policies are particularly important to the portrayal of our
financial position and results of operations and require the application of significant judgment by our
management. We believe the following critical accounting policies, among others, affect our more
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Our net sales relate principally to Nipent and, to a lesser extent, mitomycin. We recognize sales
revenue upon shipment and related transfer of title to customers, and collectibility is reasonably assured.
Allowances are established for estimated product returns and exchanges. Revenue is recognized upon
customer receipt of the shipment, provided the title to the product transfers at the point of receipt by the
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customer. If the title to the product transfers at the point of shipment, revenue is recognized upon
shipment of the product.

Allowances for product returns and exchanges are based on historical information and known trends
from external sources. The costs of product exchanges, which include actual product costs and related
shipping charges, are included in cost of product revenue. In estimating returns, we analyze historical
returns and sales patterns, the remaining shelf life of inventory, and changes in demand. We continually
assess our historical experience and adjust our allowances as appropriate. If actual product returns and
exchanges are greater than our estimates, additional allowances may be required. We record estimated
sales reserves for rebates and government chargebacks by analyzing historical rebate and chargeback
percentages, contractual prices and other factors, as required. Significant judgment is inherent in the
selection of assumptions and in the interpretation of historical experience as well as the identification of
external and internal factors affecting the estimate of reserves for product returns and chargebacks. We
routinely assess the historical returns and other experience and adjust the reserves as appropriate.

Cash advance payments received in connection with distribution agreements, license agreements, or
research grants are deferred and recognized ratably over the period of the respective agreements or until
services are performed. We recognize cost reimbursement revenue under collaborative agreements as the
related research and development costs are incurred. We recognize milestone fees upon completion of
specified milestones according to contract terms. Deferred revenue represents the portion of research
payments received that has not been earned.

Intangible Assets

We have intangible assets related to goodwill and other acquired intangibles such as trademarks,
covenants not to compete, and customer lists. The determination of related estimated useful lives and
whether or not these assets are impaired involves significant judgment. Changes in strategy and/or market
conditions could significantly impact these judgments and require adjustments to recorded asset balances.
We review intangible assets, as well as other long-lived assets, for impairment whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable.

Valuation of Investments in Financial Instruments

Investments in financial instruments are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included
in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss in stockholders’ equity. Our investment portfolio
includes equity securities that could subject us to material market risk and corporate obligations that
subject us to varying levels of credit risk. If the fair value of a financial instrument has declined below its
carrying value for a period in excess of six consecutive months or if the decline is due to a significant
adverse event, such that the carrying amount of these investments may not be fully recoverable, the
impairment is considered to be other than temporary. An other than temporary decline in fair value of a
financial instrument would be subject to a write-down resulting in a charge against earnings. The
determination of whether a decline in fair value is other than temporary requires significant judgment, and
could have a material impact on our balance sheet and results of operations. Our management reviews the
securities within our portfolio for other than temporary declines in value on a regular basis. The prices of
some of our marketable securities, in particular AVI, are subject to considerable volatility. Decreases in
the fair value of these securities may significantly impact our results of operations.

Investments in equity securities without readily determinable fair value are carried at cost. We
periodically review those carried costs and evaluate whether an impairment has occurred. The
determination of whether an impairment has occurred requires significant judgment, as each investment
may have unique market or development opportunities.

50




Derivative Instruments

In connection with our June 2003 convertible debt transaction, we issued to the note holders warrants
to purchase 2,634,211 shares of common stock of AVI at $5.00 per share. As of December 31, 2005, we
owned sufficient shares of AVI to cover the potential obligation. These warrants are considered to be a
derivative and have been recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for derivatives is
complex, and requires significant judgments and estimates involved in determining the fair value in the
absence of quoted market values. These estimates are based on valuation methodologies and assumptions
deemed appropriate in the circumstances. The fair value of the warrants is based on various assumptions
input into the Black-Scholes pricing model. Such assumptions include the estimated market volatility and
interest rates used in the determination of fair value. The use of different assumptions may have a material
effect on the estimated fair value amount and the results of operations.

Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2005 compared with year ended December 31, 2004:

‘ Change
Revenues 2005 2004 Dollar Percent
. {dollars in thousands)
Netproduct revenue. .. ......coovvivveiiiiivivniinanns. $16,059 $13,127 $ 2,932 22.3%
Development and licenserevenue .. ..............ouue. 13,353 18,866  (5,513) (29.2)
Distribution agreement and other revenue. ............... 757 — 757 —

The increase in net product revenue for 2005 was due primarily to higher unit sales of Nipent. Net
sales of Nipent were approximately $15.0 million in 2005, compared to $11.4 million in 2004. Nipent sales
in 2005 included approximately $1.0 million in sales to Europe, compared to $1.5 million in 2004. Unlike
our Nipent sales efforts in the U.S. market where we call on clinicians directly, our role in Europe has been
limited to that of a supplier. As such, we have not had a direct influence on Nipent sales at the clinical
level, making the timing and magnitude of European sales difficult to predict and dependent on the efforts
of our European distributor. During the first quarter of 2004, we acquired the marketing rights for Nipent
in Europe, which allows us to charge a higher unit price for Nipent in Europe compared to the unit prices
charged under the previous supply agreement.

Development and license revenue relates to our license agreement entered into with MGI in
September 2004. Development and license revenue for 2005 included $9,905,000 related to the
amortization of deferred revenue in connection with the upfront payment received from MGI, and
$3,448,000 related to reimbursement of Dacogen development and allocated overhead costs. In 2004, we
recorded $2,720,000 related to the amortization of deferred revenue, $3,646,000 related to the
reimbursement of Dacogen development costs, and $12,500,000 related to achievement of certain
regulatory milestones.

Distribution agreement and other revenue for 2005 includes revenue from the termination of our
Nipent distribution agreement with Abbott Laboratories. Upon signing this agreement in 1999, we
received $5.0 million from Abbott, which was recorded as deferred revenue and was being amortized over
a five-year period. In February 2005, we paid Abbott $1,500,000 to terminate this agreement, and this
amount was charged against the unamortized balance of deferred revenue of $1,667,000. The remaining
$167,000 was recorded as distribution agreement revenue in the first quarter of 2005 as a result of the
termination of the distribution agreement. The remaining $590,000 in revenue relates to the proceeds
received from the transfer agreement with American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc. whereby we transferred
the ANDA and all rights, title, and interest in our generic daunorubicin, There were no similar
transactions in 2004.
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Change

Costs and operating expenses ] 2005 2004 Dollar Percent
(dollars in thousands)

Costof productrevenue. ...........ooeviiieeieneninnn. $ 3,051 $ 4135 $(1,084) (26.2)%
Research and development...................oei. 15,059 23,978  (8,919) (37.2)
Selling, general and administrative ..................... 28,046 28,800 (754) (2.6)

Cost of product revenue as a percentage of net product revenue was 19% in 2005 compared to 32% in
2004. The decrease in 2005 is due to a variation in product mix, with a larger portion of our sales being
related to domestic Nipent, which is sold at higher margins than mitomycin, and lower distribution costs
for Nipent since we terminated our Nipent distribution agreement with Abbott in the first quarter of 2005.
Current margins may not be indicative of future margins due to possible variations in product mix, average
selling prices, and of future margins due to possible variations in product mix, average selling prices, and
manufacturing costs.

The decrease in research and development expenses was due primarily to lower expenditures relating
to our clinical studies of Orathecin, which declined by $3.2 million in 2005 over 2004, and Dacogen, which
declined by $1.9 million in 2005 over 2004. These are the result of lower clinical study expenses and clinical
supply costs for Orathecin and Dacogen, as those clinical studies have wound down after the completion of
our FDA and European submissions for both drugs during the latter half of 2004. In addition, we had
lower personnel costs in 2005 of $2.4 million as a result of a reduction in headcount of approximately 16%
in the first quarter of 2005. Furthermore, the expenses for 2004 included a $500,000 non-cash charge paid
in shares of our common stock to the Stehlin Foundation as a milestone payment for the acceptance of the
submission of the NDA for Orathecin. :

We conduct research internally and also through collaborations with third parties, and we intend to
maintain our strong commitment to our research and development efforts in the future. Our research and
development activities consist primarily of clinical development and the related advancement of our
existing product candidates through clinical trials. Qur major research and development projects have
included Orathecin, Dacogen, and studies of other indications of Nipent. We have focused much of our
attention and resources on developing Orathecin, and from 1998 through 2005, we have spent
approximately $71.5 million on the Orathecin program. From 2000 through 2005, we have spent
approximately $12.7 million on the development of and clinical studies related to Dacogen, and from 1998
through 2005, we have spent approximately $17.0 million on Phase I, II, and Phase IV programs related to
different indications of Nipent. Conducting clinical trials is a lengthy, expensive and uncertain process.
Completion of clinical trials may take several years or more. The length of time generally varies
substantially according to the type, complexity, novelty and intended use of the product candidate. Our
clinical trials may be suspended at any time if we or the FDA believe the patients participating in our
studies are exposed to unacceptable health risks. We may encounter problems in our studies which will
cause us or the FDA to delay or suspend the studies. Because of these uncertainties, we cannot predict
when or whether we will successfully complete the development of our product candidates or the ultimate
product development cost.

The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses for 2005 relates primarily to reduced
expenditures for marketing programs, legal fees, and investor relations activities, offset by increased costs
related to our Nipent commercialization scale-up efforts in our European operations.
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Change
Other income (expense) 2005 2004 Dollar Percent
(dollars in thousands)

INterest INCOME o . v vttt e e e i e e in e ieeee e e ieaannnnns $1,727 & 624 1,103 176.8%
Interest eXPense. ... ... vvireinin it — (2,338) (2,338) (100.0)
Amortization of deemed discount on convertible debt........ —  (12,657) (12,657) (100.0)
Other than temporary decline in investments ............... (11) (7,851) (7,840) (99.9)
Change in valuation of derivatives. ........................ - (211) 282 (493) (174.8)

The increase in interest income is due to higher available cash balances due to a private placement of
our common stock in March 2004 with net proceeds of $32.5 million and the stock purchase and license
agreements with MGI in September 2004 with net proceeds of $36.8 million, and higher interest rates in
2005. ' -

We had no interest expense and amortization of deemed discount on convertible debt in 2005 as our
convertible notes from the February 2003 transaction were fully repaid in February 2004 and the notes
from June 2004 were repaid by December 2004, primarily through the issuance of common stock.

During 2005, we recorded an other than temporary decline in the value of our investment in the stock
of Inflazyme Pharmaceuticals. During 2004, we recorded an other than temporary decline in the value of
our investment of the stock of AVL

The change in derivative valuation of $282,000 in 2004 represented the change in the valuation of two
derivatives. As part of the June 2003 convertible debt transaction, we issued to the note holders warrants to
purchase 2,634,211 shares of AVI at $5.00 per share. These warrants represent a derivative instrument and
are valued each quarter using the Black-Scholes pricing model. During 2004, the value of this derivative
had decreased by $3,898,000, which was recorded as other income. We also recorded an expense of
$3,616,000 related to the derivative accounting treatment of initially unregistered warrants issued in
connection with the private placement of shares of our common stock completed in March 2004, in
accordance with EITF 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially
Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock.” In 2005, we recorded a change in value of the derivative associated
with the warrants to purchase the AVI shares of $211,000. ‘

Year ended December 31, 2004 compared with year ended December 31, 2003:

Change

Revenues 2004 2003 Dollar Percent
(dollars in thousands)

Netproduct revenue. ...........coovviienneieneenennnn. $13,127 $11,437 $ 1,690 14.8%

Development and licenserevenue . ..............oo..n. . 18,866 —_— 18,866 —

Distribution agreement and other revenue. ................ — 57 (57) (100.00)

The increase in net product revenues in 2004 was due primarily to a 16% increase in sales of Nipent,
our drug currently approved for the treatment of hairy cell leukemia, due to an increase in demand and
higher product pricing resulting from our acquisition of European marketing rights for Nipent in 2004. Net
sales of Nipent were approximately $11.4 million in 2004, compared to $9.9 million in 2003. Nipent sales in
2004 included approximately $1.5 million in sales to Europe, compared to $315,000 in 2003. Unlike our
Nipent sales efforts in the U.S. market where we call on clinicians directly, our role in Europe is currently
limited to that of a supplier. As such, we have not had a direct influence on Nipent sales at the clinical
level, making their timing and magnitude difficult to predict and dependent on the efforts of our European
distributor.
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The increase in development and license revenue relates to our license agreement entered into with
MGI in September 2004. Development and license revenue consisted of $12,500,000 in milestone
payments relating to the filing of Dacogen with the FDA and EMEA, $3,646,000 for Dacogen
development, and $2,720,000 in amortization of deferred revenue in connection with the upfront payment
received from MGL

Change
Costs and operating expenses 2004 2003 Dollar Percent
‘ (dollars in thousands)
Cost Of product TEVENUE. . ... .vuvvviiieeeienenennn. $ 4135 $ 385 $ 270 7.0%
Research and development........................oeL. 123978 26,312 (2,334) (8.9)
Selling, general and administrative ....................... 28,800 24,436 4,364 17.9

Cost of product revenue as a percentage of net product revenues was 32% in 2004 compared to 34%
in 2003. The decrease in cost of sales percentage is due primarily to higher pricing of Nipent in Europe due
to our acquisition of European marketing rights for Nipent in 2004. Current margins may not be indicative
of future margins due to possible variations in product mix, average selling prices, and manufacturing costs.

_ The decrease in research and development expenses was due primarily to lower expenditures relating
to our clinical studies of Orathecin, which declined by $1.8 million in 2004 over 2003, and Nipent, which
declined by $424,000, offset by increases in clinical trial expenses for Dacogen of $609,000. We
substantially completed our Orathecin Phase I11I studies in 2004 and filed an NDA with the FDA in
January 2004. Our clinical studies for Dacogen continued through 2004, culminating with our filing of an
NDA with the FDA and an MAA with the EMEA in late 2004.

The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses relates primarily to an increase in sales
and marketing expenses of approximately $3.8 million for market research, speakers programs, advertising
placement, and conferences and symposiums associated with pre-launch activities for Orathecin and
Dacogen. In connection with our license agreement with MGI we were reimbursed for approximately $1.0
million of the sales and marketing expenses for Dacogen in 2004.

Change

Other income (expense) 2004 2003 Dollar Percent

(dollars in thousands)
INterest iNCOME « ..o\ vvvt et etn e eee i eaennn, $ 624 § 474 § 150 31.6%
INterest EXPEMSE. . .« v vveve it eaaee it (2,338) (3,981) (1,643) (41.3)
Amortization of deemed discount on convertible debt. . . .. (12,657) (13,738)  (1,081) (7.9)
Other than temporary decline in investments ............ (7,851) — 7,851 —
Change in valuation of derivatives...................... 282 6,894  (6,612) (95.9)

The increase in interest income is due to higher available cash balances due to a private placement of
our common stock in March 2004 with net proceeds of $32.5 million and the stock purchase and license
agreements with MGI in September 2004 with net proceeds of $36.8 million.

Interest expense in 2004 declined due to the declining balance of our two convertible notes executed
in February and June 2003. The convertible notes were fully repaid at December 31, 2004, primarily
through the issuance of our common stock.

Amortization of deemed discount on convertible debt declined as our convertible notes from the
February 2003 transaction were fully repaid in February 2004 and the notes from June 2004 were repaid by
December 2004.
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During 2004, we recorded an other than temporary decline in the value of our investment in the stock
of AVI. We did not incur any other than temporary declines in the value of our investments in 2003.

Income related to the change in derivative valuation in 2003 represented the change in the valuation
of two separate derivatives. In our February 2003 exchangeable convertible debt transaction, the notes
contained a feature that allowed holders of the notes to receive a portion of the principal and interest in
2,634,211 shares of AVI at $5.00 per share. The initial value ascribed to this derivative was $2.3 million.
The ability of the note holders to exchange the notes into shares of AVI was eliminated in our June 2003
convertible debt transaction, so the entire derivative value at that time of $2.5 million was taken to other
income. As part of the June 2003 convertible debt transaction and the February Notes restructuring, we
issued to the note holders warrants to purchase 2,634,211 shares of AVI at $5.00 per share. These warrants
represent a derivative instrument and were valued at $10.1 million using the Black-Scholes pricing model
on June 24, 2003. Through December 31, 2003, the value of this derivative had decreased by $4.6 million,
which was recorded as other income. As the fair value of the common stock of AVT has fluctuated
significantly in the past two years and is expected to do so in the future given the volatility of the AVI
stock, the valuation of the derivative in future periods may have a significant impact on our results of
operations. At December 31, 2004, the value of this derivative had declined by $3.9 million, which was
recorded as other income. This amount was reduced by a charge of $3.6 million relating to the derivative
accounting treatment of initially unregistered warrants issued in connection with the private placement of
shares of our common stock in March 2004.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash, cash equivalents, and both short and long-term marketable securities totaled $47.8 million,
compared to $56.8 million at December 31, 2004. In addition, we held 2,684,211 shares of registered stock
of AVI, most of which are held as security for the warrants we issued to convertible debt holders to
purchase the 2,634,211 AVI shares at $5.00 per share. The AVI shares had a market value of $9.3 million
at December 31, 2005, and are classified on the balance sheet under non-current Investment in stock of
related parties and Restricted cash and investments.

Net cash used in operating activities was $11.7 million in 2005, and consisted primarily of the net loss
of $14.5 million, amortization of deferred revenue of $9.9 million from the MGI license agreement,
payment of $1.5 million to Abbott terminating our Nipent distribution agreement, and a $1.1 million
reduction in accounts payable and other liabilities primarily due to lower research and development
related activities as discussed above, offset by decreases in accounts receivable of $11.6 million, due
primarily to the receipt of $12.5 million in milestone related payments from MGI in 2005, and inventories
of $1.9 million. The net cash used in operating activities in 2004 was $24.5 million, which consisted
primarily of the net loss of $46.9 million, plus $2.7 million in amortization of deferred revenue and an
increase of accounts receivable of $17.2 million, less depreciation of $1.1 million, amortization of prepaid
financing costs of $1.8 million, amortization of deemed discount on convertible debt of $12.7 million, an
other than temporary decline in the value of investments of $7.9 million, and increases in prepaid expenses
of $1.0 million, accounts payable of $1.1 million, and deferred revenue of $13.1 million. The net cash used
in operating activities in 2003 was $36.6 million, which consisted primarily of the net loss of $53.5 million,
less $13.7 million non-cash amortization of deemed discount on our convertible debt, $3.1 million
amortization of prepaid financing costs, $1.2 million in depreciation expense, and $4.9 million decline in
accounts receivable, offset by $6.9 million non-cash change in the valuation of derivatives.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $18.8 million in 2005, and consisted of $29.8 million in
proceeds from the sale or maturities of marketable securities offset by $11.6 million in purchases of
marketable securities. Net cash provided by investing activities was $131,000 in 2004, which consisted
primarily of $28.3 million in proceeds from the sales or maturities of marketable securities and $10.7
million cash released from the collateral account, less $37.6 million used in the purchases of marketable
securities and $1.0 million for the purchase of intangible assets. Net cash used in investing activities in 2003
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was $5.2 million, which consisted primarily of $10.6 million raised in our June convertible debt transaction
that was transferred to a cash collateral account, and purchases of marketable securities of $8.1 million,
offset by sales and maturities of marketable securities of $13.6 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities in 2005 was $2.2 million and consisted solely of proceeds
from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs. Net cash provided by financing activities was
$57.7 million in 2004, which also consisted solely of proceeds from the issnance of common stock, net of
issuance costs. Net cash provided by financing activities was $39.6 million in 2003, due primarily to the
issuance of a total of $42.5 million in convertible notes in separate transactions in February and June 2003,
offset by the payment of $3.4 million in prepaid financing costs.

February 2003 Notes Financing. On February 26, 2003 we entered into a Securities Purchase
Agreement for the private placement of Senior Exchangeable Convertible Notes (“February Notes”) in the
principal amount of $21.25 million. The February Notes accrued interest at a rate of 4% per year. The
principal amount of the February Notes was repayable in four equal quarterly installments beginning nine
months after the closing of the transaction. The February Notes were, at the option of the investors, in
whole or in part, (a) convertible into shares of our common stock at a fixed conversion price of $4.25 per
share, and (b) exchangeable for up to 2,634,211 shares of common stock of AVI that we own (the “AVI
Shares”) at a fixed exchange price of $5.00 per share. In connection with the issuance of the February Notes,
we also issued warrants to the note holders for the purchase of an aggregate of 1,997,500 shares of our
common stock. These warrants will be exercisable for a term of five years at an exercise price of $5.00 per
share.

June 2003 Notes Financing and February Notes Restructuring. On June 24, 2003, we closed a private
placement transaction in which we issued the June Notes, in the aggregate principal amount of
$21.25 million, to the same holders of our outstanding February Notes. The June Notes were payable in
four equal quarterly installments beginning March 31, 2004, and accrued interest at a rate of 4% per year.
Pursuant to the terms of the June Notes, the note holders could elect to convert, at any time prior to
maturity, their June Notes into shares of our common stock at a fixed price of $6.36. We could also elect to
pay the principal and interest then due under the June Notes, subject to certain conditions, through the
issuance of shares of our common stock at a conversion price equal to: (a) with respect to the interest
payment, 95% of the arithmetic average of the weighted average price of our common stock on each of the
five consecutive trading days immediately preceding payment and (b) with respect to the principal
payment, as of any date of determination, 90% of the arithmetic average of the weighted average price of
our common stock on any 15 trading days designated by the note holders during the 20 trading days
immediately preceding such date. In addition, the note holders had a right of first refusal to purchase their
pro rata portion of the greater of one-third of the securities offered by us for sale or $5.0 million worth of
such offered securities.

Concurrent with the issuance of the June Notes, we restructured our outstanding February Notes.
Pursuant to the restructuring, the holders of the February Notes converted half of the principal amount
($10.6 million) plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon into shares of our common stock at the fixed
conversion price of $4.25, thereby causing the remaining $10.6 million principal amount of the outstanding
February Notes to have a final maturity date of February 26, 2004. The remaining February Notes were
amended to remove the feature permitting the holders to exchange such notes into the AVI shares at an
exchange price of $5.00, and to remove our ability to use the AVI shares valued at market at the time of
repayment to repay the outstanding principal amount. '

In addition, in connection with the issuance of the June Notes and the restructuring of the
February Notes, we issued to the note holders warrants to purchase the 2,634,211 AVI shares at an
exercise price of $5.00 per share.
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During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we issued 4.8 million and 3.9 million shares of
our common stock, respectively, in payment of principal and interest on the February and June Notes. As
of December 31, 2004, all principal from both the February Notes and June Notes was repaid.

March 2004 Private Placement. On March 5, 2004, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement
with several investors for the private placement of shares of unregistered common stock and warrants. In
connection with this agreement, we issued 4.9 million shares of our common stock to the investors at a per
share price of $7.00, for an aggregate purchase amount of $34.3 million, and warrants to purchase 735,000
shares of our common stock. The warrants have a term of five years and a per share exercise price of
$10.00. As compensation ta the placement agent, we paid the placement agent $1.7 million in cash, which
was treated as part of the cost of the offering. Net proceeds from the offering were $32.5 million.

Stock Purchase and License Agreements with MGIL. In September 2004, we executed a Stock Purchase
Agreement and License Agreement with MGI. In accordance with the Stock Purchase Agreement, we
issued 4 million shares of our common stock to MGI at $10.00 per share, for aggregate proceeds totaling
$40.0 million. In connection with this transaction, we paid the placement agent, The Kriegsman Group,
$3.2 million in cash and issued Kriegsman a warrant exercisable for 400,000 shares of our common stock at
an exercise price of $10.00 per share.

Our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period
Total < 1year 1-3 years 4-5 years After S years
Operating leases, net ....o.vvvvreeneennnnnns $11,140 $2,116 $6,858 $2,166 $—
Long term obligations—contractually obligated
researchfunding ......................... 1,050 300 730 20 .
Total contractual cash obligations . ........... $12,190 $2,416 $7,588 $2,186 $—

The operating lease obligations noted above are net of sublease income of $163,000. The contractually
obligated research funding noted above consists primarily of required payments to Peregrine and Skye
Pharma. We are also obligated to potentially spend up to $88.0 million in milestone and development
related payments to AVI and Peregrine for development of Avicine and VEGF technologies, respectively.
We are unable to determine precisely when and if our payment obligations under our agreements with
AVI and Peregrine will become due as these obligations are based on milestone events the achievement of
which is subject to a significant number of risks and uncertainties. Because some of the milestone events
are revenue-related and payment obligation would not be triggered absent our receipt of revenues from
the relationship, we may be able to use funds generated from these relationships to make the milestone
payments.

We have financed our operations primarily through the issuance of equity and debt securities and the
receipt of milestone payments in connection with collaborative agreements. We believe that our current
cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and other investments will satisfy our cash requirements
through at least December 31, 2006. We may pursue additional financing options, including the selling of
additional shares of stock in public or private offerings.

We believe that our need for additional funding will increase in the future, especially if we acquire
new product technologies for development and sale, and our ability to continue raising funds from external
sources will be critical to our success. We continue to actively consider future contractual arrangements
that would require significant financial commitments. If we experience currently unanticipated cash
requirements, we could require additional capital much sooner than presently anticipated. We may raise
money by the sale of our equity securities or debt, or the exercise of outstanding warrants and stock
options by the holders of such warrants or options. However, given uncertain market conditions and the
volatility of our stock price, we may not be able to sell our securities in public offerings or private
placements at prices and on terms that are favorable to us, if at all. We may also choose to obtain funding
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through licensing and other contractual agreements. Such arrangements may require us to relinquish our
rights to our technologies, products or marketing territories, or to grant licenses on terms that are not
favorable to us. If we fail to obtain adequate funding in a timely manner, or at all, we will be forced to scale
back our product development activities, or our operations in a manner that will ensure we can discharge
our obligations as they come due in the ordinary course of business at least through December 31, 2006.

Related Party Transactions
EuroGen Pharmaceuticals Ltd.

In September 2001, we entered into a Supply and Distribution Agreement with EuroGen
Pharmaceuticals Ltd., a company incorporated and registered in England and Wales. Under the
agreement, we granted EuroGen the exclusive European and South African rights to promote and sell
certain of our existing generic and other products or compounds. The agreement also establishes a process
for granting EuroGen rights to sell additional products in Europe and South Africa, subject to our
compliance with our other existing licensing and distribution arrangements. After complying with these
existing obligations, we will be required to offer EuroGen the option to obtain European and South
African rights to our future products. EuroGen will seek and pay for all necessary regulatory approvals and
authorizations necessary for the commercial sale of the products in the territories where they market and
sell the products. In December 2002, we became 95% owners of EuroGen. The remaining 5% is owned by
Larry Johnson, the President and CEO of EuroGen. The results of EuroGen are included in our
consolidated operations in Selling, general and administrative expenses. During the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, we have recorded expenses of $3,170,000, $2,269,000 and $325,000,
respectively, related to EuroGen.

KineMed, Inc.

In November 2001, we made an equity investment of $150,000 to acquire 100,000 shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred stock of KineMed, Inc. (“KineMed”), a start-up biotech company. In March 2003,
we made an additional equity investment of $30,000 to acquire an additional 15,000 shares. The president
and chief executive officer of KineMed is a former director of SuperGen. Our current president and chief
executive officer is a member of the board of directors of KineMed. We accounted for this investment
under the cost method as our ownership is less than 20% of KineMed’s outstanding shares. At
December 31, 2004, this investment was included on the balance sheet in Investment in stock of related
parties. During 2005, we determined that the value of this investment was impaired due to the uncertain
viability of KineMed as a going concern. As a result, the entire cost of the investment of $180,000 was
charged to Selling, general, and administrative expense in 2005.

In late 2004, we reached an agreement with KineMed whereby we granted them exclusive worldwide
rights to the development, manufacture, commercialization and distribution of proprietary property we
own relating to etiocholoandeione and etiocholanolone compounds. Under the terms of the license
agreement and upon successful commercialization, we could earn future royalty revenue on worldwide
sales. In addition, we have termination rights and rights of first refusal on new oncological uses.

AVI BioPharma, Inc.

In December 1999, we entered into an agreement with AVI BioPharma, Inc. At the time, the chief
executive officer of AVI was a member of our Board of Directors. He later resigned from our Board in
May 2002. The former president and chief executive officer of SuperGen was a member of the Board of
Directors of AVI through March 2004. Under the terms of the agreement, we acquired one million shares
of AVI common stock, which amounted to approximately 7.5% of AVI’s outstanding common stock, for
$2.5 million cash and 100,000 shares of our common stock at $28.25 per share. We also acquired exclusive
negotiating rights for the United States market for Avicine, AVI’s proprietary cancer vaccine currently in
late-stage clinical testing against a variety of solid tumors. Avicine is a non-toxic immunotherapy that
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neutralizes the effect of a tumor-associated antigen on cancer cells, while stimulating the body’s immune
system to react against the foreign tumor.

In July 2000, we finalized an agreement with AVI to obtain the U.S. marketing rights for Avicine. We
issued 347,826 shares of our common stock along with $5 million in cash to AVI as payment for our
investment, in exchange for 1,684,211 shares of AVI common stock. As part of this agreement, we
obtained the right of first discussion to all of AVI’s oncology compounds and an option to acquire an
additional 10% of AVI’s common stock for $35.625 per share. This option is exercisable for a three-year
period commencing on the earlier of the date the FDA accepts the NDA submitted for Avicine or the date
on which the closing price of AVI's common stock exceeds the option exercise price. We have accounted
for the investment in AVI under the cost method as our ownership is less than 20% of AVI’s outstanding
shares and is classified as available-for-sale. No value has been ascribed to the option as neither of the
measurements have been achieved as of December 31, 2005.

Avicine will require significant additional expenditures to complete the clinical development necessary
to gain marketing approval from the FDA and equivalent foreign regulatory agencies. As part of this
agreement, we are obligated to make additional payments to AVI based on successful achievement of
developmental, regulatory approval, and commercialization milestones over the next several years that
could total $80 million. In 2003 and 2002, we recorded $144,000 and $421,000, respectively, in research and
development expenses for Avicine. At December 31, 2005, the sum of these expenses, or $565,000, was still
payable and is presented on the balance sheet as Payable to AVI BioPharma, Inc.

Quark Biotech, Inc.

Our current president and chief executive officer is a former director and our former president and
chief executive officer is currently a director and both are stockholders of Quark Biotech, Inc. (“QBI”), a
privately-held development stage biotechnology company. In June 1997, we made an equity investment of
$500,000 in QBI’s preferred stock, which represents less than 1% of the company’s outstanding shares as of
December 31, 2001. Our investment in QBI is carried at cost and is included in “Investment in stock of
related parties.”

In January 2002, we subleased a portion of our laboratory space to QBI. During 2003 we collected
$56,000 in sublease income from QBI. The initial term of the sublease expired on December 31, 2002, but
we continued to sublease the space to QBI on a month-to-month basis until August 2003.

The Kriegsman Group

In March 2001, we retained The Kriegsman Group to render advice and assistance with respect to
financial, public relations and promotional services. In addition, in connection with such services, on
March 22, 2001, we issued three warrants to The Kriegsman Group, two of which are still outstanding, and
as amended in February 2003, the terms of the warrants are as follows: the “A” warrant for the purchase of
200,000 shares of common stock is exercisable at the exercise price of $10.47 per share, and the “C”
warrant for the purchase of 100,000 shares of common stock is exercisable at the exercise price of $10.47
per share. On July 25, 2002, our former president and chief executive officer became a member of the
board of directors of CytRx Corp. Steven Kriegsman, the president of The Kriegsman Group, is also a
significant shareholder and president and chief executive officer of CytRx Corp. We paid The Kriegsman
Group consulting fees of $220,000 in 2003. No consulting fees were paid to Kriegsman in 2004 or 2005.

In 2004, The Kriegsman Group acted as the placement agent in our stock purchase and license
agreements with MGI, and we paid Kriegsman $3.2 million in cash and issued Kriegsman a warrant
exercisable for 400,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $10.00 per share. The warrant
will be exercisable for a term of five years, and we have registered for resale the common stock issuable
upon exercise of the warrant. We calculated the fair value of the warrant issued to Kriegsman at
$1,436,000, using the Black-Scholes model.
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Family Relationships

We employ a number of individuals who are immediate family members of Dr. Joseph Rubinfeld, a
5% stockholder and our former president and chief executive officer, who also served as chief scientist and
chairman emeritus during 2004. None of these family members are our officers or directors. Dr. Rubinfeld
resigned as chief scientist and chairman emeritus in January 2005.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which replaces
SFAS 123 and supersedes APB 25. SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including
grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values, In
accordance with a SEC rule issued in April 2005, companies will be allowed to implement SFAS 123R as of
the beginning of the first interim or annual period that begins after June 15, 2005. Under SFAS 123R, we
must determine the appropriate fair value model to be used for valuing share-based payments, the
amortization method for compensation cost, and the transition method to be used at date of adoption. The
permitted transition methods include the following:

¢ A “modified prospective” method in which compensation cost is recognized based on the
requirements of SFAS 123R for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and based
on the requirements of SFAS 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of
SFAS 123R that remain unvested on the effective date.

¢ A “modified retrospective” method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective
method described above, but also permits the restatement, based on amounts previously recognized
under SFAS 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures, either (a) all prior periods presented or
(b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption.

We will adopt SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective method and the Black
Scholes valuation model. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS 123 no longer will
be an alternative to financial statement recognition, and thus our financial results will be negatively
affected by the adoption of this standard beginning in 2006, although it will have no cash impact on our
overall financial position. The impact of adoption of SFAS 123R is expected to be material to our financial
statements; however, the actual expense may not be comparable to the amount in the pro forma
disclosures because it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future, and the
assumptions used to value the share-based payments.

Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2005, we have net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of
approximately $305 million which expire in the years 2006 through 2025, and federal research and
development credit carryforwards of approximately $7.9 million, which expire in the years 2018 through
202s.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Due to the short-term nature of our interest bearing assets, which consist primarily of certificates of
deposit, United States corporate obligations, and United States government obligations, we believe that
our exposure to interest rate market risk would not significantly affect our operations.

Our investment policy is to manage our marketable securities portfolio to preserve principal and
liquidity while maximizing the return on the investment portfolio. Our marketable securities portfolio is
primarily invested in corporate debt securities with an average maturity of under one year and a minimum
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investment grade rating of A or A-1 or better to minimize credit risk. Although changes in interest rates
may affect the fair value of the marketable securities portfolio and cause unrealized gains or losses, such
gains or losses would not be realized unless the investments were to be sold prior to maturity.

As part of our June 2003 convertible debt transaction, we issued to the note holders warrants to
purchase 2,634,211 shares of common stock of AVI at $5.00 per share. These warrants are considered a
derivative and were valued on the balance sheet at $10.1 million using the Black-Scholes method on
June 24, 2003. As of December 31, 2005, the value of the derivative had declined to $1.8 million. As the
fair value of the common stock of AVT has fluctuated significantly in the past two years, the valuation of
the derivative may have a significant impact on our results of operations.

We operate primarily in the United States and all product sales are denominated in U.S. dollars.
Accordingly, we do not have any exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

All information required by this item is included on pages F-1 to F-27 in Item 15 of Part IV of this
Report and is incorporated into this item by reference.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Based on their evaluation as of December 31, 2005, our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) were effective to ensure the
information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the securities exchange
act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief
financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework (“the COSO Framework™). Our management has concluded that, as of
December 31, 2005, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on these criteria.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their report which is included below.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2005 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal
control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
SuperGen, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that SuperGen, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). SuperGen, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurarnce regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that SuperGen, Inc. maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the
COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, SuperGen, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
contro!l over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consclidated balance sheets of SuperGen, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 of SuperGen, Inc. and our report dated
March 13, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 13, 2006
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.

Information regarding our Board of Directors is incorporated by reference to the section entitled
“Election of Directors” appearing in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the Commission by April 28, 2006 (the “Proxy Statement™).

The names of our executive officers and their ages, titles and biographies as of March 10, 2006 are set
forth below.

Executive Officers

Name Age  Position

James S. J. Manuso, Ph.D.................... 57  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Edward L. Jacobs ...............coovviatt. 59  Chief Operating Officer

Audrey Jakubowski, Ph.D.................... 63  Chief Regulatory and Quality Officer

Michael Molkentin ..................ooi.... 51  Chief Financial Officer

James S.J. Manuso, Ph.D., has served as our president and chief executive officer since January 1,
2004, as our chief executive officer-elect from September 2003 to December 2003 and as a director since
February 2001. Dr. Manuso is co-founder and immediate past president and chief executive officer of
Galenica Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Dr. Manuso co-founded and was general partner of PrimeTech Partners, a
biotechnology venture management partnership, from 1998 to 2002, and Managing General Partner of The
Channel Group LLC, an international life sciences corporate advisory firm. He was also president of
Manuso, Alexander & Associates, Inc., management consultants and financial advisors to pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies. He currently serves on the board of privately-held KineMed, Inc.
Previously, he served on the boards of Inflazyme Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Symbiontics, Inc., Quark
Biotech, Inc., Galenica Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Supratek Pharma, Inc. Dr. Manuso earned a B.A. with
Honors in Economics and Chemistry from New York University, a Ph.D. in Experimental
Psychophysiology from the Graduate Faculty of The New School University, a Certificate in Health
Systems Management from Harvard Business School, and an Executive M.B.A. from Columbia Business
School. Dr. Manuso is the author of over 30 chapters, articles and books on topics including health care
cost containment and biotechnology company management. He has taught and lectured at Columbia, New
York University, Georgetown, Polytechnic University, and Waseda University (Japan). He has delivered
invited addresses at meetings of the American Management Association, the American Medical '
Association, the Securities Industry Association, the Biotechnology Industry Organization, and many other
professional associations.

Edward L. Jacobs rejoined us in October 2001 as chief business officer and chief financial officer, and
in October 2003 became our chief operating officer. From February 2001 through September 2001, he
served as president and chief executive officer of ETEX Corporation. He originally came to us as executive
vice president, commercial operations in March 1999 and served in that position until January 2001. Prior
10 joining us in 1999 Mr. Jacobs served as senior vice president, commercial operations at Sequus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from November 1997 to March 1999. Between January 1995 and November 1997,
Mr. Jacobs served as president and chief executive officer of Trilex Pharmaceuticals Inc., now Titan
Pharmaceuticals, Prior to his association with Trilex, Mr. Jacobs served in a variety of senior management
positions with pharmaceutical companies, including chief executive at Transplant Therapeutics Inc., vice
president and general manager of Syncor International Inc., vice president at NEORX Corporation,
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business director of Pharmacia Corp., The Upjohn Company (Adria Labs, Inc.) and Johnson & Johnson
(McNeil). Mr. Jacobs received a B.A. in Political Science/Journalism from California State University at
Northridge.

Audrey Jakubowski, Ph.D., joined us as vice president, regulatory affairs in August 1998 and served in
that capacity until October 2003 when she became senior vice president, regulatory affairs. In
January 2004, she was also given responsibility for quality assurance and was named Chief Regulatory and
Quality Officer. Prior to joining us, Dr. Jakubowski was vice president, regulatory affairs and quality at
Systemix, Inc. from June 1996 to July 1998. From October 1989 through June 1996, Dr. Jakubowski was
executive director and then vice president of worldwide regulatory affairs for The DuPont Merck
Pharmaceutical Company. From November 1979 through October 1989, Dr. Jakubowski was first director
of regulatory affairs, dermatology products at Westwood Pharmaceuticals, followed by director of
international regulatory affairs, R&D products for Bristol Myers’ research and development division. Prior
to that, Dr. Jakubowski completed post-doctoral fellowships in molecular biclogy at the Roswell Park
Memorial Institute and clinical endocrinology at Buffalo Children’s Hospital. Dr. Jakubowski received her
Ph.D. in physical chemistry at SUNY Buffalo and her B.A. at Seton Hill College.

Michael Molkentin joined us as chief financial officer and corporate secretary in October 2003. Prior to
joining us, Mr. Molkentin served as interim chief financial officer at Aradigm Corporation from May 2000
to September 2002. From January 1995 to April 2000, Mr. Molkentin served as division controller for
Thermo Finnigan Corporation, a subsidiary of Thermo Electron. Mr. Molkentin served in a variety of
financial management positions with technology companies, including field controller of Vanstar
Corporation, controller of Republic Telcom Systems, Inc. and corporate controller of Computer
Automation, Inc. Mr. Molkentin is a CPA and received a B.B.A. in accounting from Bernard M. Baruch
College in New York City, New York.

Audit Committee Financial Expert
Information regarding the financial expert(s) on the Audit Committee is incorporated by reference to
the Proxy Statement.

Audit Committee

Information regarding the Audit Committee is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.

Code of Ethics
Information regarding the Code of Ethics is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

Information regarding Corporate Governance Guidelines is incorporated by reference to the Proxy
Statement.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Information regarding Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance is set forth under
“Voting Securities of Principal Stockholders and Management” in the Proxy Statement, which information
is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Information regarding executive compensation is incorporated by reference to the information set
forth under the caption “Executive Compensation” in the Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is
incorporated by reference to the information set forth under the caption “Voting Securities of Principal
Stockholders and Management” in the Proxy Statement. Information regarding our Equity Compensation
Plans may be found in Part II, Item 5 of this report.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated by reference to
the information set forth under the caption “Certain Transactions” in the Proxy Statement. Certain of our
relationships and related transactions are addressed in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section of this report.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

Information regarding principal auditor fees and services is set forth under “Principal Accounting
Fees and Services” in the Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. All Financial Statements:

The following financial statements and the Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm, are included in Part IV of this Report on the pages indicated: :

JPage
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. ........................ F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets .. .. ..ottt ittt ittt ieiie e, F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations. . .........oiiviit it vrierenneineennn.. F-3
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity......................... F4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. . .......... oo i i, F-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements............... .. ... i, F-6

2. Financial Statement Schedules:

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the
consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

3.  Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number Description of Document
(3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant,
(ff)3.2  Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended and restated through May 30, 2001.
(m)4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate.
(1)10.1  Form of Indemmification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its directors and
officers.
(**)(cc)10.2 1993 Stock Option Plan (as amended through July 11, 2000).
(**) ()10.3  Forms of stock option agreements under the 1993 Stock Option Plan.
(**)(n)10.4 1996 Directors’ Stock Option Plan, as amended effective February 7, 2001,
(**)()10.5 2003 Stock Plan, as amended effective March 10, 2005.
(**)(s)10.6 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended effective March 1, 2004.
(*)(©)10.7 Patent License and Royalty Agreement dated August 30, 1993 between the Registrant and
The Jackson Laboratory.
(*)(b)10.8  Worldwide License Agreement dated March 1, 1994 between the Registrant and Janssen
Biotech, N.V.
(*)(b)10.9 Patent License Agreement dated March 1, 1994 between the Registrant and Cyclex Inc.
(*)(b)10.10  Patent License and Royalty Agreement dated November 15, 1993 between the Registrant
and The Long Island Jewish Medical Center.
(*)(b)10.11  License Agreement dated February 1, 1995 between the Registrant and Pharmos
Corporation.
(*)(u)10.12  Know-How Transfer and Cooperation Agreement dated September 10, 1999 between the
Registrant and Pharmachemie B.V.
(**)(a)10.13  Executive Employment and Confidential Information and Invention Assignment
Agreement dated January 1, 2004 between Registrant and James Manuso.
(£)10.14  Office Building Lease dated June 23, 2000 between the Registrant and Koll Dublin

Corporate Center, 1.P.
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document
(d)10.15 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of September 30, 1996 between the Registrant and
Warner-Lambert Company, a Delaware corporation.
(*)(e)10.16  Asset Purchase Agreement dated January 15, 1997 between the Registrant and Immunex
Corporation, a Washington corporation.
(*)(x)10.17  Drug Substance Validation and Supply Agreement dated July 2, 2003.
(*)(2)10.18 License Agreement between Inflazyme Pharmaceuticals Ltd. and the Registrant dated
April 11, 1997.
(*)(g)10.19  Nonexclusive Supply Agreement between the Registrant and Yunnan Hande
Technological Development Co. Ltd. dated May 7, 1997.
(h)10.20  Convertible Secured Note, Option and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated June 17, 1997
among the Registrant, Tako Ventures, LLC and, solely as to Sections 5.3 and 5.5 thereof,
Lawrence J. Ellison (the “Tako Purchase Agreement”).
(r)10.21 Amendment No. 1 to the Tako Purchase Agreement dated March 17, 1999.
(r)10.22  Stock Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and Tako dated January 29, 1999.
(*)(§)10.23  License Agreement between Stehlin Foundation for Cancer Research and the Registrant
dated September 3, 1997.
(*)(ee)10.24 Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement dated November 1, 1999 between the Registrant
and the Stehlin Foundation for Cancer Research.
(*)(k)10.25  Supply Agreement dated October 20, 1997 between the Registrant and Warner-Lambert
Company.
(0)10.26 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among the Registrant, Royale Acquisition
Corp., and Sparta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated January 18, 1999.
(w)10.27  First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among the Registrant,
Royale Acquisition Corp. and Sparta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated May 15, 1999.
(r)10.28  Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease dated February 12, 1999 between the
Registrant and Sea Cliff Properties, a California general partnership (for the premises at
1075 Serpentine Lane, Pleasanton, California, Suite A).
(n10.29 Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Lease dated February 12, 1999 between the
Registrant and Sea Cliff Properties, a California general partnership (for the premises at
1075 Serpentine Lane, Pleasanton, California, Suite B).
(*)(z)10.30  U.S. Distribution Agreement, Dated December 21, 1999 between the Registrant and
Abbott Laboratories.
(aa)10.31 Registration Rights Agreement dated December 15, 1999 between the Registrant and
AVI BioPharma, Inc.
(aa)10.32  Subscription Agreement dated December 1, 1999 between the Registrant and AVI
BioPharma, Inc.
(ee)10.33 Common Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated April 4, 2000 between the
Registrant and AVI BioPharma, Inc.
(ee)10.34  United States of America Sales, Distribution, and Development Agreement dated April 4,
2000 between the Registrant and AVI BioPharma, Inc.
(dd)10.35 Registration Rights Agreement dated April 4, 2000 between the registrant and AVI
BioPharma, Inc.
(ee)10.36  Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 18, 2000 between the Registrant and AMUR
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(e€)10.37 Patent and Intellectual Property Assignment Agreement dated September 27, 2000
between the Registrant and AMUR Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(*)(gg)10.38  Supply and Distribution Agreement dated September 21, 2001 between the Registrant and

EuroGen Pharmaceuticals Ltd.
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document
(hh)10.39 Termination and Release Agreement dated March 4, 2002 between the Registrant and
Abbott Laboratories.
(i)10.40  Securities Purchase Agreement dated September 23, 2002 by and between the Registrant
and the purchasers named therein.
(ii)10.41 Registration Rights Agreement dated September 23, 2002 by and between the Registrant
and the purchasers named therein.
(i)10.42 Form of Warrant dated September 24, 2002 issued to the purchasers under the Securities
Purchase Agreement dated September 23, 2002.
(i)10.43  Warrant dated September 24, 2002 issued Paul Revere LLC.
(jj)10.44 Registration Rights Agreement dated March 22, 2001 by and between the Registrant and
The Kriegsman Group.
(j)10.45 Warrant A Agreement dated March 22, 2001 by and between the Registrant and The
Kriegsman Group.
(bb)10.46  Securities Purchase Agreement dated February 26, 2003 by and among the Registrant and
the purchasers named therein.
(bb)10.47 Form of Senior Exchangeable/Convertible Note dated February 26, 2003 issued to the
purchasers under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated February 26, 2003.
(bb)10.48 Registration Rights Agreement dated February 26, 2003 by and among the Registrant and
‘ the purchasers named therein.
(bb)10.49  Form of Warrant dated February 26, 2003 issued to the purchasers under the Securities
Purchase Agreement dated February 26, 2003.
(bb)10.50  Pledge Agreement dated February 26, 2003 executed by the Registrant in favor of the
purchasers under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated February 26, 2003.
(bb)10.51 Securities Account Control Agreement dated February 26, 2003 by and among the
Registrant, the purchasers named therein, and Mellon Investor Services LLC.
(*)(m)10.52  License Agreement dated February 13, 2001 between the Registrant and Peregrine
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(v)10.53  Securities Purchase Agreement dated June 24, 2003 by and among the Registrant and the
purchasers named therein.
(¥)10.54 Form of Senior Convertible Note dated June 24, 2003 issued to the purchasers under the
Securities Purchase Agreement dated June 24, 2003.
(y)10.55 Registration Rights Agreement dated June 24, 2003 by and among the Registrant and the
purchasers named therein.
(y)10.56 Form of Warrant dated June 24, 2003 issued to the purchasers under the Securities
Purchase Agreement dated June 24, 2003.
(v)10.57 Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement dated June 24, 2003 executed by the
Registrant in favor of the purchasers under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated
June 24, 2003.
(v)10.58 Amended and Restated Securities Account Control Agreement dated June 24, 2003 by
and among the Registrant, the purchasers named thereln and Mellon Investor Services
LLC.
(v)10.59  Collateral Account Agreement dated June 24, 2003.
(v)10.60 Conversion and Amendment Agreement dated June 24, 2003.
(9)10.61 Amended and Restated Convertible Notes dated June 24, 2003.
(c)10.62  Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of March 5, 2004 by and among the Registrant
and the purchasers named therein. '
(c)10.63 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of March 5, 2004 by and among the Registrant

and the purchasers named therein.
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Exhibit
Number Description of Document

(*)(p)10.65

(©)10.64 Form of Warrant dated as of March 5, 2004 for issuance under the Securities Purchase
Agreement dated March 5, 2004 by and among the Registrant and the purchasers named
therein.

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated February 17, 2004 between the Registrant and Pfizer
Inc.

(*)(q)10.66 Amended and Restated License Agreement effective September 21, 2004 between the

~ Registrant and MGI PHARMA, Inc.
(9)10.67 Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 31, 2004 between the Registrant and
MGI PHARMA, Inc.
(9)10.68 . Investor Rights Agreement dated August 31, 2004 between the Registrant and MGI
PHARMA, Inc.
(9)10.69 Warrant dated September 22, 2004 issued to The Kriegsman Group.
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer under Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. :
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002,
32.1 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. :

*)

Confidential treatment has been previously granted for certain portions of these exhibits.

(**) Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

(2)

(®)

(c)
G
(¢)
®
(®
()

(i)

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 4, 2004.

Incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form SB-2 (Reg. No. 333-476-LA) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission February 26,
1996.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 10, 2004.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 15, 1996.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 31, 1997.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 11, 2000.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 15, 1997.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on July 2, 1997.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Repdrt on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 13, 1997.
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1)

(k)

®

Incorporated by reference from Amendment No. 2 on Form S-3 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form SB-2 (Reg. No. 333-476-LA) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on October 6, 1997.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 31, 1997.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 31, 2003.

(m) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-K/A filed with the Securities and

(n)
(0)
@
(@
()
(s)
0
W
V)
(W)
)
)

@

Exchange Commission on May 12, 2003.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Proxy Statement filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 17, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 28, 1999.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 10, 2004.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 9, 2004.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 31, 1999.

Incorporated by reference fro the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
No. 333-120505) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 15, 2004,

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
No. 333-127073) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 1, 2005.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 15, 1999.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
No. 333-87369) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17, 1999.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg.
No. 333-80517) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 11, 1999.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 14, 2003.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated June 24, 2003 filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 25, 2003.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K/A dated December 22, 1999
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 7, 2000.

(aa) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form $-3 (Reg.

No. 333-95177) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 21, 2000.

(bb) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated February 26, 2003 filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 27, 2003.
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(cc) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg.
No. 333-44736) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 29, 2000.

(dd) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Reg.
No. 333-52326) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 20, 2000.

(ee) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 23, 2001.

(ff) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001.

(gg) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 14, 2001.

(bh) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated March 4, 2002 filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 8, 2002.

(ii) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K dated September 23, 2002 filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 1, 2002.

(jj) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Reg.
No. 333-100707) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 24, 2002.

(b) Exhibits. See Item 15(a) above.

(¢) Financial Statement Schedules. See Item 15(a) above.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
SuperGen, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SuperGen, Inc. as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of SuperGen, Inc. at December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of SuperGen, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 13,
2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 13, 2006
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SUPERGEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,
2005 2004
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashandcashequivalents...........cooviiitieieniiniiiieiennannans $ 47,664 $ 38,394
Marketable SECUITTIES . ... v et ittt it i ettt — 18,235
Accounts receivable, net .. ...t e e e e 5,576 4,926
Development revenue receivable from MGI PHARMA, Inc............... 550 12,809
B 01075010 o = 1,439 3,306
Prepaid expenses and other currentassets.................. .ot 1,407 1,403
Total current assets. .......ooovevveenn. et et e e 56,636 79,073
Marketable securities, RON-CUITENE . . ...\ v tteiiiiee et eiinneennnns 147 188
Investment in stock of related parties . ..........coooiiiii i 673 798
Due from related parties, non-current . ...... e 52 93
Property, plant and equipment, net........... e e 2,907 3,635
GoodWill . .. e e e e 731 731
Otherintangibles, net. ... ... i i i e e e 290 677
Restricted cash and investments, non-current. .........ooveviveererinnnnnn. 11,805 9,432
Other @SS . .ttt e e e 30 30
Total assets $ 73271 $ 94,657
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ...................coiiiiia... $ 3391 $§ 4,644
Derivative lability. . . ... e e 1,817 1,607
Payable to AVI BioPharma, Inc. ............ ..o 565 565
Deferred reVenUE . ..ottt et i e e e e e _ 11,572
Accrued payroll and employee benefits ............... o e 2,269 2,129
Total current Habilities. . ...ttt e 8,042 20,517
Deferred rent. ... ..o e e e e 972 927
Total liabilities. ... ..ottt it ettt e e e 9,014 21,444
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.001 par value; 2,000,000 shares authorized; none
OULStANdINgG ...\ ot e e e — —
Common stock, $.001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 51,710,912
and 51,127,314 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively . ... o.u it e e 52 51
Additional paidincapital ........... ... . e 409,365 406,789
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (Ioss) ...t 2,850 99)
Accumulated deficit ... ... i ~(348,010)  (333,528)
Total stockholders’ equity . . .....ovinei i 64,257 73,213
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity. . ................. ... iuae., $ 73271 § 94,657

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SUPERGEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year ended December 31,

2003 2004 2003

Revenues:

Net produCt TEVENUE. . . ..o v vviit it $ 16,059 §$ 13,127 $ 11,437

Development and license revenue from MGI PHARMA, Inc. ..... 13,353 18,866 —_

Distribution agreement and other revenue ...................... 757 — 57

T Ot TEVEIMUES . . o v vttt it ittty 30,169 31,993 11,494

Costs and operating expenses:

Costof product revenue. . ........oovviniiiiiiiiiiiiiiininne. 3,051 4,135 3,865

Research and development. ... ... ..ot ennnnn. 15,059 23,978 26,312

Selling, general, and administrative.................ooovin., 28,046 28,800 24,436

Total costs and operating eXpenses ............oovvuieinninns, 46,156 56,913 54,613

Loss from operations .. .....coovvieiimii it e (15987)  (24,920) (43,119)
INtEreSt INCOMIE o\ vttt ee ittt ittt et ettt et iecienaeeeaanaas 1,727 624 474
Interest eXpense. . .. ... cuu it s — (2,338) (3,981)
Amortization of deemed discount on convertible debt............... —  (12,657) (13,738)
Other than temporary decline in value of investments............... (11)  (7,851) —
Change in valuation of derivatives. ..........cooeverinueniiiennn.. (211 282 6,894
Nt lOSS . oottt e e $(14,482) $(46,860) $(53,470)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share....................... $ (028 $ (1.04) $§ (1.56)
Weighted average shares used in basic and diluted net loss per

common share calculation..........coi it 51,309 44,953 34,276

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SUPERGEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Stock Paid in Deferred Comprehensive  Accumulated

Comprehensive loss:

Shares  Amount Capital Compensation Gain (Loss) Deficit Total
Balances at January 1,2003. . ....... ... .o 32,893 $33 $282,010 5(475 (796) $(233,198) ¥ 48,002

Netloss .. v et it i erennaaen — — (53,470) (53,470)
Other comprehensive loss—Change in unrealized
gain (loss)on investments. . ... ........... — — — — (2,304) —_ 2.304
Comprehensiveloss. ...................o... (55,%74)

Issuance of common stock upon conversion of senior.
convertible notes and payment of related

i ¢ S PN 3,889 4 16,706 — — — 16,710
Issuance of common stock to Peregrine
Pharmaceuticals in connection with license
AGEEEMENt. . o vt ie it 62 — 200 — — — 200
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
options, net of 39 shares surrendered as
PrOCEEdS . .o i vt e 361 - 1,108 — — — 1,108
Issuance of common stock in connection with
employee stock purchaseplan. . ............. 83 - 308 -_ —_ — 308
Amortization of deferred compensation......... — — — 6 — — 6
Reversal of deferred compensation due to employee
termination . .......... ... oo — - (41) 41 — - —
Compensation expense from stock option and
warrant grants to consultants and vendots . . .. . . — —_ 250 — — —_ 250
Compensation expense from issuance of warrants to
placement agent of senior convertible notes ... . - — 1,440 — — - 1,440
Beneficial conversion of warrants issued in
connection with issuance of senior convertible
4T =7 S — — 13,995 — — —_ 13,995
Compensation expense related to acceleration of
stockoptiongrants. . ........... .00 .euns — — 1,493 — — —_ 1,493
Repurchase of common stock. . ............... (266) e (891) —_ — — 891
Balances at December 31,2003 ................. 37,022 37 316,578 — (3,100) 286,668) 26,847
Comprehensive loss:
L L - — — - - (46,860)  (46,860)
Other than temporary decline in value of
INVESIEENtS . . o v ittt et e e —_ — — — 7,851 — 7,851
Other comprehensive loss—Change in unrealized
gain (loss) on investments................ — — — —_ (4,850) - (4,850)
Comprehensiveloss. ............ooeian.. (43,859)
Issuance of common stock upon conversion of senior .
convertible notes and payment of related
IMEETESE . . oo vt ii s e e e s anansennas 4,750 5 26,788 — — — 26,793
Issuance of common stock to MGI Pharma, net of
offering costs of $2,058. . .. ........... ... 4,000 4 23,658 — — — 23,662
Issuance of common stock and warrants in private
placement, net of offering costs of $1,775 ... ... 4,900 5 32,520 — — — 32,525

Issuance of common stock to Peregrine

Pharmaceuticals in connection with license

B4 4t 1113 11 S 19 — 200 — — — 200
Issuance of common stock to Stehlin Foundation for

milestone payment in connection with license

AZIEEMENt . . . o oot v e nein e 64 — 500 — — — 500
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock

options, net of 14 shares surrendered as

PIOCEEAS « v vt s 311 — 1,220 — — — 1,220
Issuance of common stock in connection with
employee stock purchaseplan. . ............. 61 — 342 — — — 342
Compensation expense from stock option and
warrant grants to consultants and vendors. . .. .. - — 200 — - - 200
Net change in valuation of warrants issued in
connection with private placement . .......... —_ — 3,616 —_ - — 3,616
Compensation expense from issuance of warrants to
placement agent of MGI Pharma stock issuance . — - 513 - - — 513
Compensation expense related to acceleration of .
Stock Option gramts. . . .......o.oviiiiinn.n o — 654 o — — 654
Balances at December 31,2004 ................. 51,127 1 406,789 —_ [CD)) (333,528) 73,213
Comprehensive loss:
Netloss. . ..o vvuiiir i, — — — — — (14,482) (14,482)
Other than temporary decline in value of
INVEStMEDtS ..ot — —-— — — 11 — 11
Other comprehensive loss—Change in unrealized
gain (loss) oninvestments. . .............. — — — — 2,938 — 2,938
Comprehensiveloss. . ......... ... .o (11,533)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock
OPHONS . ..ottt it i 273 1 924 — — - 925
Issuance of common stock in connection with
employee stock purchaseplan. .............. 52 — 205 — — — 205
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
WAITADES . oot cv it ra e et eniosoenanean 259 — 1,047 — —_ — 1,047
Compensation expense from stock option grants to
consulants . ... ... i i s — — 132 — - — 132
Compensation expense related to acceleration of
stock OptioR Grants. . .., . .ottt o — 268 — — — 268
Balances at December 31,2005 . ................ 51,711 $52 $409,365 = § 2,850 §i348,0 0) 64,257

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SUPERGEN, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
Year ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Operating activities:
L 088, « vt ettt et e et e e $(14,482) $(46,860) $(53,470)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
DEPreciation . ... ..ottt e 834 1,058 1,191
Amortization of prepaid financing costs. . ......... ... oo, — 1,811 3,064
Amortization of intangible assets . ........... ... o o e 387 799 537
Amortization of deferred compensation. ...t — — 6
Amortization of deemed discount on convertibledebt. . .............. .. ... .. ..., — 12,657 13,738
Amortization of deferredrevenue ............. ... oo, (9,905) (2,720) —
Interest on convertible debt paid in commonstock ... — 543 460
Change in valuation of derivatives . .......... ..o 211 (282) (6,894)
Other than temporary decline in value of investments. .....................ou.t. 1 7,851 —
Stock compensation for modification of employee options ................... ..., 268 654 1,493
Expense related to stock options and warrants granted to non-employees ........... 132 200 250
Milestone, license, and research payments made in commonstock................. — 700 200
Write-off of investment in private company . . ...t i 180 — 250
Cash option paid in termination of distribution agreement .. ..................... (1,500) — (500)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable and development revenue receivable ..................... 11,609 (17,228) 4,898
TOVEIEOTIES & o o v o ettt et ettt et e et e e e e 1,867 659 (1,799)
Prepaid expenses and otherassets . .............ooviiii i, 4) 1,030 (521)
Due fromrelated parties . .......ooiiiuiiiiiiiiii i i 41 344 355
Restricted cash and investments. . . ... i (73) (36) 229
Accounts payable and other liabilities . .......... ... .. ... ool (1,068) 1,141 (40)
Deferred TeVENUE . . .. oottt et e e e (167) . 13,138 —
Net cash used in operating activities. . . ...... ..ot e (11,659)  (24,541)  (36,553)
Investing activities:
Purchases of marketable securities . ........... .. ..o i (11,585)  (37,612) (8,056)
Sales or maturities of marketable SECUIItIeS . ... vvv v r ittt i i i 29,845 28,336 13,627
Purchase of intangible assets . ... ...ttt e —_ (1,000) —
Release of restricted cash from collateral account .......... ... ... ... ... 598 10,680 —
Proceeds from convertible debt transferred to restricted cash and investments.......... — — (10,625)
Purchases of property and equipment . .. ..ot e (106) (273) (168)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities. . ............... .. .o 18,752 131 (5,222)
Financing activities:
Proceeds from issnance of common stock, net of issuance costs. .. ........ovveiunn. .. 2,177 57,749 1,415
Prepaid financing Costs ... .. .. vt ettt e — — (3,435)
Proceeds from issuance of convertibledebt. . ........ ... .. i i — — 42,500
Repurchases of common stock . ...t e — — (891)
Net cash provided by financing activities . .. ......... .. ... i 2,177 57,749 39,589
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cashequivalents ................ ...l 9,270 33,339 (2,186)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . .......... ... ... oo ool 38,394 5,055 7,241
Cash and cash equivalents atend of period . . ... i $ 47,664 $ 38394 § 5,055
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities:
Conversion of convertible notes into common stock . .....vvveivnirnrererneenn. $ —  $26250 §$ 16,250
Beneficial conversion and deemed discount in connection with convertible debt . .. ... $ — 3 — $ 26,395
Valuation of warrants issued to placement agent in connection with convertible debt
EPANSACHOMS. . . o o\ttt e e e et et ettt et s n e et $ — 3 — $ 1440
Valuation of warrants issued to placement agent in connection with license agreement. $ — $ 513 % —
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Interest expense paid in cash duringtheyear............... ... it $ — 3 — $ 440

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SUPERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

b 1%

SuperGen, Inc. (“SuperGen,” “we,” “us” or the “Company”) was incorporated in California in
March 1991. We changed our state of incorporation to Delaware in 1997. We are a pharmaceutical
company dedicated to the development and commercialization of oncology therapies for solid tumors,
hematological malignancies and blood disorders. We operate in one industry segment.

Principles of Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of EuroGen Pharmaceuticals Ltd.
(“EuroGen”), Sparta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Sparta”) and two wholly-owned subsidiaries, which are
immaterial. Intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of our cash equivalents and marketable securities are based on quoted market prices.
The carrying values of accounts receivable and accounts payable are considered to be representative of
their respective fair values at December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Revenue Recognition

Our net product revenues relate principally to two pharmaceutical products, with Nipent sales
representing 93% in 2005, 87% in 2004, and 85% in 2003. We recognize sales revenue upon shipment,
provided that title to the products has been transferred at the point of shipment; if title of product
transfers at point of receipt by the customer, revenue is recognized upon customer receipt of the shipment,
and collectibility is reasonably assured, with allowances provided for bad debt and estimated returns.
Beginning in 2005, we have also provided allowances for estimated cash discounts and chargebacks. We
record estimated allowances for sales reserves against product revenues for returns, payment discounts,
and chargebacks based on historical return patterns for returns, contractual terms for discounts and
chargebacks, and expectations regarding utilization rates for these programs. Actual amounts for returns
and allowances, cash discounts, and chargebacks may differ from our estimates and such differences could
be material to the consolidated financial statements. The allowances for bad debt and sales returns were
$175,000 and $275,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The provision for the returns and
allowances was $52,000 in 2005, $63,000 in 2004, and $691,000 in 2003. The allowances for cash discounts
and chargebacks were established in 2005 at $120,000 and $500,000, respectively.

Cash advance payments received in connection with distribution agreements, license agreements, or
research grants are deferred and recognized ratably over the period of the respective agreements or until
services are performed. We recognize cost reimbursement revenue under collaborative agreements as the
related research and development costs are incurred. We recognize milestone fees upon completion of
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SUPERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

specified milestones according to contract terms. Deferred revenue represents the portion of research
payments received that has not been earned.

Our principal customers are clinics, hospitals and hospital buying groups in the United States and
drug distributors and wholesalers in the United States and Europe. We do not require collateral from our
customers. We operate in one business segment—human therapeutics. In 2005, 94% of our net product
revenues were made in the United States and 6% were made in the European Union (“EU”). In 2004,
89% of our net product revenues were made in the United States and 11% were made in the EU. In 2003,
97% of our net product revenues were made in the United States and 3% in the EU.

Advertising Expense

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. We incurred advertising costs of $326,000 in 2005,
$424,000 in 2004, and $319,000 in 2003.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures, including direct and allocated expenses, are charged to
expense as incurred. These expenditures include salaries and employee-related expenses; fees paid to
physicians, hospitals, or other research institutions for clinical and pre-clinical studies; fees paid to outside
contractors for monitoring of clinical sites or collection and analysis of data; costs associated with the
research and manufacture of clinical drug supplies; and payments made under technology license
agreements prior to regulatory approval of drug candidates.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash and cash equivalents include bank demand deposits, certificates of deposit, marketable securities
with maturities of three months or less when purchased and money market funds which invest primarily in
U.S. government obligations and commercial paper. These instruments are highly liquid and are subject to
insignificant market risk.

Marketable securities consist of corporate or government debt securities and equity securities that
have a readily ascertainable market value and are readily marketable. These investments are reported at
fair value. All marketable securities are designated as available-for-sale, with unrealized gains and losses
included in accumulated other comprehensive gain/loss in stockholders’ equity. A decline in the market
value of a security below its cost that is deemed to be other than temporary is charged to earnings, and
results in the establishment of a new cost basis for the security.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded a write-down of $11,000 related to the other
than temporary decline in the value of our equity investment in Inflazyme Pharmaceuticals. During the
year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded a write-down of $7,851,000 related to the other than
temporary decline in the value of our equity investment in AVI BioPharma, Inc. (“AVI”). We had no such
write-downs in 2003.

Equity Investments

Equity investments in securities without readily determinable fair value are carried at cost. These
investments are included in marketable securities and investment in stock of related parties on the balance
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SUPERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

sheet. We periodically review those carried at cost and evaluate whether an impairment has occurred.
During 2003, we determined that the value of investments in stock of a related party made in 2001 and
2003 were impaired due to the uncertain viability of the company as a going concern. As a result, the entire
cost of the investment of $180,000 was charged to selling, general, and administrative expense in 2005.
During 2003, we determined that the value of an equity investment that we made in 2002 was impaired due
to the poor financial condition of the company. As a result, this investment of $250,000 was charged to
selling, general and administrative expense in 2003. We had no such write-offs in 2004. We believe the
remaining equity investments and investments in related parties continue to be realizable. The cost of
securities sold or the amount reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss into
earnings is based on the specific identification method.

Restricted Cash and Investments

Under one of our operating lease agreements and in connection with certain outstanding warrants, we
are required to set aside cash and/or investments as collateral. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had
$11,805,000 and $9,432,000, respectively, of restricted cash and investments related to such agreements.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (using the first-in, first-out method) or market value.
Inventories were as follows at December 31 (in thousands):

2005 2004
RaW Materials . . o\ v ot v e vt v ettt e, $§ 67 § 83
WOTK i PIOCESS . oottt i ittt e 197 1,040
Finished goods ..ottt 1,175 2,183

$1,439  $3,306

Bulk materials for Nipent must be purified at a United States Food and Drug Administration
(“FDA”) approved facility that meets stringent Good Manufacturing Practices standards. We use a
separate vendor to manufacture the Nipent finished dosage at its approved facility, where we also store the
majority of our bulk raw materials. Although there are a limited number of vendors who may be qualified
to perform these services, we believe that other vendors could be engaged to provide similar services on
comparable terms. However, the time required to locate and qualify other vendors or replace lost bulk
inventory could cause a delay in manufacturing that might be financially and operationally disruptive. The
company that had been performing the purification of Nipent went out of business in late 2004. However, we
have contracted with another manufacturer to purify Nipent and do not anticipate any interruptions to our
supply of drug available for sale. At December 31, 2005, we established a reserve for product obsolescence of
$400,000, relating to the potential expiration of finished goods inventory.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of building, office and manufacturing
equipment and furniture and fixtures is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated original useful
lives of the respective assets, which range from 3 to 31 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over
the shorter of the life of the lease or their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
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SUPERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

2005 2004
Landandbuilding ..........ocviiiiiiiiiii i, $ 2433 §2433
Leasehold improvements ............coviiniiiniinvnnninann. 2,611 2,607
EqQUipment ..ottt 1,008 983
Furniture and fixtures . ..ottt i nraans 3,674 3,597
Total property and equipment ................coooviininn.. 9,726 9,620
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization .............. (6,819) (5,985
Property, plant and equipment, net ............ccoiveiiininn. $2907 § 3,635

Developed Technology

Developed technology related to the acquisition of Nipent was amortized to cost of sales on a
units-manufactured basis over a period expected to approximate six years. Developed technology related to
other acquired products was amortized on a straight-line basis over five years, Cost basis of the developed
technology was $1,936,000 and it was fully amortized at December 31, 2004.

Goodwill

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets are reviewed annually, or more frequently if
impairment indicators arise, for impairment. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over
their respective lives. Goodwill no longer subject to amortization amounted to $731,000 at December 31,
2005 and 2004.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets, including trademarks, covenants not to compete, and customer lists, were recorded
at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of up to five years. Cost basis
of these intangible assets was $787,000 and they were fully amortized at December 31, 2004.

In February 2004, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Pfizer Inc. to acquire
European marketing rights for Nipent, our drug that is currently approved for marketing in the United
States for hairy cell leukemia. We paid Pfizer $1,000,000 under this agreement and have classified this
amount in Other intangibles in the accompanying balance sheet. This amount is being amortized over 31
months, the estimated life of the benefit period. Accumulated amortization was $710,000 and $323,000 at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We expect to record amortization of $290,000 in 2006.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We have issued warrants for common stock of another entity in connection with issuances of
convertible debt. These warrants are considered to be a derivative financial instrument in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments,” and are
recorded at fair value. The changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments are recognized
in current earnings in each reporting period.




SUPERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Major Customers

Our major customers include a number of buying groups. Some of these customers individually
comprise greater than 10% of our total product revenue and/or greater than 10% of our trade accounts
receivable balances, as follows:

Percentage
of accounts
Percentage of product receivable by
revenue by customer for customer as of

Years ended December 31, December 31,
2003 2004 2003 2605 2004

Customer A .....cvviiiiiiiia, 2% 21% 5% 34% 27%
CustomerB.......cooiviiiiiniinnnn., 19 * * * 14
Customer C.....ooviieiiiiniinnennnnns 14 * * 18 *
CustomerD ... 11 * * * *
CustomerE.........coiviiiiie e, * 21 38 27 30
CustomerF....covvviiviviennnan. * 12 * * *

* Less than 10%

Net Loss per Common Share

Basic and diluted net loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year.

As we have reported operating losses each period since our inception, the effect of assuming the
exercise of options and warrants and assumed conversion of convertible debt would be anti-dilutive and,
therefore, basic and diluted loss per share are the same. The computation of diluted net loss per share for
the three years ended December 31 excluded the following (in thousands):

2005 2004 2003

Options to purchase common stock ...................... 6,550 6,502 5,326
Warrants to purchase commonstock .............oovee, 6,924 7,183 6,835
Shares issuable upon conversion of senior convertible notes . — — 4,516

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock issued to employees in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) and comply with the disclosure provisions
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(“SFAS 123”) and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148”). Under APB 25, compensation expense of fixed
stock options is based on the intrinsic value on the date of the grant, which represents the difference, if
any, between the fair value of the stock and the exercise price of the option.
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SUPERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

We account for stock issued to non-employees using the fair value approach, in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS 123 and EITF No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That are Issued to Other
Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.”

Under the intrinsic value method, when the exercise price of our employee stock options equals the
market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized. The
following table illustrates the pro forma effect on net loss and loss per share for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 had we applied the fair value method to account for stock-based
awards to employees (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2005 2004 2003

Netloss, asreported. .. ..ottt $(14,482) $(46,860) $(53,470)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in the

determination of net loss, asreported. .......... ..o 268 654 1,499
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense that would

have been included in the determination of net loss if the fair value

method had been applied toall awards.......................... (5,718)  (8,266)  (5,901)
Proformanetloss. ..... ..ot $(19,932) $(54,472) $(57,872)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share:

ASTEPOTtEd . ..ottt $ (028) $ (1.04) $ (1.56)

2 (0B (0] 4T P $ (039) § (1.21) $ (1.69)

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

We evaluate long-lived assets, other than goodwill, for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable based on expected A
undiscounted cash flows attributable to that asset. The amount of any impairment is measured as the
difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the impaired asset. No impairment existed as of
December 31, 2005.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which replaces
SFAS 123 and supersedes APB 25. SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including
grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values. In
accordance with a Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rule issued in April 2005, companies will
be allowed to implement SFAS 123R as of the beginning of the first interim or annual period that begins
after June 15, 2005. Under SFAS 123R, we must determine the appropriate fair value model to be used for
valuing share-based payments, the amortization method for compensation cost, and the transition method
to be used at date of adoption. The permitted transition methods include the following:

¢ A “modified prospective” method in which compensation cost is recognized based on the
requirements of SFAS 123R for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and based
on the requirements of SFAS 123 for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of
SFAS 123R that remain unvested on the effective date.
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SUPERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

¢ A “modified retrospective” method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective
method described above, but also permits the restatement, based on amounts previously recognized
under SFAS 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures, either (a) all prior periods presented or
(b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption.

We will adopt SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective method and the Black
Scholes valuation model. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS 123 no longer will
be an alternative to financial statement recognition, and thus our financial results will be negatively
affected by the adoption of this standard beginning in 2006, although it will have no cash impact on our
overall financial position. The impact of adoption of SFAS 123R is expected to be material to our financial
statements; however, the actual expense may not be comparable to the amount in the pro forma
disclosures because it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future and the
assumptions used to value the share-based payments.

2. Available-for-Sale-Securities

The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
At December 31, 2005
U.S. corporate debt securities ..................ou.... $44,681 $ 9 $ —  $44,69
Marketable equity securities .................. ... ... 6,566 2,841 — 9,407
Total .o e e $51,247 $2,850 § — $54,097
At December 31, 2004
U.S. corporate debt securities. ............oovvvevnn.... $35,845 $ — $ (3) 835842
U.S. government debt securities....................... 16,111 1 (15) 16,097
Marketable equity securities . .........oooiiiniin 6,577 59 (140) 6,496
Total ..ot e e $58,533 $ 60 $(158)  $58,435
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SUPERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Available-for-Sale-Securities (Continued)

The available-for-sale securities are classified on the balance sheet as follows (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
At December 31, 2005
Amounts included in cash and cash equivalents ......... $44,681 $ 9 $ —  $44,690
Amounts included in investment in stock of related

PATHIES .ot vi ree 120 52 — 172
Amounts included in restricted cash and investments.. ... 6,322 2,766 — 9,088
Marketable securities, non-current .................... 124 23 — 147

Total ..o e $51,247 $2,850 $ — $54,097
At December 31, 2004
Amounts included in cash and cash equivalents ......... - $33,704 $ 1 $ (1) $33704
Marketable securities, current. ... 18,252 — an 18,235
Amounts included in investment in stock of related :

PATLIES . . oottt s 120 — (2) 118
Amounts included in restricted cash and investments.. ... 6,322 —_ (132) 6,190
Marketable securities, non-current . ................... 135 59 (6) 188

Total o e e e e $58,533 $ 60 $(158)  $58,435

Available-for-sale securities at December 31, by contractual maturity, are shown below (in thousands):

Fair Value

2005 2004
Debt securities due in one yearorless........................ $44,690 $51,939
Marketable equity securities ...........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiian., 9,407 6,496
] 7Y $54,097 $58,435

Realized gains and losses on the sale of available-for-sale securities for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004, and 2003 were not material.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded a write-down of $11,000 related to the other
than temporary decline in the value of our equity investment in Inflazyme Pharmaceuticals. During the
year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded a write-down of $7,851,000 related to other than temporary
decline in the value of our equity investment in AVI. We had no such write-downs in 2003,

3. Stockholders’ Equity

Private Placement

On March 5, 2004, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with several investors for the
private placement of shares of unregistered common stock and warrants. In connection with this
agreement, we issued 4,900,000 shares of our common stock to the investors at a per share price of $7.00,
for an aggregate purchase amount of $34,300,000, and warrants to purchase 735,000 shares of our common
stock. The warrants have a term of five years and a per share exercise price of $10.00. As compensation to

F-13




SUPERGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Stockholders’ Equity (Continued)

the placement agent, we paid the placement agent $1,735,000 in cash, which was treated as part of the cost
of the offering. Net proceeds from the offering were $32,525,000.

The common stock and warrants we issued in the private placement transaction were initially
unregistered. We filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC on March 23, 2004 to register
the shares issued in the private placement as well as the shares to be issued upon exercise of the warrants.
In accordance with EITF 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and
Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock,” the warrants were included as a liability and valued at fair
market value until we met the criteria under EITF 00-19 for permanent equity. We valued the warrants at
$3,307,000 on March 5, 2004 using the Black-Scholes method with the following assumptions: a risk-free
interest rate of 2.81%, volatility of 0.89, and a dividend yield of 0%. The registration statement on
Form S-3 was declared effective by the SEC on March 31, 2004. We re-valued the warrants on that date at
$6,923,000 using the Black-Scholes method with the following assumptions: a risk-free interest rate of
2.81%, volatility of 0.89, and a dividend yield of 0%. The warrants were then transferred to permanent
equity, and the change in the value of the warrant liability between March 5, 2004 and March 31, 2004, or
$3,616,000, was charged to Change in valuation of derivatives in the accompanying statement of operations
during the year ended December 31, 2004. We had no similar charges in the years ended December 31,
2005 or 2003.

Warrants

At December 31, 2005, warrants to purchase the following shares of our common stock were
outstanding:

Number of Exercise Issue Expiration
Shares Price Date Date
1,666,000 $3.00-4.25 2002 2006
551,419 4.00-6.00 2003 2007
1,997,500 5.00 2003 2008
1,135,000 10.00 2004 2009
230,000 10.35 1997 2007
200,000 10.47 2001 2006
100,000 10.47 2003 2007
1,045,000 13.50 1997 2007
6,924,919

In March 2001, we entered into agreements with The Kriegsman Group (“Kriegsman”) (also see
Notes 5 and 9) to perform certain financial consulting and public relations services. In connection with
these agreements, we issued Kriegsman a three-year warrant to purchase 200,000 shares of unregistered
common stock at an exercise price of $10.47. We calculated the value of the warrant at $758,000 using the
Black-Scholes valuation model, and the value of the warrant was charged to Selling, general and
administrative expense in 2001. In February 2003, we extended the expiration date of this warrant by three
years, and issued Kriegsman another four-year warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of unregistered
common stock at an exercise price of $10.47. We calculated the value of the warrant extension and the new
warrant grant at $249,000 using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The value of our stock on the date of
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3. Stockholders’ Equity (Continued)

the extension and new grant was $3.00. The value of the warrant extension and new warrant grant was
charged to Selling, general and administrative expense in 2003,

Stock Reserved for Future Issuance

At December 31, 2005, we have reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:

Stock options outstanding ......... ... 6,549,725
Stock options available forgrant.......... ... ... ool 2,934,376
Warrants to purchase common stock ............oooviiiiii .. 6,924,919
Shares available for Employee Stock Purchase Plan ................... 127,253
16,536,273

Stock Repurchase Plan

In September 2000, the SuperGen Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase plan to acquire,
in the open market, an aggregate of up to 1,000,000 shares of our common stock, at prices not to exceed
$22.00 per share or $20,000,000 in total. In March 2001 and September 2002, the Board authorized
increases in the number of shares to be acquired under the repurchase plan, but maintained the
$20,000,000 repurchase total.

No shares were repurchased during the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. During the year
ended December 31, 2003, we repurchased 266,000 shares of our common stock at a cost, net of
commissions, of $891,000. Since inception of the stock repurchase plan, we repurchased 3,299,000 shares of
our common stock at a cost, net of commissions, of $19,579,000. All shares repurchased have been retired.

4. Stock Option Plans

We have 12,263,000 shares of common stock authorized for issuance upon the grant of incentive stock
options or nonstatutory stock options to employees, directors, and consultants under our stock option
plans. The number of shares to be purchased, their price, and the terms of payment are determined by the
Company’s Board of Directors, provided that the exercise price for incentive stock options cannot be less
than the fair market value on the date of grant. The options granted generally expire ten years after the
date of grant and become exercisable at such times and under such conditions as determined by the Board
of Directors (generally over a four or five year period).
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4. Stock Option Plans (Continued)

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity and related information follows:

Options Outstanding
Weighted Weighted
Average Average Fair
Number of Exercise Options Value At
Shares Price Exercisable Grant Date
Balance at January 1,2003.................cooinet 4,535,457 $10.28 3,188,761
Granted atfairvalue.............. ... .. o i 1,405,450 4.61 $3.28
Exercised .....ovviiiiiie it (400,488) 3.80
Forfeited. .. .oovii i i e et (214,070) 8.61
Balance at December 31,2003 ............. ... ... ... 5,326,349 934 4,080,995
Grantedatfairvalue..........coovivieverrnnnnnnns 1,861,050 9.85 6.40
Exercised ...t e e (325,801) 4.30
Forfeited. . ....ciiiie i et iiiaaaeann (359,546) 11.07
Balance at December 31,2004 ...................... 6,502,052 9.64 4,951,378
Grantedatfairvalue.............ccoiiirivniennn.. 868,650 5.46 3.68
Exercised ......coviiiii (273,080) 338
Forfeited............ooiiiiii i (547,897) 12.90
Balance at December 31,2005 ........ccoveveive... 6,549,725 $ 9.07 4,984,371

Information concerning the options outstanding at December 31, 2005 is as follows:

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
‘ exercise remaining Number exercise

Range Number _price contractual life  exercisable __price
$175t08410......... i 1,051,306  § 3.37 7.30 946,369 § 3.33
412t0 6.00.... ... i, 1,704,751 5.35 5.26 1,290,814 5.36
602to 1122.. ... i 1,266,019 7.65 7.12 1,030,060 7.65
11.27t0 1263.. ... cviiiieiie e 1,509,635 11.41 7.39 699,218 11.57
127310 6800.......0vvvviiintn 1,018,014 19.51 2.77 1,017,910 19.51
$175t0868.00.. ..., 6,549,725  § 9.07 6.05 4,984,371 $ 9.21

Pro forma information regarding the results of operations and net loss per share (Note 1) is
determined as if we had accounted for our employee stock options using the fair value method. Under this
method, the fair value of each option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option valuation model. We estimated the fair value for these optlons at the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions:

Year ended December 31,

2008 2004 2003
Risk-freeinterest rate ........covoveierinnenrnnannns 419% 221% 273%
Dividendyield...........cooiiiiiiiiiiiii i — — —
Expected volatility ...........oooiiiiiii i 0.814 0.804 0.865
Expected life (inyears) ........c.ooviieiiiiiiianin... 5.0 5.0 5.0
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The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded
options that have no vesting requirements and are fully transferable. Employee stock options have
characteristics significantly different than those of traded options. In addition, option valuation models
require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility and changes
in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the estimate of fair value of an employee stock
option. '

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we recorded non cash charges of $268,000,
$654,000, and $1,499,000, respectively for stock compensation related to the modification and acceleration
of options associated with the change in status or departure of certain Company management.

5. Stock Purchase and License Agreements with MGI PHARMA, Inc.

In August 2004, we entered into three agreements with MGI PHARMA, Inc., a Minnesota
corporation (“MGI”): (1) a common stock purchase agreement (the “Stock Purchase Agreement”) for the
sale of 4,000,000 shares of our common stock at a cash price per share of $10.00; (2) a license agreement
relating to Dacogen™ (decitabine) (the “License Agreement”); and (3) an investor rights agreement that
obligates us, within the first anniversary of the closing date of the transactions contemplated by the Stock
Purchase Agreement, to file with the SEC a registration statement registering the common stock for resale,
and to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the registration statement to become effective within
such time period. The agreements became effective on September 21, 2004.

Dacogen is an investigational anti-cancer therapeutic which has been in clinical trials for the
treatment of patients with myelodysplastic syndrome (“MDS”). Pursuant to the terms of the License
Agreement, MGI received exclusive worldwide rights to the development, commercialization and
distribution of Dacogen for all indications. We continued to pursue regulatory approvals of Dacogen for
the treatment of MDS in the United States and Europe, with assistance from MGI, and in accordance with
the agreement, all development of Dacogen was transitioned to MGI at the end of 2005. MGI will assume
full development responsibilities following this transition to them. MGI is required to fund further
development costs associated with Dacogen at a minimum of $15 million over a three year period. In
addition to MDS, MGI will pursue development of Dacogen for other indications. If specified regulatory
and commercialization milestones are achieved, MGI will pay us up to $45 million based upon the
achievement of such milestones. Subject to certain limitations, MGI will also pay us 50% of certain
revenue payable to MGI as a result of MGI sublicensing rights to market, sell, and/or distribute Dacogen,
to the extent such revenues are in excess of the milestone payments. We will receive a royalty starting at
20% and escalating to a maximum of 30% on annual worldwide net sales of licensed products.

In accordance with the Stock Purchase Agreement described above, we issued 4,000,000 shares of our
common stock to MG at $10.00 per share, for aggregate proceeds totaling $40,000,000. In connection with
this transaction, we paid the placement agent, The Kriegsman Group, $3,200,000 in cash and issued
Kriegsman a warrant exercisable for 400,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $10.00 per
share. The warrant will be exercisable for a term of five years, and we were obligated to register for resale
the common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrant. We calculated the fair value of the warrant issued
to Kriegsman at $1,436,000, using the Black-Scholes model with a volatility of 0.83, expected life of five
years, dividend yield of 0%, and risk free interest rate of 3.29%. We have allocated the aggregate proceeds
and related costs of the placement agent fee and warrant valuation between equity, for the portion
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attributable to the Stock Purchase Agreement, and deferred revenue, for the portion attributable to the
License Agreement. On August 31, 2004, the date that the Stock Purchase Agreement was executed, the
fair value of our common stock, based on the closing price on the NASDAQ National Market, was $6.43
per share. Therefore, we allocated $23,662,000, the fair value of 4,000,000 shares of our common stock at
$6.43 per share, net of related offering costs, to equity, with the remaining $12,625,000 being allocated to
deferred revenue. The deferred revenue was amortized to license revenue over 15 months, the period of
time in which our development obligations for Dacogen transferred to MGI. During the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, we recorded amortization of deferred revenue $9,905,000 and $2,720,000,
respectively, to Development and license revenue on the accompanying statements of operations.

Under the terms of the License Agreement, MGI is obligated to pay us milestone payments for
achievement of certain regulatory and commercialization goals, as well as reimburse us for certain
development and allocated overhead costs of Dacogen until we receive marketing authorization. During
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we recorded development revenue of $3,448,000 and
$3,646,000, respectively, relating to the reimbursements under this agreement. During the year ended
December 31, 2004, we recognized development revenue of $12,500,000 for milestone achievement
pertaining to regulatory filings.

6. Convertible Debt Financing Transactions
February 2003 Convertible Debt Transaction

In February 2003 we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement for the private placement of
Senior Exchangeable Convertible Notes (“February Notes”) in the principal amount of $21.25 million and
related warrants, The February Notes accrued interest at a rate of 4% per year. The principal amount of
the February Notes was repayable in four equal quarterly installments beginning nine months after the
closing of the transaction. The February Notes were, at the option of the investors, in whole or in part,

(a) convertible into shares of our common stock at a fixed conversion price of $4.25 per share, and
(b) exchangeable for up to 2,634,211 shares of common stock of AVI that we own (the “AVI Shares”) at a
fixed exchange price of $5.00 per share.

June 2003 Convertible Debt Transaction and February Notes Restructuring

In June 2003, we closed a private placement transaction in which we issued Senior Convertible Notes
(“June Notes”) in the aggregate principal amount of $21.25 million, to the same holders of our outstanding
February Notes. The June Notes were payable in four equal quarterly installments which began March 31,
2004, and accrued interest at a rate of 4% per year. Pursuant to the terms of the June Notes, the note
holders could elect to convert, at any time prior to maturity, their June Notes into shares of our common
stock at a fixed price $6.36, which was calculated based on the trading prices of our common stock for the
twenty trading days after issuance of the June Notes.

Concurrent with the issuance of the June Notes, we restructured our outstanding February Notes.
Pursuant to the restructuring, the holders of the February Notes converted half of the principal amount
into shares of our common stock at the fixed conversion price of $4.25, thereby causing the remaining
$10,625,000 principal amount of the outstanding February Notes to have a final maturity date of
February 26, 2004. The remaining February Notes were amended to remove the feature permitting the
holders to exchange such notes into the AVI Shares at an exchange price of $5.00, and to remove our
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ability to use the AVI Shares valued at market at the time of repayment to repay the outstanding principal
amount. However, in connection with the issuance of the June Notes and the restructuring of the
February Notes, we issued to the note holders warrants to purchase the 2,634,211 AVI Shares at an
exercise price of $5.00 per share. The warrants represent a derivative under SFAS 133 that must be
recorded at fair value. Changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognized in earnings. During years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we recorded changes in the value of this derivative of $211,000,
$3,898,000 and $4,557,000, respectively.

While the full amount of the $21,250,000 proceeds from the June Notes was transferred to SuperGen,
$10,625,000 of such funds were placed into an interest bearing collateral account, and not available for our
use until release. Absent certain defaults by us, $5,312,500 (one-half of the $10,625,000) was to be available
to us on March 24, 2004, and the remaining $5,312,500 was to be available on June 24, 2004. In connection
with the private placement transaction completed in March 2004 (see Note 3 above), the holders of the
June Notes released the entire $10,625,000 plus accrued interest from the collateral account.

In connection with the issuance of the warrants to acquire the 2,634,211 AVI Shares, we pledged the
AVT Shares into a collateral account. The fair value of the AVI Shares is included in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet under non-current Restricted cash and investments. We also hold an
additional 50,000 shares of AVI, which are included in the accompanying balance sheets in Investment in
stock of related parties. We continue to hold all of the pledged and unpledged AVI Shares and reflect
temporary changes in those share values in accumulated other comprehensive loss. During 2004 we
recorded a write-down of $7,851,000 related to an other than temporary decline in the value of our
investment in AVI. We had no such write downs in 2005 or 2003.

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we issued 4,750,000 and 3,889,000 shares of our
common stock, respectively, in payment of principal and interest on the February and June Notes. As of
December 31, 2004, all principal from both the February Notes and June Notes had been repaid.

In connection with the February and June convertible note transactions, we recorded prepaid
financing costs related to the placement agent fees, legal fees, and other cost associated with the
transactions. During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we recorded amortization of the
prepaid financing costs totaling $1,811,000 and $3,064,000, respectively, to interest expense. At
December 31, 2004, all prepaid financing costs had been fully amortized and no expenses were recorded
during the year ended December 31, 2005.

Also in connection with the February and June convertible note transactions, we recorded deemed
discounts on the convertible debt. During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we recorded
amortization of the deemed discount on convertible debt of $12,657,000 and $13,738,000, respectively. At
December 31, 2004, the deemed discount on convertible debt had been fully amortized and no expenses
were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2005.

7. Acquisition and Transfer Agreements
Daunorubicin Transfer Agreement

We received approval of an Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”) for generic daunorubicin
in 2001. In April 2005, we executed a transfer agreement with American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc.
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whereby we transferred the ANDA and all rights, title, and interest in the product for $590,000. We
recorded this amount as other revenue during the year ended December 31, 2005.

Pfizer Inc.—Nipent European Marketing Rights

In February 2004, we entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Pfizer Inc. to acquire
European marketing rights for Nipent. We paid Pfizer $1,000,000 under this agreement and have classified
this amount in Other intangibles in the accompanying balance sheet. This amount is being amortized over
31 months, the estimated life of the benefit period, to Cost of product revenue. During the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, we have recorded amortization of $387,000 and $323,000, respectively.

Peregrine Pharmaceuticals—VEGF License

In February 2001, we completed a transaction to license a platform drug-targeting technology known
as Vascular Targeting Agent from Peregrine Pharmaceuticals (“Peregrine™), formerly known as
Techniclone Corp. The licensed technology is specifically related to Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
(“VEGF”). The agreement required an up-front payment of $600,000, which included the acquisition of
150,000 shares of Peregrine. These shares are carried as part of Marketable Securities—non-current.

The terms of the agreement require that we pay milestone payments and royalties to Peregrine based
on the net revenues of any drugs commercialized using the VEGF technology. These payments could
ultimately total $8 million. No milestone or royalty payments have been made under the agreement to
date. In addition, we are required to pay Peregrine an annual license fee of $200,000 per year until the first
filing of an Investigational New Drug Application (“IND”) utilizing the licensed patents. During the year
ended December 31, 2005, we paid Peregrine $200,000 in cash in connection with this agreement. During
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we paid the annual license fees of $200,000 to Peregrine in
shares of our common stock. We issued Peregrine 18,454 and 61,653 shares of unregistered stock in 2004
and 2003, respectively, which were calculated based on the average price of our common stock during the
30-day period preceding the payment date. The annual license fees paid to Peregrine have been charged to
Research and development expense.

Clayton Foundation for Research—Inhaled Drugs

In December 1999, we entered into a licensing and research agreement with the Clayton Foundation
for Research and its technology transfer organization, Research Development Foundation. Under the
terms of the licensing agreement, we acquired worldwide rights to inhaled versions of formulations of
camptothecins, including Orathecin™.

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we recorded expenses of $100,000 each year in
connection with the research agreement, which we charged to Research and development expense.

In April 2005, we terminated the licensing and research agreement with the Clayton and Research
Development Foundations. We did not record any expenses in the year ended December 31, 2005 in
connection with this agreement, and we have no further obligations under this agreement.
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Stehlin Foundation—Orathecin

In September 1997, we acquired exclusive worldwide rights to a patented anticancer compound,
Orathecin, from the Stehlin Foundation for Cancer Research (“Stehlin”’). We agreed to make monthly
cash payments to Stehlin until the earlier of the date of FDA marketing approval of Orathecin or four
years. Our agreement with Stehlin also called for additional payments in SuperGen common stock upon
the achievement of specified milestones and royalties on any product sales.

In November 1999, we amended our agreement with Stehlin to broaden the definition of licensed
compounds to include certain analogues of Orathecin. Under this amendment, we are required to seek
commercial applications for Orathecin. Under the original agreement and amendment, we were required
to pay Stehlin approximately $9.6 million for research and must make cash royalty payments and cash or
stock milestone payments to Stehlin as we develop and commercialize Orathecin. In accordance with these
agreements, we have paid Stehlin all of the $9.6 million required for research, concluding with a payment
of $800,000 in 2003. During the year ended December 31, 2004, we filed a New Drug Application
(“NDA”) for Orathecin with the FDA. This triggered a required milestone payment to Stehlin of $500,000.
We made the milestone payment through the issuance of 63,969 shares of unregistered common stock,
which was calculated based on the average trading price of our stock during the 30-day period preceding
the payment date. There were no payments to Stehlin during the year ended December 31, 2005.

8. Termination of Agreements with Abbott Laboratories

In December 1999, we entered into two agreements with Abbott Laboratories (“Abbott”), a Common
Stock and Option Purchase Agreement and a Worldwide Sales, Distribution and Development Agreement
relating to Orathecin. Under these agreements, Abbott was to invest in shares of our common stock and
would participate with us in the marketing and distribution of Orathecin. We would have co-promoted
Orathecin with Abbott in the United States and Abbott would have had exclusive rights to market
Orathecin outside of the United States.

In March 2002, SuperGen and Abbott mutually terminated the Common Stock and Option Purchase
Agreement and the Worldwide Sales, Distribution and Development Agreement. We regained all
marketing rights to Orathecin worldwide. In connection with this termination agreement, we agreed to

reimburse Abbott for development work they completed on our behalf, which included a final payment to
Abbott of $370,000 in 2003.

In December 1999, we also entered into a Nipent distribution agreement with Abbott. Beginning
March 1, 2000, Abbott became the exclusive U.S. distributor of Nipent for a period of five years. We
retained U.S. marketing rights for Nipent. Under this agreement, Abbott made a $5 million cash payment
to the Company in January 2000. This amount was included in deferred revenue and was being amortized
to distribution revenue ratably over 60 months through December 2002.

In March 2003, we entered into an agreement with Abbott that allowed us to terminate the Nipent
distribution agreement, for a stated fee that decreased over time to $1,500,000 at March 2005. As part of
the agreement, we paid Abbott $500,000 for this right to terminate the Nipent distribution agreement at
our option. The $500,000 was recorded as a reduction of the deferred revenue we initially received from
Abbott for the distribution rights and we stopped amortizing the remaining balance of deferred revenue,
which was $1,667,000 at that time. In February 2005, we exercised our option and paid Abbott 1,500,000
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to terminate the Nipent distribution agreement. This amount was charged against deferred revenue. The
remaining balance in deferred revenue of $167,000 was recorded as distribution agreement revenue in the
year ended December 31, 2005.

9. Related Party Transactions
EuroGen Pharmaceuticals Ltd. ,

In September 2001, we entered into a Supply and Distribution Agreement with EuroGen
Pharmaceuticals Ltd., a company incorporated and registered in England and Wales. Under the
agreement, we granted EuroGen the exclusive European and South African rights to promote and sell
certain of our existing generic and other products or compounds. The agreement also establishes a process
for granting EuroGen rights to sell additional products in Europe and South Africa, subject to our
compliance with our other existing licensing and distribution arrangements. After complying with these
existing obligations, we will be required to offer EuroGen the option to obtain European and South
African rights to our future products. EuroGen will seek and pay for all necessary regulatory approvals and
authorizations necessary for the commercial sale of the products in the territories where they market and
sell the products. In December 2002, we became 95% owners of EuroGen. The remaining 5% is owned by
Larry Johnson, the President and CEO of EuroGen. The results of EuroGen are included in our
consolidated operations in Selling, general and administrative expenses. During the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, we have recorded expenses of $3,170,000, $2,269,000 and $325,000,
respectively, related to EuroGen.

KineMed, Inc.

In November 2001, we made an equity investment of $150,000 to acquire 100,000 shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred stock of KineMed, Inc. (“KineMed”), a start-up biotech company. In March 2003,
we made an additional equity investment of $30,000 to acquire an additional 15,000 shares. The president
and chief executive officer of KineMed is a former director of SuperGen. Our current president and chief
executive officer is a member of the board of directors of KineMed. We accounted for this investment
under the cost method as our ownership is less than 20% of KineMed’s outstanding shares. At
December 31, 2004, this investment was included on the balance sheet in Investment in stock of related
parties. During 2005, we determined that the value of this investment was impaired due to the uncertain
viability of KineMed as a going concern. As a result, the entire cost of the investment of $180,000 was
charged to Selling, general, and administrative expense in 2005.

In late 2004, we reached an agreement with KineMed whereby we granted them exclusive worldwide
rights to the development, manufacture, commercialization and distribution of proprietary property we
own relating to etiocholoandeione and etiocholanolone compounds. Under the terms of the license
agreement and upon successful commercialization, we could earn future royalty revenue on worldwide
sales. In addition, we have termination rights and rights of first refusal on new oncological uses.

AVI BioPharma, Inc.

In December 1999, we entered into an agreement with AVI BioPharma, Inc. At the time, the chief
executive officer of AVI was a member of our Board of Directors. He later resigned from our Board in
May 2002. The former president and chief executive officer of SuperGen was a member of the Board of
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Directors of AVI through March 2004. Under the terms of the agreement, we acquired one million shares
of AVI common stock, which amounted to approximately 7.5% of AVI’s outstanding common stock, for
$2.5 million cash and 100,000 shares of our common stock at $28.25 per share. We also acquired exclusive
negotiating rights for the United States market for Avicine, AVI’s proprietary cancer vaccine currently in
late-stage clinical testing against a variety of solid tumors. Avicine is a non-toxic immunotherapy that
neutralizes the effect of a tumor-associated antigen on cancer cells, while stimulating the body’s immune
system to react against the foreign tumor.

In July 2000, we finalized an agreement with AVI to obtain the U.S. marketing rights for Avicine. We
issued 347,826 shares of our common stock along with $5 million in cash to AVI as payment for our
investment, in exchange for 1,684,211 shares of AVI common stock. As part of this agreement, we
obtained the right of first discussion to all of AVI’s oncology compounds and an option to acquire an
additional 10% of AVI’s common stock for $35.625 per share. This option is exercisable for a three-year
period commencing on the earlier of the date the FDA accepts the NDA submitted for Avicine or the date
on which the closing price of AVI’s common stock exceeds the option exercise price. We have accounted
for the investment in AVI under the cost method as our ownership is less than 20% of AVI'’s outstanding
shares and is classified as available-for-sale. No value has been ascribed to the option as neither of the
measurements have been achieved as of December 31, 2005.

Avicine will require significant additional expenditures to complete the clinical development necessary
to gain marketing approval from the FDA and equivalent foreign regulatory agencies. As part of this
agreement, we are obligated to make additional payments to AVI based on successful achievement of
developmental, regulatory approval, and commercialization milestones over the next several years that
could total $80 million. In 2003 and 2002, we recorded $144,000 and $421,000, respectively, in research and
development expenses for Avicine. At December 31, 2005, the sum of these expenses, or $565,000, was still
payable and is presented on the balance sheet as Payable to AVI BioPharma, Inc.

Quark Biotech, Inc.

Our current president and chief executive officer is a former director and our former president and
chief executive officer is currently a director and both are stockholders of Quark Biotech, Inc. (“QBI”), a
privately-held development stage biotechnology company. In June 1997, we made an equity investment of
$500,000 in QBI’s preferred stock, which represents less than 1% of the company’s outstanding shares as of
December 31, 2001. Our investment in QBI is carried at cost and is included in “Investment in stock of
related parties.”

In January 2002, we subleased a portion of our laboratory space to QBI. During 2003 we collected
$56,000 in sublease income from QBI. The initial term of the sublease expired on December 31, 2002, but
we continued to sublease the space to QBI on a month-to-month basis until August 2003.
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The Kriegsman Group

In March 2001, we retained The Kriegsman Group to render advice and assistance with respect to
financial consulting and public relations services. On July 25, 2002, our former president and chief
executive officer and board member through 2004 became a member of the board of directors of CytRx
Corp. Steven Kriegsman, the president of The Kriegsman Group, is also a significant shareholder and
president and chief executive officer of CytRx Corp. See Note 3 and 5 for discussion of cash and warrants
granted to the Kriegsman Group and the accounting treatment of each transaction. We also paid The
Kriegsman Group consulting fees of $220,000 in 2003. No consulting fees were paid to Kriegsman in 2005
or 2004.

Other

At December 31, 2005, we owned 10% of a privately-held company performing research and
development work almost exclusively for SuperGen as well as selling SuperGen certain research supplies.
The president of this company and our former president and chief executive officer and board member
through 2004 are currently partners in a new business enterprise. We paid this company $150,000 in 2004
and $371,000 in 2003 for services and supplies. There were no payments to this company in 2005. We carry
our investment in this company at no value.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, we have $52,000, and $93,000, respectively, in receivables due from
related parties. The receivables consist of advances or loans to employees.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

We lease our primary administrative facility under a 10 year non-cancellable operating lease, which
may be renewed for an additional five-year period. The terms of the lease require us to establish and
maintain two irrevocable and unconditional letters of credit to secure our obligations under the lease. The
financial institution issuing the letters of credit requires us to collateralize our potential obligations under
the lease by assigning to the institution approximately $2.7 million in certificates of deposit. The
certificates of deposit are included in the balance sheet under Restricted cash and investments. Upon
achievement of certain milestones and the passage of time, the amounts of the letters of credit are subject
to reduction or elimination.

We are also leasing additional office space in a building adjacent to our laboratory facility under two
leases which both terminate in June 2006. Both spaces have been subleased under non-cancellable leases
terminating at the same time as our master lease.
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Future minimum rentals and sublease income under all operating leases with terms greater than one
year are as follows (in thousands):

Minimum
rental Sublease
obligations income

[y

Year ending December 31,

2006, . e e e aaa $ 2,280 $163
2007 . e e 2,213 —
2008, e e 2,297 —
2009, . e 2,347 —
2010 and thereafter ... .o 2,166 —

$11,303 $163

Rent expense was $2,014,000 in 2005, $2,034,000 in 2004, and $1,985,000 in 2003. These amounts were
net of sublease income of $326,000 in 2005, $323,000 in 2004, and $393,000 in 2003.

We have entered into technology license agreements allowing us access to certain technologies. These
agreements generally require royalty payments based upon the sale of approved products incorporating the
technology under license. No sales of such products have occurred as of December 31, 2005.

We have also entered into manufacturing and service agreements for certain manufacturing services,
the supply of research materials and the performance of specified research studies. These agreements
require payments based upon the performance of the manufacturing entity, delivery of the research
materials or the completion of the studies. No such payments were required as of December 31, 2005.

11. Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes, our net loss included the following components (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Net Loss:
UnitedStates. . ....coovitin it ii e $(11,312) $(44,591) $(53,145)
FOTEIZN. . oot (3,170)  (2,269) (325

$(14,482) $(46,860) $(53,470)
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We have incurred net losses since inception and, consequently, have not recorded any federal or state
income taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income
tax purposes. Significant components of our deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2005 2004
Deferred Tax Assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards. ..................... $ 112,547 §$ 107,237
Purchased in-process technology...................... 5,761 6,477
Research and development credit carryforwards .. ....... 9,619 8,899
Capitalized research and development................. 6,123 7,395
Investments . ....covvn ettt et i it 9,290 6,992
Other ............... e s e e, 1,686 1,062
145,026 138,062
Valuation allowance .............coooiiiiiiiie., (145,026)  (138,062)
Net Deferred Tax ASSES. .« e cvrvrenrienranearnrernans. $ — $ —

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of
which are uncertain. Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation
allowance. The valuation allowance increased by $6,964,000 during 2005, by $23,200,000 during 2004, and
by $17,015,000 during 2003.

As of December 31, 2005 we have net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of
approximately $304,788,000 which expire in the years 2006 through 2025, and federal research and
development credit carryforwards of approximately $7,946,000, which expire in the years 2008 through
2025.

As of December 31, 2005, we also have net operating loss carryforwards for California state income
tax purposes of approximately $102,281,000, which expire in the years 2006 through 2015, California state
research and development tax credits of approximately $7,507,000, which do not expire, and California
manufacturer’s investment credit of approximately $4,600, which expires in the year 2007.

Utilization of our net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to substantial annual limitations
due to ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions.
Such an annual limitation could result in the expiration of the net operating losses before utilization.

12. Employee Benefit Plans

We have adopted a 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for all eligible employees with a
minimum of two months of service. We may be obligated to make contributions to the plan to comply with
statutory requirements. Voluntary employee contributions to the 401(k) Plan may be matched by the
Company, up to 3% of each participant’s annual compensation. Our expense relating to contributions
made to employee accounts under the 401(k) Plan was approximately $212,000 in 2005, $222,000 in 2004,
and $300,000 in 2003.

In 1998 we established the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), and a total of 300,000
shares of Common Stock are reserved for issuance under the plan. Employees participating in the ESPP
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12. Employee Benefit Plans (Continued)

are granted the right to purchase shares of common stock at a price per share that is the lower of 85% of
the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the first day of an offering period, or 85% of the fair
market value of a share of Common Stock on the last day of that offering period.

In 2005, we issued 26,980 and 24,580 shares through the ESPP at $3.98 and $3.95, respectively. In
2004, we issued 31,685 and 29,372 shares through the ESPP at $6.15 and $5.00, respectively. In 2003, we
issued 37,065 and 45,746 shares through the ESPP at $3.59 and $3.82, respectively. As of December 31,
2005, 127,253 shares are reserved for future issuance under the ESPP.

13. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004:

Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30  December 31
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

2005

Net product revenue. ..........vevnevnn.. $ 1,015 § 3625 § 5457 $ 5,963
Cost of product revenue ................. 300 700 736 1,315
Netloss. .oovieiiniiiiiiii e (6,903)  (1,888) (2,078) (3,613)
Basic and diluted net loss per share........ (0.13) 0.04) (0.04) (0.07)
2004

Net product revenue. . ................... $ 1,098 $ 2636 $ 3,909 $ 5,484
Cost of product revenue. ................. 551 1,196 1,168 1,221
Net income (10SS) .. ....cooeeviniiet. (18,735)  (21,312) (12,356) 5,543
Basic net income (loss) per share.......... (0.48) (0.48) (0.27) 0.11
Diluted net income (loss) per share. ....... (0.48) (0.48) (0.27) 0.11

14. Subsequent Event—Agreement to Acquire Montigen Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

On January 27, 2006, we announced that we have entered into a definitive agreement to acquire
Montigen Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Montigen”), a privately-held oncology-focused drug discovery and
development company headquartered in Salt Lake City, Utah. Montigen’s assets include its research and
development team, a proprietary drug discovery technology platform and optimization process, CLIMB™,
and late-stage pre-clinical compounds targeting aurora-A kinase and members of the tyrosine kinase
receptor family. One of the Montigen compounds is expected to be the subject of a pre-IND meeting with
the FDA later this year.

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, we will pay the Montigen stockholders a total of $18.0 million
upon the closing of the transaction, consisting of $9.0 million in cash and $9.0 million in shares of
SuperGen common stock. We will pay the Montigen stockholders an additional $22.0 million in shares of
SuperGen common stock, contingent upon achievement of specific regulatory milestones. Completion of
the acquisition will be subject to approval by the Montigen stockholders, customary closing conditions, and
the issuance of a permit from the Commissioner of Corporations for the State of California so that the
issuance of the shares of SuperGen common stock will be exempt from registration under the Securities
Act of 1933. The proposed transaction is expected to close in late March 2006.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, on this 16th day of March 2006.

SUPERGEN, INC.
By: /s/ JAMES S. J. MANUSO

James S.J. Manuso
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

We, the undersigned officers and directors of SuperGen, Inc. hereby constitute and appoint James S.J.
Manuso and Michael Molkentin, and each of them individually, our true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with
full power of substitution, to sign for us and in our names in the capacities indicated below any
amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and te file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents
in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all
that said attorney-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report on Form 10-K has
been signed below by the following persons on behalif of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the

dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ JAMES S.J. MANUSO Chief Executive Officer, President and March 16, 2006
(James S.J. Manuso) Director (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ MICHAEL MOLKENTIN Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial March 16, 2006
(Michael Molkentin) and Accounting Officer)
/s/ CHARLES CASAMENTO Director March 16, 2006

(Charles J. Casamento)

/s/ THOMAS V. GIRARDI Director March 16, 2006
(Thomas V. Girardi)

/s/ ALLAN R. GOLDBERG Director March 16, 2006
(Allan R. Goldberg)

/s/f WALTER J. LACK Director March 16, 2006
(Walter J. Lack)

/s/ MICHAEL D, YOUNG Director March 16, 2006
(Michael D. Young)
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‘ EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

1) Form S-8 and the Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Form S-8 (Registration
No. 333-07295) pertaining to the 1993 Stock Option Plan, 1996 Director’s Stock Option Plan and
Employees and Consultants Stock Option Agreement/Plan

2) Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-58303) pertaining to the 1993 Stock Option Plan, and 1998
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

3) Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-87369) pertaining to the 1993 Stock Option Plan, the Form S-8
(Registration No. 333-44736) pertaining to the 1993 Stock Option Plan

4) Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-86644) pertaining to the 1996 Directors’ Stock Option Plan and
1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

5) Post-Effective Amendment No. 6 on Form $-3 to Form SB-2 (Form SB-2 No. 333-476-LA) for
the registration of 4,477,402 shares of common stock and 328,500 warrants to purchase common
stock

6) Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-88051) for fﬁe registfation of 2,014,036 shares of common stock
7) Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-52326) for the registration of 697,533 shares of common stock

8) Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-95177) for the registration of 136,130 shares of common stock

9) Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-100707) for the registration of 3,930,800 shares of common stock

10) Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-104255) for the registration of 11,549,219 shares of common
stock

11) Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-107301) for the registration of 5,004,000 shares of common stock

12) Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-110152) pertaining to the 2003 Stock Plan and related
prospectuses

13) Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-113858) for the registration of 6,153,454 shares of common stock
14) Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-120502) for the registration of 4,400,000 shares of common stock
15) Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-120505) pertaining to the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan,

16) Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-123819) for the registration of $100,000,000 of various securities,
including common stock, preferred stock, depositary shares, warrants, or debt securities, and

17) Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-127073) pertaining to the 2003 Stock Plan.

of our reports dated March 13, 2006, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of
SuperGen, Inc., SuperGen, Inc. management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of

SuperGen, Inc., included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 13, 2006




EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act

I, James S.J. Manuso, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of SuperGen, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3, Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and we have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2006 By: /s/ JAMES S.J. MANUSO

James S.J. Manuso
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2
Certification of CFO Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act

I, Michael Molkentin, certify that:

1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of SuperGen, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and we have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented

~ in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)’ All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2006 By: /s/ MICHAEL MOLKENTIN

Michael Molkentin
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, James S.J. Manuso, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of SuperGen, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2005 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of SuperGen, Inc.

Dated: March 16, 2006 , By: /s/ JAMES S.J. MANUSO
Name: James S.J. Manuso
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

1, Michael Molkentin, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of SuperGen, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2005 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of SuperGen, Inc.

Dated: March 16, 2006 By: /s/ MICHAEL MOLKENTIN
Name: Michael Molkentin
Title: Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and 18 U.S.C. 1350 has been provided to the Registrant and will be retained by the Registrant and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission and is not fo be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant under the
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, (whether made before or after
the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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